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in €’000 unless 
otherwise indicated

Dec 2021 Dec 2020 Dec 2019

Total Assets 11,561,992  10,865,780  9,851,428  

Investment Property 9,339,489  8,022,3511  7,971,7441  

Total Equity 5,802,5862  5,554,928  4,966,599  

Loan-to-Value 36% 31% 33%

Equity Ratio 50%2 51% 50%

KEY FINANCIALS

BALANCE SHEET HIGHLIGHTS OPERATIONAL HIGHLIGHTS

1. including inventories - trading properties 

2. During the year the Company bought back its shares in amount of approx. €270 million

in €’000 unless 
otherwise indicated

2021 Change 2020

Net Rental Income 374,550  1% 372,462  

Adjusted EBITDA 298,589  0% 299,780  

FFO I 186,326  2% 182,206  

FFO I per share (in €) 1.11  4% 1.07  

EBITDA 994,223  54% 645,197  

Profit for the year 617,089  37% 449,071  

EPS (basic) (in €) 3.12  46% 2.13  

EPS (diluted) (in €) 2.90  44% 2.01  

20211 Change 2020

Dividend per share (in €) 0.83402  1% 0.8232  

1. 2021 Dividend is subject to AGM approval and based on a pay-out policy of 75% of FFO I per share

2. reflecting a dividend yield of 4.1%, based on a share price of €20.2
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London

In €‘000 unless otherwise indicated 2021 2020

EPRA NRV 5,228,882  4,775,679  

EPRA NRV per share (in €) 31.7  27.8  

EPRA NTA 5,020,190  4,566,426  

EPRA NTA per share (in €) 30.4  26.5  

EPRA NDV 3,853,263  3,451,717  

EPRA NDV per share (in €) 23.3  20.1  

EPRA Earnings 173,884  182,657  

EPRA Earnings per share (in €) 1.04  1.08  

EPRA Net initial yield (NIY) 3.2% 3.5%

EPRA "topped-up" NIY 3.2% 3.5%

EPRA Vacancy 5.1% 6.2%

EPRA Cost Ratio (incl. direct vacancy costs) 21.4% 20.2%

EPRA Cost Ratio (excl. direct vacancy costs) 19.5% 17.9%

EPRA PERFORMANCE MEASURES
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STRONG OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE, SUPPORTED BY ACCRETIVE CAPITAL RECYCLING

Total net rent growth 
Dec 2021

+2.8%
L-F-L +2.2%

L-F-L 
Occupancy growth 

Dec 2021

In-place rent growth 
Dec 2021

+0.6%
L-F-L 

Acquiring quality, stable assets 

Over €700 million 

2021 ACQUISITIONS*

Disposing non-core properties above book value

Approx. €360 million 

2021 DISPOSALS

HIGHLIGHTS

Dec 2018 Dec 2020 Dec 2021Dec 2019

In-place rent 
(in €/sqm)

Vacancy

Dec 2018 Dec 2020 Dec 2021Dec 2019

Value/sqm 
(in €/sqm)

Dec 2018 Dec 2020 Dec 2021Dec 2019

CAGR

21%
CAGR

11%

* including the full impact of acquiring a controlling stake in an existing investee and consolidating a portfolio of approx. €280 million, previously held as an equity investee

GRAND CITY PROPERTIES S.A. ■ Board of Directors’ Report
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CONTINUED OPTIMIZATION OF FINANCIAL PROFILE THROUGH PROACTIVE DEBT MANAGEMENT

Total Debt Repayments of 

over €1.1 billion 

Reduced cost of debt

1%
from 1.3% DEC 2020

Largest issuance

€1 billion 
bond due 2028 at a record low coupon of 0.125%

Long average debt maturity

6 years

S & P

 BBB+

CREDIT RATING WITH STABLE 
OUTLOOK AND STRATEGIC GOAL 

FOR FURTHER IMPROVEMENT

6.4x 2021

5.7x 2020

ICR

50%
EQUITY RATIO

€8.4 BN
88% of value

UNENCUMBERED 
ASSETS

LOW LEVERAGE
(LOAN-TO-VALUE)

36%
WELL BELOW 45% BOARD  

OF DIRECTORS’ LIMIT

GRAND CITY PROPERTIES S.A. ■ Board of Directors’ Report
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RESULTING IN STRONG RECURRING PROFITS AND SHAREHOLDER VALUE CREATION

RETURNING VALUE TO SHAREHOLDERS

2019 202122020

Dividend per share 
(in €)

0.82 0.83

HIGHLIGHTS

 25.9 26.5
30.4

EPRA NTA 
per share (in €)

Dec 2019 Dec 2021Dec 2020

1. based on a share price of €20.2
2. 2021 dividend is subject to AGM 

approval and based on a payout 
policy of 75% of FFO I per share

179 182 186

FFO I
(in € millions)

2019 20212020 2019 20212020

FFO I per share
(in €)

1.071.07 1.11

2019 20212020

 TOTAL PROFIT
(in € millions)

449
493

617 

FFO yield1

5.5%

Dividend 
yield1

4.1% SHARE BUYBACK 2021

€270 million
7% OF SHARE CAPITAL

0.82

+15%

GRAND CITY PROPERTIES S.A. ■ Board of Directors’ Report
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Cologne

GRAND CITY PROPERTIES S.A. ■ Board of Directors’ Report
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LETTER OF THE MANAGEMENT BOARD

Dear Stakeholders,

Looking back at 2021, GCP continued enhancing its platform and increasing the digitization of its 

processes. This has allowed our operational teams to create a fully digital process for tenants, 

from signing leases to service requests, which both serve to improve the efficiency of the Company 

while at the same time increasing tenant satisfaction and safeguarding the health of our tenants 

and employees. Simultaneously, we have been able to maintain our full operational functionality 

during times of prolonged lockdowns thanks to the strong commitment of our employees, part-

ners and improvements to our IT infrastructure. 

Social responsibility has been and continues to be a core component of how we operate. In 2021 

we launched our GCP loyalty program which allows tenants to gather points, for example for each 

continued year of their contract’s duration, by paying rent in a timely fashion, or through participa-

tion in various activities and programs, such as by signing a green electricity contract. The points 

gathered by tenants can be used as credit on the tenant’s rent payment, or they can be exchanged 

for gift cards. Through the program we can enhance our tenant satisfaction while at the same time 

promoting behaviour that has a positive impact. Maintaining the high quality of our tenant service 

remained important to us. The hard work of our service team was awarded in 2021, when our TÜV 

certified Service Center, which is available 24/7, was recognized as “Fairest Customer Hotline” by 

Focus Money magazine in October of 2021. GCP has also continued its support of local initiatives 

and organizations, both directly and through the GCP foundation. We supported a wide variety 

of local initiatives, such as providing funds that allowed a local school for children with physical 

and mental disabilities near Cologne to purchase tablets which strongly benefit the children as 

both educational tools as well as in their everyday lives. GCP also contributed in various ways 

to support the victims of the 2021 floods in North Rhine-Westphalia. As part of the social days 

several employees supported in clean-up works in Ahrtal. At the same time, funds were provided 

to a local organisation which organized the distribution of food, clothing, and medicine to victims 

of the floods. During the year we undertook several investment projects aimed at improving the 

quality of our offering to tenants. These projects include the addition of new balconies in several 

locations, painting of facades, installing new and upgrading playgrounds as well as adding parking 

spaces. We added elevators to several properties, improving the accessibility of these proper-

ties. Our long-standing commitment to our tenants and the local communities is also reflected in 

the many social activities that we do on a continues basis and have mentioned in previous years, 

such as events related to the Christmas period and the annual summer parties, where we provide 

our local communities with a variety of fun activities that enhance the sense of community and 

improve tenant wellbeing. This year activities took place in person when the situation allowed it 

while during periods of pandemic related restrictions, digital events were organized by our teams 

instead, such as a digital easter egg hunt and GCP’s digital advent calendar, which allowed ten-

ants to participate in events in a safe manner. Furthermore, we have continued our support and 

sponsorship of local youth sports teams which we believe has a strong positive impact on the local 

communities and teaches the next generations important skills.

As a part of our ESG strategy, we have set a target to reduce our CO
2
 emissions by 40% by 2030. 

Throughout the year we have continued investing in the energy efficiency of our portfolio, replac-

ing heating systems, insulating facades and installing energy efficient windows, among others. In 

2021 we have identified several modernization projects within our portfolio, which we plan to ex-

ecute in 2022. In addition, we continued switching energy contracts to renewable or climate-neu-

tral energy sources. While GCP does not directly control the energy consumption of our tenants, 

we continued projects that provide tenants with information and incentives to lower their own 

consumption of energy or switch to more renewable sources of energy such as through the GCP 

loyalty program and in cooperation with local partners, and thereby reduce overall emissions. 

Throughout the year, we also made further improvements to our governance policies, for example 

by further enhancing our IT systems and data security and bringing our Information Security Sys-

tem to the international standard ISO 27001.  

In 2021, German residential was in the focus of political discussion and played a key topic for the  

federal elections in Germany in September 2021. In April 2021, The Berlin rent cap law was deemed 

unconstitutional by the German constitutional court, and the impacts of the rent cap have reverted 

to the situation before the law was enacted. We expect the Berlin government to support new 

construction and supply in the market, which shall provide relief to the city’s housing shortage. On 

Germany’s federal level, the new coalition is introducing constructive measures. Policies are to be 

focussed on increasing supply, decreasing and streamlining bureaucratic hurdles, which we see as 

supportive and beneficial for nearly all stakeholders. Regarding other relevant policies, like those 

related to migration, we expect these to result in continued demand growth over the coming years. 

While the coronavirus pandemic had significant impacts on society and the economy, the resi-

dential real estate market proved its resilience, with strong underlying trends remaining unbro-

ken, driving continued strong demand for affordable housing. This we see reflected in the very 
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strong performance across our portfolio in 2021, with vacancy within the portfolio further down 

to 5.1% as of December 2021, the lowest level for GCP on record and a continuous strong rental 

performance with the like-for-like rental growth increasing by 2.8%. These strong and stable 

yields resulted in very strong and competitive  investment markets which allowed us to execute 

further capital recycling measures and further increase the quality of the portfolio. We disposed 

approx. €360 million of mainly non-core and mature properties in the year while acquiring over 

€700 million of higher quality properties. Acquisitions were primarily in strong locations such as 

London, Berlin, Dresden, Munich and NRW, while the disposed properties were situated mostly 

in eastern German cities and secondary cities in NRW, and additionally included building rights. 

The continued capital recycling along with the strong performance of the portfolio have result-

ed in further increases in the value per sqm, which increased by 19% compared to December 

2020, reaching €2,205/sqm. As mentioned before, during 2021 we continued investing in the 

portfolio, for example by upgrading facades and installing elevators in properties, significant-

ly increasing the quality and value proposition for tenants. Furthermore, our teams identified 

several modernization projects throughout the portfolio. While no material works were done in 

2021, we already started some of the projects in 2022, which will drive further value creation 

in the coming periods. The diversification of the portfolio once again played a key role in its 

performance, with performance in different regions driven by their unique mixes of econom-

ic, demographic and regulatory fundamentals. During the year, we saw strong performances 

across our portfolio, specifically in NRW, Berlin, Leipzig, Dresden and London. The London port-

folio showed a significant decrease in vacancy from 8.6% in December 2020 to 5.8% within 12 

months as the city quickly rebounded from the impacts of the pandemic. The London portfolio 

is a well-diversified portfolio, primarily in good middle-class neighbourhoods and includes a 

mix of newly built or converted apartments and social housing that are well connected to public 

transportation. We have grown our London portfolio into a scalable platform through dozens 

of accretive acquisitions, which accounts for 19% of the portfolio as of December 2021. We see 

the strong demographic trends in London continuing, driving sustainable increased demand. 

Our London portfolio adds diversification to our German portfolio which both have different 

economic drivers which we will continue leveraging.   

Throughout 2021, GCP undertook several refinancing activities which further boosted the Compa-

ny’s debt metrics. In January, we issued our Series X straight bond at an issue volume of €1 billion, 

our largest issuance to date and at a record low coupon for the Company of 0.125%. During 2021, 

we repaid over €1.1 billion of debt. As a result, our  average cost of debt has reduced to 1% as at 

December 2021, compared to 1.3% as at December 2020. The lower cost of debt is also reflected 

in our higher interest coverage, with an ICR of 6.4x, compared to 5.7x in 2020. As a result of these 

activities, GCP has been able to maintain a well-balanced maturity schedule with a long average 

maturity of 6 years and no material near term maturities aside from the Series F convertible, which 

has been redeemed earlier this month. In line with the conservative debt profile strategy, the 

strong balance sheet was maintained with a low leverage of 36% and a high unencumbered asset 

ratio of 88%, reflecting €8.4bn worth of properties. Our BBB+ credit rating by S&P was once more 

confirmed in December 2021.

In 2021, we recorded a 2% increase in FFO I to €186 million compared to the previous year. FFO II, 

which takes into account the profit on property disposals, amounted to €288 million. The proceeds 

of the disposals were partially channelled into share buybacks, and as a result our FFO I per share 

increased by 4% to €1.11, in line with the guidance. As our dividend policy is tied to the FFO I per 

share with a 75% payout ratio, the expected dividend for 2021 results in €0.83. The Company’s 

performance further resulted in strong revaluation and capital gains of €695 million, driving total 

profit of €617 million, reflecting €3.12 earnings per share. As a result of the strong performance, 

GCP’s EPRA NTA increased to €5 billion, or €30.4 per share, with the growth slightly offset by the 

2020 dividend of €0.82 per share which was paid in 2021. 

We thank you once more for your continued trust in GCP. We especially would like to thank our em-

ployees, thanks to whom we have been able to operate and provide the high service quality that our 

tenants expect from us without disruption, despite restrictions. We remain confident in our ability 

and the ability of our employees to continue to drive performance and create sustainable value for all 

stakeholders in the coming year. 

Luxembourg, March 16, 2022 

Christian Windfuhr
Chairman and member 
of the Board of Directors

Simone Runge-Brandner
Member of the 
Board of Directors

Daniel Malkin
Member of the 
Board of Directors

Refael Zamir
CEO
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GCP’s Sustainable Business Strategy affirms the 

positive contribution we can make to tackling 

global challenges such as the climate emergen-

cy, while safeguarding the wellbeing of our ten-

ants and supporting our wider communities.

By upgrading existing buildings to ensure high 

standards of energy efficiency and low or ze-

ro-carbon status, we contribute to efforts limiting 

greenhouse gas emissions. Through the asset re-

positioning process, we identify and pursue in-

terventions that directly contribute to improving 

the quality of life for our tenants.

Beyond this, we also create new facilities and ser-

vices for wider social benefit that support better 

relations, better education, health and wellbeing, 

cohesiveness and social opportunity in the com-

munities where we are present.

This approach is good for business. Our sustain-

ability commitment aligns to our strategic aim of 

retaining tenants by actively fostering tenant loy-

alty; it helps us attract and retain investors who 

want to invest in long-term resilient assets and 

support a positive contribution to society; it sup-

ports our ambition to attract and retain talented 

staff who share our enthusiasm for customer care; 

it enables us to reduce risks relating to safety, envi-

ronmental and social factors; and it reduces costs 

associated with resource consumption.

Across all stages of our Sustainable Business 

Strategy, we recognise the importance of our 

employees in determining company perfor-

mance. We support staff to develop specialist 

skills and aim to provide a work environment 

that reinforces diversity, high levels of motiva-

tion and promotes their health and wellbeing.

At GCP sustainable business 
practices are firmly embedded 
in our organisation’s structure 
and business strategy

Chairman of the Board of Directors,
Christian Windfuhr
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We already have a very high customer satis-

faction rate of 97%. We want to maintain this, 

and at the same time continue to set the highest 

standards in terms of tenant service, especially 

in the digital area. Because we know that sat-

isfied tenants are long-term tenants. The GCP 

loyalty program is a digital lighthouse project 

in the real estate world and at the same time a 

tool for us to contribute to the company’s goals. 

That is why we have in-

tegrated the loyalty 

program into the 

service app and 

thus seamlessly into the digital customer journey, 

which already begins in the service app for pro-

spective tenants. The idea is to give something 

back to tenants for their loyalty. At the same time, 

the loyalty program creates positive spillover 

effects and synergies for operational processes 

and also strengthens the issue of sustainability, 

for example. This is because the loyalty program 

rewards and promotes, among other things, the 

resource-conserving 

use of energy and 

careful handling of 

living space.

The GCP loyalty program is a 
digital lighthouse project in the 
real estate world.

CEO, Refael Zamir 
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For us as a company, it continues to be a matter of acting responsibly and with the right 
measures. And that is exactly what we are doing so that our tenants can continue to rely on 
our excellent tenant service. We continuously monitor all current developments, as well as 
official recommendations and local regulations and respond quickly, reliably and flexibly 
to changing circumstances, for example with online tenant consultation hours, protective 
equipment in our service offices, strict compliance with all rules and very good technical 
equipment with the highest security standards.

Highest standards across the board, far-sighted processes and our reliable personal and 
omni channel tenant service, which has been TÜV certified for ISO 9001:2015 and Ser-
vice Quality in consecutive years. For the well-being and satisfaction of our tenants, we 
grow a little bit more every day, hunting the 100%. We keep up with the needs of our 
tenants aspiring as well to grow the digital service sector. 

The well-being and health 
of our tenants is close to our 
hearts - as is that of our 
employees, partners and 
service providers.

COO, Sebastian Remmert-Faltin

97% tenant satisfaction rate 
we reach by doing more than 
just answering calls – we 
engage with our tenants also 
on a personal level.

 Head of Customer Care and Service 
Quality, Mandy Kübscholl
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Virtual flat viewings, mobile and tablet app with flat search, digital 
tenant services and loyalty program for tenants: At GCP, we set 
the highest standards in innovative tenant services, also digitally. 
The new option for our customers to digitally sign rental contracts 
is another milestone. The integration of digital signing fits harmo-
niously into our comprehensive digital customer journey and is 
well received by our customers: Already in the first month after 
the go-live, 70% of our new tenants signed their lease contract via 
digital signature. In November, the rate was already almost 95%. 
The digital tenancy agreement signature therefore meets both the 
needs and wishes of our new tenants and at the same time contrib-
utes to sustainability and efficiency, because everyone involved 
saves paper, time and effort at the same time. Our internal pro-
cesses also become faster and easier. Digital signing is simple, fast 
and efficient to use, both for us and for our customers.

Faster and easier contract 
signing through enhanced 
digitalization. 

Stefanie Schiemann,  
Head of Rent Control



14 GRAND CITY PROPERTIES S.A. ■ Board of Directors’ Report

THE COMPANY

Grand City Properties S.A. and its investees (the “Company”, “GCP” or the “Group”)
Board of Directors (the “Board”) hereby submits the annual report as of December 
31, 2021.

The figures presented in this Board of Director’s Report are based on the consolidated 
financial statements as of December 31, 2021, unless stated otherwise.

GCP is a specialist in residential real estate, investing in value-add opportunities in 
densely populated areas predominantly in Germany as well as London. The Group’s 
portfolio, excluding assets held for sale and properties under development, as of De-
cember 2021 consists of 65k units (hereinafter “GCP portfolio” or “the Portfolio”) locat-
ed in densely populated areas with a focus on North Rhine-Westphalia, Germany’s most 
populous federal state, Berlin, Germany’s capital, the metropolitan regions of Dresden, 
Leipzig and Halle and other densely populated areas as well as London.

GCP is focused on assets in densely populated urban locations with robust and sus-
tainable economic and demographic fundamentals, and with multiple value-add drivers 
that it can pursue using its skills and capabilities such as vacancy reduction, increasing 
rents to market levels, improving operating cost efficiency, increasing market visibility, 
identifying potential for high-return capex investments, and spotting potential for sig-
nificant benefits from the Company’s scale. GCP’s management has vast experience in 
the German real estate market with a long track record of success in repositioning prop-
erties using its tenant management capabilities, tenant service reputation, and highly 
professional and specialised employees.

In addition, GCP’s economies of scale allow for considerable benefits of a strong bar-
gaining position, a centralised management platform supported by centralised IT/soft-
ware systems, and a network of professional connections.

This strategy enables the Company to create significant value in its portfolio and gener-
ate stable and increasing cash flows.

Berlin
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Dresden

Dortmund
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ATTRACTIVE PORTFOLIO CONCENTRATED 
IN DENSELY POPULATED METROPOLITAN 

AREAS WITH VALUE-ADD POTENTIAL

GCP’s well-balanced and diversified portfolio is 
composed of properties in attractive micro-lo-
cations with identified value creation potential 
primarily located in major German cities and ur-
ban centers as well as in London.

The Group’s well-allocated portfolio provides for 
strong geographic and tenant diversification and 
benefits from economies of scale, supporting 
the risk-averse portfolio approach. GCP’s focus 
on densely populated areas is mirrored by 24% 
of the Portfolio being located in Berlin, 20% in 
NRW, 13% in the metropolitan region of Dresden, 
Leipzig and Halle, and 19% in London, four clus-
ters with their own distinct economic drivers. 
The portfolio also includes additional holdings 
in other major urban centers with strong fun-
damentals such as, Nuremberg, Munich, Mann-
heim, Frankfurt, Hamburg and Bremen. 

London

inhabitants per sqkm (2020)*

* Based on data from Statistiches Bundesamt

1000 - 4.790

300 - 1.000

150 - 300

100 - 150

36 - 100

PORTFOLIO
 POPULATION DENSITY IN GERMANY 

Dresden

Berlin

Mainz

NRW Leipzig

Fürth

Munich

Nuremberg

Halle

Frankfurt

Mannheim
Kaiserslautern

Dresden

Hamburg

Bremen
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PORTFOLIO OVERVIEW

GCP has assembled a port-
folio of high-quality assets 
in densely populated metro-
politan regions, benefiting 
from diversification among 
dynamic markets with posi-
tive economic fundamentals 
and demographic develop-
ments

DIVERSIFIED PORTFOLIO WITH DISTINCT ECONOMIC DRIVERS

5% Mannheim/KL/Frankfurt/Mainz

3% Nuremberg/Fürth/Munich

5% Hamburg/Bremen

NRW
Industrial center 

of Germany.

BERLIN 
Political center  
& Start-up hub. 

DRESDEN/
LEIPZIG/HALLE 
Dynamic economy driven 
by technology with robust 
demographic fundamentals. 

LONDON 
Leading global city 
attracting innovation and 
high-quality talent. 

13%
Dresden/
Leipzig/

Halle

19% 
London

20%  
NRW

24%
Berlin

11%
Others

DECEMBER 2021 Value (in €M) Area (in k sqm) EPRA vacancy Annualised 
net rent (in €M)

In-place rent 
per sqm (in €)

Number of units Value per sqm 
(in €)

Rental yield

NRW 1,887 1,228 5.6% 88 6.1 17,941 1,537 4.7%

Berlin 2,049 578 4.2% 60 8.7 8,025 3,545 2.9%

Dresden/Leipzig/Halle 1,156 815 4.8% 52 5.5 13,997 1,418 4.5%

Mannheim/KL/Frankfurt/Mainz 467 194 3.6% 20 8.5 3,292 2,410 4.2%

Nuremberg/Fürth/Munich 278 80 7.0% 9 9.4 1,430 3,494 3.1%

Hamburg/Bremen 426 269 5.7% 20 6.6 4,051 1,584 4.7%

London 1,749 209 5.8% 78 33.5 3,901 8,355 4.4%

Others 1,021 723 4.6% 56 6.9 12,300 1,411 5.5%

Development rights  
and new buildings * 306

Total 9,339 4,096 5.1% 383 8.1 64,937 2,205 4.2%

*of which pre marketed buildings in London amount to €55m
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BERLIN - BEST IN CLASS 
QUALITY LOCATIONS IN TOP TIER BERLIN NEIGHBORHOODS

KEY DRIVERS

Largest city by 
population in Germany.

Berlin is the leading start-
up location in Germany, 
attracting high quality, 
global talent.

Berlin continues  
to have the lowest home 
ownership  
rate in Germany.

Over the last decade the 
number of apartments 
per 1,000 inhabitants 
reduced from 563 in 2011 
to 541 in 2020.

December 
2021

Value 
(in €M)

Area 
(in k sqm)

EPRA 
vacancy

Annual-
ised net 

rent 
(in €M)

In-place 
rent per 

sqm (in €)

Number  
of units

Value per 
sqm (in €)

Rental 
yield

Berlin 2,049 578 4.2% 60 8.7 8,025 3,545 2.9%

24%
of GCP’s 
portfolio

70%
of the Berlin portfolio is located in top tier neighborhoods: Char-
lottenburg, Wilmersdorf, Mitte, Kreuzberg, Friedrichshain, Licht-
enberg, Neukölln, Schöneberg, Steglitz and Potsdam.

30%
is well located located primarily in Reinickendorf, Treptow, Köpenick 
and Marzahn-Hellersdorf.

Teltow

Potsdam

Schönefeld

Hennigsdorf

PORTFOLIO
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NORTH RHINE-WESTPHALIA (NRW)
WELL POSITIONED IN THE LARGEST METROPOLITAN AREA IN GERMANY

KEY DRIVERS

Both the most 
populous and 
densely populated 
state in Germany

Number 1 in the 
environmental 
economy across 
Germany.

Home to many of 
Germany’s leading 
companies including 
around 10 DAX 
companies

Industrial center 
of Germany 
contributing 21% to 
the national GDP.

December 
2021

Value 
(in €M)

Area 
(in k sqm)

EPRA 
vacancy

Annualised 
net rent 
(in €M)

In-place 
rent per 

sqm (in €)

Number  
of units

Value per 
sqm  

(in €)

Rental 
yield

NRW 1,887 1,228 5.6% 88 6.1 17,941 1,537 4.7%

The portfolio distribution in NRW is focused 
on cities with strong fundamentals within the 
region. 29% of the NRW portfolio is located 
in Cologne, the largest city in NRW, 8% in 
Dortmund, 7% in Duisburg, 6% in Essen, 6% 
in Wuppertal, and 5% in Bonn.

2% Marl

17%
Others

8%
Dortmund

6%
Wuppertal 

6%
Essen

29%
Cologne 

 

4% Solingen

1% Herne

1%  
Mönchengladbach

4% Gelsenkirchen

5% Bochum 

5% Erkrath

4th 
largest 
city in 

Germany 

7%
Duisburg

5%
Bonn 

20%
of GCP’s 
portfolio
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1.	 Cologne
2.	 Dortmund
3.	 Duisburg
4.	 Essen
5.	 Wuppertal
6.	 Bonn
7.	 Bochum
8.	 Erkrath
9.	 Gelsenkirchen
10.	 Solingen
11.	 Marl
12.	 Herne
13.	 Mönchengladbach

inhabitants	per	sqkm	(2020)*

300 - 1.000

150 - 300

100 - 150

1000 - 4.790

* Based on data from Statistiches Bundesamt

 POPULATION DENSITY IN NRW 
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LONDON PORTOLIO
LOCATED IN STRONG MIDDLE CLASS NEIGHBORHOODS

The map represents ap-
prox. 90% of the London 
Portfolio.

December 
2021

Value 
(in €M)

Area 
(in k sqm)

EPRA 
vacancy

Annual-
ised net 

rent 
(in €M)

In-place 
rent per 

sqm (in €)

Number  
of units

Value per 
sqm (in €)

Rental 
yield

London* 1,749 209 5.8% 78 33.5 3,901 8,355 4.4%

The total London portfo-
lio, including high quali-
ty assets, social housing 
as well as pre-marketed 
units, amounts to over 
4,000 units and approx. € 
€1.8 billion in value. 

Over 80% of the portfolio 
is situated within a short 
walking distance to an 
underground/overground 
station.

19%
of GCP’s 
portfolio

KEY DRIVERS DRIVING 
INCREASED LETTING DEMAND

Large number of higher 
education universities 
including some of the 
oldest and world-
famous colleges 
resulting in access to 
high quality talent.

Positive demographic 
fundamentals with a very 
high population density 
and low a median age.

Leading fintech hub with 
strengths in areas for 
growth potential such 
as, blockchain, digital 
banking and alternative 
lending among others.

Zone 1
Zone 2
Zone 3
Zone 4
Zone 5
Zone 6

*excluding pre marketed buildings in the amount of €55m

underground station

overground/train station

asset location

airport
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PORTFOLIO
QUALITY EAST PORTFOLIO

LOCATED IN THE GROWING AND DYNAMIC CITIES OF DRESDEN, LEIPZIG AND HALLE

KEY DRIVERS

Dresden is a leading hub for the 
technology industry in Europe, with 
a strong presence in semiconductors, 
communication technology and 
software development.

University cities with a wide appeal 
attracting students from around the 
world. Leipzig’s university, founded 
in 1409, is one of Europe’s oldest.

Strong demographic fundamentals, 
with increasing urbanization over 
last decade and young population 
compared to surrounding regions, 
with Leipzig expected to be among 
the cities leading population growth 
in Germany through 2030.

December 2021 Value 
(in €M)

Area 
(in k sqm)

EPRA 
vacancy

Annual-
ised net 

rent 
(in €M)

In-place 
rent per 

sqm (in €)

Number  
of units

Value per 
sqm (in €)

Rental 
yield

Dresden/Leipzig/
Halle

1,156 815 4.8% 52 5.5 13,997 1,418 4.5%

50%
Leipzig

28%
Dresden

22%
Halle

13%
of GCP’s 
portfolio

Leipzig & Dresden 
are the largest cities  
in eastern Germany 

after Berlin
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QUALITY NORTH PORTFOLIO
THE NORTH PORTFOLIO IS FOCUSED ON THE MAJOR URBAN CENTERS  

OF HAMBURG AND BREMEN – THE LARGEST CITIES IN THE NORTH OF GERMANY.

KEY DRIVERS

Hamburg port is 
a leading driver 
of the regional 
economy.

Bremen’s ports 
are important 
logistical hubs in 
Germany and much 
of Germany’s trade 
is executed through 
the city’s ports.

Hamburg is 
Germany’s 2nd 
largest city by 
population.

Bremen is an 
industrial hub with 
a strong connection 
to well known local 
research institutes.

December 
2021

Value 
(in €M)

Area 
(in k sqm)

EPRA  
vacancy

Annualised 
net rent 
(in €M)

In-place rent 
per sqm (in €)

Number  
of units

Value per 
sqm (in €)

Rental 
yield

Hamburg/
Bremen

426 269 5.7% 20 6.6 4,051 1,584 4.7%

36%
Hamburg

64%
Bremen

5%
of GCP’s 
portfolio
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STRONG FINANCIAL POSITION

CONSERVATIVE FINANCIAL POLICY

GCP follows a financial policy in order to maintain 
and improve its strong capital structure:

 ■ Strive to achieve A- global rating in the long 
term

 ■ LTV limit at 45%

 ■ Debt to debt plus equity ratio at 45% (or low-
er) on a sustainable basis

 ■ Maintaining conservative financial ratios with 
a strong ICR

 ■ Unencumbered assets above 50% of total as-
sets

 ■ Long debt maturity profile

 ■ Good mix of long-term unsecured bonds and 
non-recourse bank loans

 ■ Maintaining credit lines from several banks 
which are not subject to Material Adverse Ef-
fect clauses

 ■ Dividend distribution of 75% of FFO I per share 

Conservative financial approach adopted by the 
Company, maintaining a strong liquidity position 
providing for valuable financial flexibility. The strong 
liquidity position is reflected by €1.1 billion in cash 
and liquid assets at year-end 2021. 

GCP holds an investment-grade credit ratings from both Standard & Poor’s (S&P) and Moody’s Investors Service 
(Moody’s), with current long-term issuer ratings of BBB+ and Baa1, respectively. Additionally, S&P assigned GCP a 
short-term rating of A-2. In 2021 and as part of cost savings measures, GCP terminated its contract with Moody’s.  
However, Moody’s maintain its public rating on GCP on an unsolicited basis. The Company has a long-term goal of 
achieving an A- credit rating, an important component of its financial policy, and to that effect the Board of Directors 

has decided to implement policies as well as management and financial strategies to achieve that target.

HEDGING STRUCTURE

CREDIT RATING

GCP’s bank loans are spread across many loans from many dif-
ferent financial institutions that are non-recourse and have no 
cross-collateral or cross-default provisions.

In accordance with the Company’s conservative capital 
structure, 97% of its interest is hedged.

As part of GCP’s conservative financial policy, bonds issued 
in foreign currencies are hedged to Euro until maturity.

Moody'sS&P
A-/A3

BB-

BB

BB+

BBB-

BBB

BBB+

Baa2

GoalFeb		2013 Nov	2013 Feb	2014 Nov	2014 Jul	2015 Nov	2016Feb	2015 Sep	2017

Baa1

December 2021

93%  
Fixed & Swapped

4%  
Capped

3% 
Variable
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LOAN-TO-VALUE

DEBT AND INTEREST COVER RATIOS 

GCP strategically maintains its strong financial profile charac-
terized by long debt maturities, hedged interest rates, excellent 
financial coverage ratios, and a low LTV. The LTV as of Decem-

ber 31, 2021 is at 36%, below the management limit of 45%

GCP’s financial flexibility remains strong over time due to its 
high profitability, which is reflected in consistently high debt 
cover ratios. For the year of 2021, the Interest Cover Ratio was 

6.4x and the Debt Service Cover Ratio was 5.9x

Low Leverage (Loan-To-Value)

45% Board of Director’s limit

Dec	2020

31%

Dec	2021

36%

Dec	2019

33%

ICR

6.4x

DSCR

5.9x

3%

UNENCUMBERED ASSETS

The Company maintains as part of its conserva-
tive financial policy a high proportion of unen-
cumbered assets to provide additional financial 
flexibility and contribute to a strong credit pro-
file, with €8.4 billion in unencumbered assets as 
of December 2021, representing 88% of the total 
portfolio value.

An important component of GCP’s financial struc-
ture is a strong diversification of funding sources, 
reducing the reliance on any single source and 
resulting in a diversified financing mix. This is 
enabled by the Company’s wide reach and proven 
track record in issuing instruments across vari-
ous capital markets: straight bonds, convertible 
bonds, perpetual notes and equity capital. More-
over, GCP’s diversity is further improved through 
issuances in various currencies, issuing straight 
bonds in CHF, JPY and HKD. All foreign currency 
issuances are swapped into Euro until maturity. 
Issuances in various currencies increase the in-
vestor base and provide expansion into a wider 
range of markets to attract funding.

In addition, the Company maintains lasting rela-
tionships with dozens of banks and financial institu-
tions, providing for access to bank financing.

FINANCING SOURCES MIX

57%

34%

6%

3%

Dec	
2019

57%

36%

4% 3%

3%

Dec	
2020

57%

36%

4%

Dec	
2021

Bank debt

Straight bonds

Convertible bond

Equity

Perpetual Notes

€6.5 BN €6.7 BN

Dec	2019

79%
of

value

Dec	2020

82%
of

value

€8.4 BN

Dec	2021

88%
of

value
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Repositioning + Capex Increase: Rent + 
occupancy. Decrease operating costs and 
non-recoverable costs. Improve tenant 
satisfaction. Centralised IT/software

COMPANY STRATEGY AND BUSINESS MODEL

GCP’s investment focus is on the Ger-
man and London residential markets 
that it perceives to benefit from favor-
able fundamentals that will support sta-
ble profit and growth opportunities for 
the foreseeable future. The Group’s cur-
rent portfolio is predominantly focused 

on North Rhine-Westphalia, Berlin, the 
metropolitan regions of Leipzig, Dres-
den and Halle and London, as well as 
other major cities and urban centers in 
Germany. 

 

For its acquisitions, the Company ad-
heres to the following specific criteria:

 ● Acquisition in densely populated 
areas and major cities

 ● High cash flow generating asset
 ● Vacancy reduction potential

 ● Rent level per sqm below market level 
(under-rented), upside potential and 
low downside risk

 ● Purchase price below replacement 
costs and/or below market values

 ● Potential to reduce the operating cost 
per sqm

FOCUS ON VALUE-ADD OPPORTUNITIES IN ATTRACTIVE, DENSELY POPULATED REGIONS,  

WHILE KEEPING A CONSERVATIVE FINANCIAL POLICY AND INVESTMENT-GRADE RATING

Deal-sourcing network 
established since 2004.

Due Diligence & negotiation of 
best possible deal terms

Acquisition.

Yield & Value increase. 

Sale on opportunistic basis at  
high capital gains and channel  
into high quality properties 

%

Focus		on	
long	term	hold

TAKE
OVER
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CASH FLOW IMPROVEMENTS THROUGH FOCUS 

ON RENTAL INCOME AND COST DISCIPLINE

GCP seeks to maximise cash flows from its portfolio 
through the effective management of its assets by in-
creasing rent, occupancy and cost efficiency. This pro-
cess is initiated during the due diligence phase of each 
acquisition, through the development of a specific plan 
for each asset. Once taken over, and the initial business 
plan is realised, GCP regularly assesses the merits of 
ongoing improvements to its properties to further en-
hance the yield on its portfolio by increasing the quality 
and appearance of the properties, raising rents and fur-
ther increasing occupancy. GCP also applies significant 
scrutiny to its costs, systematically reviewing ways to 
increase efficiency and thus increase cash flows.

MAXIMISE TENANT SATISFACTION

A key pillar of the overall success of GCP is tenant sat-
isfaction. The GCP Service Center ensures prompt re-
sponses to queries with the longest time to a response 
being 24 hours. Urgent cases are taken care of within 
a time frame of under an hour. The quality of the Ser-
vice Center offering has been validated independently 

on various occasions and in October 2021, Focus Mon-
ey rated the GCP Service Center’s customer service as 
“Very Good”, TÜV Nord certifies GCP’s service quality 
and GCP holds a ISO 9001 certification by TÜV Hes-
sen for its Quality Management System which was 
re-certified in February 2022. Due to the corona pan-
demic the re-audit was done remotely, and the auditor 
commended GCP on its technical ability in this regard, 
which resulted in a fully frictionless re-audit process.  
A strong focus point of tenant satisfaction is digitalisa-
tion. Through the GCP App prospective as well as exist-
ing tenants can access tools such as apartment search 
as well as service and maintenance requests. The App 
allows tenants to view the status and receive updates 
on these requests, thus increasing the transparency of 
the process. The Company additionally established a 
tenant loyalty program which allows tenants to gather 
points through participation in activities and programs. 
The Company places strong emphasis on enhancing the 
living quality and environment of its tenants through 
various measures. GCP strives to develop a holistic 
sense of community amongst its tenants by installing 
playgrounds, improving accessibility at the properties, 
organizing family-friendly events, supporting local as-
sociations as well as through various other initiatives. 
Some of the Company’s regularly organised tenant 
events include Santa Claus celebrations for Christ-
mas, Easter egg-searching events as well as different 
summer events, such as the dozens of “GCP Summer 
Parties” that are organised annually. In 2021, although 
some events were again not possible to hold in-person, 
they continued online with a virtual Christmas celebra-
tion and an online advent calendar for all out tenants. 
The Company has also worked towards providing chil-

dren with study areas, supporting local organisations 
that promote creativity, organizing youth programs, 
mother-baby groups, and senior citizen meeting points, 
among many others, to establish a pleasant environ-
ment within the community. In addition, GCP identifies 
opportunities to work with local authorities to improve 
the existing infrastructure in the community, contribut-
ing to increased demand for the neighborhood.

OPERATIONS SUPPORTED  

BY CENTRALISED IT/SOFTWARE

The Group’s integrated centralised IT/software plays a 
significant role in enabling GCP to achieve its efficien-
cy objectives. The key to this system is the detailed in-
formation that it provides not only on the portfolio but 
also on existing and prospective tenants, which staff 
can access on and off the road. This all-encompassing 
data processing enables the Group to track and respond 
to market rent trends, spot opportunities for rent in-
creases, and manage re-letting risks on a daily basis. 
Implementation of digital processes for letting activi-
ties allow for paperless signing of leases, improving the 
speed and efficiency of the letting process for GCP and 
tenants while integrated service request through GCP’s 
tenancy app improve the efficiency and transparency of 
maintenance and service requests for tenants. GCP’s 
IT/software provides management with the detailed in-
formation necessary to monitor everything from costs 
to staff performance. 
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CAPITAL MARKETS

INVESTOR RELATIONS ACTIVITIES SUPPORTING THE STRONG CAPITAL MARKETS POSITION

The Company continues to proactively present its 
business strategy and thus enhance perception, as 
well as awareness, of the Company among cap-
ital market investors. GCP seizes opportunities 
to present a platform for open dialogue, meeting 
hundreds of investors in dozens of conferences 
around the globe as well as hosting investors at 
the Company’s offices or via video conferences. 
The improved perception leads to a better un-
derstanding of GCP’s business model, operating 

platform and competitive advantage, and leads 
to strong confidence from investors. GCP’s strong 
position in equity capital markets is reflected 
through its membership in key stock market indi-
ces, including the MDAX of the Deutsche Börse, 
the FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Global Index series, GPR 
250, GPR Europe ESG+, DIMAX and the MSCI index 
series. These index memberships are the result of 
many years of success in equity markets and the 
strong investor perception of the Company.

Placement Frankfurt	Stock	Exchange	

Market segment Prime	Standard

First listing Q2	2012

Number of shares 
(as of 31 December 2021)

176,187,899	
ordinary	shares	
with	a	par	value	of	
EUR	0.10	per	share

Number of shares, 
excluding suspended 
voting rights, base for 
KPI calculations
(as of 31 December 2021)

164,962,058
ordinary	shares	
with	a	par	value	of	
EUR	0.10	per	share

Shareholder structure
(as of December 2021)

Freefloat:	48%
Edolaxia	Group	46%
Treasury	Shares	6%

Nominal share capital
(as of 31 December 2021)

17,618,789.90	EUR

Number of shares on 
a fully diluted basis, 
excluding suspended 
voting rights
(as of 31 December 2021)

184,580,847		

ISIN LU0775917882

WKN A1JXCV

Symbol GYC

Key index memberships

MDAX
FTSE	EPRA/NAREIT	Index	Series
MSCI	Index	Series
GPR	250
DIMAX

Market capitalisation
(as of 14 March 2022)

3.6	bn	EUR
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Berlin
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VAST AND PROVEN TRACK RECORD IN CAPITAL MARKETS

The Company has established over the years an 
impressive track record in capital markets, con-
tinuously accessing various markets through its 
strong relationships with leading investment 
banks in the market. Supported by two invest-
ment-grade credit ratings (BBB+ from S&P and 
Baa1 from Moody’s), GCP is able to quickly and ef-
ficiently source funds at attractive interest rates, 
significantly contributing to its low average cost of 
debt (of currently 1%). Since 2012, GCP has issued 
approx. €9 billion through dozens of issuances 
of straight bonds, convertible bonds, equity and 
perpetual notes. The Company launched an EMTN 

programme, providing significant convenience 
and flexibility by enabling the issuance in a short 
of time of financial instruments of various kinds, 
sizes, currencies and maturities. During 2021 
GCP was again active in capital markets, issuing 
in January €1 billion Series X straight bond, the 
Company’s largest issue to date at a record low 
coupon of 0.125% and repaying bonds and perpet-
ual notes through several transactions amounting 
to approx. €1 billion. Through its strong access to 
capital markets, GCP is able to proactively and ef-
fectively manage its debt structure, contributing 
to a long average debt maturity of 6 years. 

ANALYST RECOMMENDATIONS

First Berlin 
17.08.2021

DZ Bank 
18.08.2021

Kepler Cheuvreux
15.12.2021

UBS
12.10.2021

Berenberg
24.01.2022

J.P. Morgan
01.09.2021

HSBC
15.09.2021

Goldman Sachs
13.12.21

Societe  
Generale

22.11.2021

Bank of America 
Securities
19.01.22

Barclays
02.02.2022

Deutsche Bank
24.01.22

Oddo BHF
17.08.21

Kempen & co
17.01.22

19
21 21

27.5 27.5 27.5
26 26

23.8 23
21.5

25.5 25.426

Citigroup
16.08.2021

34.7
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SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE AND TOTAL RETURN COMPARISON SINCE FIRST EQUITY PLACEMENT (19.07.2012) 

30

25

20

15

10

5

0

20222012 2013 2014 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021

Grand City Properties 788%

issue price €2.75

WuppertalHalle

MDAX (rebased) 185% 

FTSE EPRA/NAREIT Germany (rebased) 216% 
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ESG – ENVIRONMENT, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
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As a large organisation with a wide geographical 
reach from different operational activities, the 
Company considers it important to the not only 
maintain but also further improve the sustain-
able nature of its operations and properties and 
accordingly maintain a high standard of respon-
sibility towards all of its stakeholders, includ-
ing tenants, employees, shareholders, creditors, 
suppliers, the environment as well as the broad-
er communities in which the Company operates.  
Building wholesome neighborhoods around GCP’s 
assets is a key factor for the Company to achieve 
its goal of creating affordable communities where 
people wish to live and stay. Additionally, a favor-
able macroeconomic background as well as sta-
ble social and institutional conditions in the cities 
were GCP invests, along with unchanging climatic 
conditions, together support the company’s long-
term business interests.

Maintaining the five focus areas from GCP’s pre-
vious materiality assessment, which are Tenants, 
Employees, Environment, Society and Gover-
nance, GCP updated its strategic framework of 
the Company’s sustainability management. Spe-
cific topics were given greater importance with-
in the framework, namely climate change miti-
gation, climate change adaptation, resource use 
and circular economy.  The framework update is 
a reflection of GCP’s work towards ensuring the 
minimisation of sustainability risks the company 
faces. In response to the risks posed to the Com-
pany and society by climate change, GCP has also 
launched a climate-related risk assessment, the 
insights from which will be integrated into the 
Company’s risk management processes.

GCP considers ESG to be pivotal for the overall 
success of the organisation and this is incorpo-
rated into the various functions of the Company. 
The various efforts and initiatives undertaken in 
2021, as well as the Company’s future targets are 
displayed in the sustainability reporting that con-
sists of an externally assured non-financial report 
as well as topic-specific sustainability documents 
on all material issues. These will be available for 
download later in 2022 under the sustainability 
section of the Company’s website. GCP’s main-
tains its reporting processes in line with the EPRA 
sBPR (Sustainability Best Practice Recommenda-
tions) guidelines and has the published non-finan-
cial data also externally assured under the ISAE 
3000 standard.

GCP’s commitment to sustainability measures was 
recognised in January 2022 by Sustainalytics, a 
leading sustainability rating agency, which ranked 
GCP 33rd among 160 global real estate peers. 
Further, GCP was ranked in the 82nd percentile 
within the real estate peer group in the Corporate 
Sustainability Assessment (CSA) by S&P Global 
and was rated industry-best in the sub-category 
“Customer Relationship Management”, reflecting 
the strong focus on tenant satisfaction. 

Furthermore, for the fifth year in a row, in Sep-
tember 2021, GCP was awarded the EPRA BPR 
Gold Award as well as the EPRA Sustainability 
Best Practices Recommendations (sBPR) Gold 
Award for its EPRA sBPR reporting, underlining 
the Company’s commitment to the highest stan-
dards of transparency and reporting.  

SS

RECEIVED THE GOLD AWARD 
IN BOTH CATEGORIES 

FOR THE 5TH CONSECUTIVE YEAR
(SEPTEMBER 2021)

RANKED

33RD
out of 160  
companies

Jan 2022

82ND PERCENTILE WITHIN 
THE REAL ESTATE PEER GROUP 

(NOVEMBER 2021)
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ENVIRONMENTAL RESPONSIBILITY

GCP takes its responsibility to safeguard the environment 
and mitigate adverse impacts not only on its business but 
also on other stakeholders, very seriously. As a responsi-
ble corporate citizen, the Company invest into its portfolio 
and implements measures with the aim of achieving high-
er levels of efficiency, which allows GCP to take an active 
role in the transition to a low carbon economy. 

Across Europe legislation is driving change across the 
economy. In Germany the Climate Change Act 2021 sets 
ambitious carbon reduction targets for all sectors, aiming 
towards a carbon neutral environment by 2045. GCP has 
set a goal of achieving a 40% reduction in CO

2
 emissions 

by 2030 against a 2018 baseline. In line with more ambi-
tious targets set by the German Government the Company 
is currently reviewing its own goals and targets.

GCP carefully considers the environmental aspects of the 
entire repositioning process and consistently improves 
upon different environmental measures in this respect. 
The Company sees the implementation of environmental-
ly friendly measures as both an important environmental 
issue as well as an integral part of the optimisation of its 
cost structure. Technical due diligence studies identify ac-
tions that could be pursued based on an economic busi-
ness case, higher tenant satisfaction as well as environ-
mental benefits. 

GCP assigns considerable resources to ensure the prop-
er oversight of various initiatives in connection with the 
safeguarding of the environment. Management reviews 
of the environmental policies are coupled with the ongo-
ing monitoring of the environmental performance such 

as the use of energy, waste and water along with the 
reduction of carbon emissions and waste management. 
Through the year 2021, the Company continued to switch 
electricity obtained by the Company to renewables or 
climate-neutral energy sources, thereby reducing GCP’s 
carbon-footprint, supporting the aforementioned goal to 
reduce CO₂ emissions by 40% until 2030. GCP has further 
continued its efforts towards moving to climate-neutral 
gas systems to reduce its environmental footprint. In 
addition, GCP further expanded the charging station in-
frastructure for electromobility and added to the electric 
vehicles in its fleet.

Looking ahead, GCP will continue to analyse its proper-
ties for potential implementation of renewable energy 
systems like CHP (Combined Heat and Power) that make 

more efficient use of the source of energy. The Company 
also continues to progressively switch the electricity sup-
ply of all common areas to PPA (Power Purchase Agree-
ment) of certified renewable electricity generated from 
wind, hydroelectric, and solar PV sources. Additionally, 
the Company is also taking steps to improve standards of 
data analysis and these measures are expected to greatly 
benefit the data management while also allowing for even 
more precise analyses and gains in efficiency. 

Although GCP does not control its tenants’ energy con-
sumption, the Company strives to provide its tenants with 
consistent and relevant information about their energy con-
sumption through the progressive installation of sub-me-
tering systems. This provides tenants a greater incentive to 
reduce energy use. GCP has developed a variety of promo-

“Grand City Properties’ Sustainable Business strategy 
affirms the positive contribution we can make to 
tackling global challenges such as climate emergency, 
while safeguarding the wellbeing of our tenants and 
supporting our wider communities.”

Christian Windfuhr,  
Chairman of the Board of Directors
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tional materials related to energy saving behaviour for ten-
ants, emphasizing the links between resource efficiency, 
costs savings and environmental benefits.

Another important environmental topic for GCP, apart from 
energy and climate, is biodiversity. The Company is com-
mitted to enhancing the biodiversity across the portfolio. 
While the Company’s business model limits its exposure 
to large construction projects, and specifically green field 
developments, and therefore its impact on loss of biodi-
versity is rather small, many properties have substantial 
amounts of green space that can play an important role 
in protecting urban biodiversity, as well as contributing 
positively to tenants’ well-being and satisfaction. GCP 
has therefore implemented a policy in 2021, outlining its 
commitment to biodiversity and has started implement-
ing measures to foster biodiversity across the portfolio, 
like biodiversity-enhancing plantations, sourcing certified 
and/or recycled wood products and refrain from using 
pesticides and herbicides across the portfolio that could 
harm natural life and setting up insect hotels and bird 
houses. Where possible the Company aims to involve lo-
cal stakeholders in these activities, such as cooperation 
with kindergartens and day care centers when installing 
bird houses and insect hotels, which further contributes 
to environmental awareness through education.

GCP’s Green Procurement Policy defines the basis on which 
various contracting decisions should be made and is 
communicated to all employees with purchasing re-
sponsibilities. Suppliers are expected to reduce neg-
ative impact on the environment and position their 
operations towards the ISO 14001 environmental 
management standard. The Company maintains a 
proactive approach and regularly engages with sup-
pliers to identify areas of improvement with regards 
to sustainability and the environment.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

TENANTS & THE SOCIETY

As an asset owner and a property man-
ager, GCP has an impact on the quality of 
life in a community, which it can improve 
through several enhancements to the 
living conditions therein. The Company 
recognises this and positions several of 
its activities in order to create commu-
nity-friendly living environments. Many 
community facilities such as indoor and 
outdoor playgrounds, fitness trails, BBQ 
areas, study rooms and tenant libraries 
allow for strong relationships within the 
community. In order to further promote 

the exchange and interaction with ten-
ants and to strengthen the sense of com-
munity among each other, even in a time 
of lockdown and contact restrictions, 
GCP hosted its traditional santa visits 
and continued its interactive Christmas 
campaign online in 2021, similar to the 
previous year. 

The GCP Foundation focuses the efforts 
of the organisation on charitable projects 
involving children, education, sports and 
the elderly, to mention a few. Benefiting 
a number of charities and community 
development efforts across all the Com-

pany’s portfolio locations. Following the 
flooding disaster in Ahrtal, Germany, the 
GCP foundation donated funds going di-
rectly to a small local organisation in or-
der to quickly provide support directly to 
the affected community in a non-bureau-
cratic manner.  Additionally, employees 
in the region assisted as volunteers in 
local clean-up efforts through their par-
ticipation in GCP’s 2021 Social Day.  Ad-
ditionally, the GCP foundation supported 
other local virtual events in the Compa-

ny’s portfolio locations and also provided 
scholarships to students in Halle. 

GCP places a high value on direct in-
teraction and dialogue with its tenants 
and to that end boasts of a high-quali-
ty service center, available 24/7 across 
multiple modes of communication and in 
different languages. Despite of the chal-
lenges that resulted from restrictions 
in connection to the continued corona-
virus pandemic, the service center was 
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able to maintain a high level of customer 
service and ensured tenant satisfaction 
remained high while being available to 
tenants, with the quality of service pro-
vided awarded by Focus Money with the 
“Fairest Customer Hotline” designation 
in October 2021. For prospective ten-
ants, the Company implemented virtual 
flat viewings and implemented digital 
business processes making the entire 
leasing process smoother for prospec-
tive tenants and reducing health risk. In 
2021 GCP additionally launched a tenant 
loyalty program which awards tenants 
with points through participation in a 
range of programs and activities, such as 
programs related to sustainable energy 
consumption, timely payment of rent and 
participation in tenant events. In order to 
maintain the Company’s commitment to 
tenant health & safety and tenant satis-
faction across all departments, GCP has 
in place its Tenant Health & Safety Policy 
and the Tenant Satisfaction Policy which 
address these important topics.

GCP is the main sponsor of the FC Union 
Berlin Youth football team while it also 
sponsored on different levels, other local 
sports clubs such as the football teams FC 
Azadi Bochum, VfB Frohnhausen Essen, FSV 
Werdohl, SSV Buer Gelsenkirchen as and the 
volleyball team TV Hörde Dortmund, as well 
as others. Sports are able to impart to the 
next generation various useful disciplines 
that will hold them in good stead while also 
bringing the local community together. 

The Company also works with local policy 
makers and other stakeholders to identi-
fy various initiatives that could improve 
the overall condition of the community, 
which GCP may support in a number of 
ways. For example, GCP partners with 

several local non-profit organisations 
that provide educational assistance and 
general care for children living in the 
local community, local creative centers 
and also community-orientated grocery 
stores. The Company supports these 

organisations by offering rent-free ac-
cess to housing units and/or commercial 
space, in addition to providing furniture, 
equipment and funds for operations.  
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EMPLOYEES & DIVERSITY

As a responsible employer, GCP provides its employees 
with various opportunities for personal development and 
internal advancement. The Company continues to pro-
vide training opportunities for employees, which include 
courses to improve technical skills, language courses, 
among others. GCP’s ongoing Leadership Program and 
employee support are further examples of such oppor-
tunities and have been rather effective in building lead-
ers of tomorrow. The Company cares for the well-being 
of its employees and to that end provides them with a 
fitness center at its operational headquarters in Berlin 
free of charge. The fitness center is managed by quali-
fied trainers, who develop and supervise individual train-
ing programs for those who wish to take advantage of 
this service. GCP provides subsidies for lunch and public 
transport as additional benefits for employees. Further, 
working from home was made possible for the majority 
of staff due to the coronavirus pandemic and substan-
tial health & safety measures were implemented in the 
Company’s offices. To assist the employees with child-
care, GCP cooperates with an external partner that offers 
holiday care and virtual childcare at discounted rates. As 
a commitment to high employee satisfaction and reten-
tion, GCP is pursuing a goal to decrease employee turn-
over rate to below 10%.

GCP views its cultural diversity as being essential to its 
success, but the Company also values and respects per-
spectives of its employees from different nationalities, 
ages, genders, ethnicities, races, cultures, religions, ide-
ologies, sexual identities and physical abilities. Discrimi-
nation based on any of these aspects is strictly prohibit-
ed within the Company. All employees are provided with 
a diversity training on joining the organisation. Looking 
ahead, we plan to introduce “Culture Days” at the Compa-

ny’s offices to foster and celebrate diversity within GCP’s 
staff. The Company’s commitment to diversity is overseen 
by a Diversity Committee, made up of representation 
across different levels of the organisation.  

ESG STEERING COMMITTEE
The Company’s ESG Steering Committee is made up of 
the heads of all relevant departments and is chaired by 
the Chairman of the Board of Directors, Mr Christian 
Windfuhr. The committee is responsible for providing 
oversight and strategic guidance with regards to ESG 
topics and discusses developments in regular committee 
meetings and provides direction to the Sustainability De-
partment.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
GCP emphasises the importance of corporate gover-
nance with a high standard of transparency, executed 
by the Board of Directors with a majority of independent 
directors and the management. The Company directs its 
efforts in maintaining the high trust it receives from its 
shareholders and bondholders. GCP is proud of the high 
confidence of its investors, which is reflected in the im-
pressive placement of funds by major global investment 
banks. GCP’s shares and bonds are regularly placed with 
international leading institutional investors and major 
global investment and sovereign funds.

In order to maintain high corporate governance and 
transparency standards, the Company has implemented 
the Advisory Board, the Risk Committee, the Audit Com-
mittee, the Nomination Committee and the Remunera-
tion Committee.

Furthermore, the Company ensures that its Board of Di-
rectors and its senior executives have vast experience 
and skills in the areas relevant to its business. The Com-
pany has quarterly reporting standards and updates its 
corporate presentation on a regular basis.

The Company has a very strict Code of Conduct which ap-
plies to all business partnerships as well as employees. 
The Code of Conduct addresses issues related to corrup-
tion, conflicts of interest, bribery, human rights abuses 
as well as discrimination based on a range of factors such 
as age, gender, ethnicity, race, culture, religion, ideology, 
sexual identity, physical disabilities among others. The 
Code also clearly lays down a reporting framework for 
any violations. Additionally, it also provides for investi-
gations and disciplinary measures as may be required in 
case of violations. The Code has been recently updated 
with a focus on improved transparency in its reporting 
lines, which are now supported by the Compliance De-
partment and the whistleblower system. 

The Company is not subject to any compulsory corpo-
rate governance code of conduct or respective statutory 
legal provisions. In particular, the Company is currently 
not required to adhere to the “Ten Principles of Corpo-
rate Governance” of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange or 
to the German Corporate Governance Code, the latter 
which are only applicable to listed companies incorpo-
rated in Germany. Nevertheless, the Company intends 
to voluntarily comply with the “Ten Principles of Cor-
porate Governance” of the Luxembourg Stock Exchange 
in the future and is currently evaluating the necessary 
measures to implement the principles and recommenda-
tions of the “Ten Principles of Corporate Governance” of 
the Luxembourg Stock Exchange and continues to take 
steps to implement environmental, social and corporate 
governance best practices throughout its business.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting (“AGM”) of the shareholders 
of Grand City Properties S.A. for 2022 will take place on 
June 29, 2022 in Luxembourg. The meeting will resolve on, 
among others, the amount of the dividend for the 2021 fis-
cal year to be distributed to shareholders of the Company.  

COMPLIANCE, CODE OF CONDUCT  
AND DATA PROTECTION

The Company considers reputational risk as a significant 
risk and has therefore incorporated a high compliance with 
statutory laws as well as Company guidelines into the cor-
porate management and culture. Employees are provided 
with initial as well as on-going training related to issues 
connected with the Code of Conduct. The GCP compliance 
and risk management framework includes the correspond-
ing internal audit procedures and covers all areas of the 
business including acquisitions, asset management, ad-
ministrative and operative functions. 

Internally, the Company’s Code of Conduct for Employees is 
a mandatory component for all employment contracts and 
includes policies such as, Anti-Corruption Policy, Anti-dis-
crimination Policy, Whistle-blowing Policy, Data Protection 
Declaration, User Policy for dealing with digital content & 
devices as well as a Green Procurement Policy. Externally, 
business partners are required to adhere to the strict Code 
of Conduct for Business Partners. This Code of Conduct lays 
out the legal and ethical framework to be followed and in-
cludes references to a number of important issues such as 
prohibition of corruption and bribery, conflicts of interest, 
health and safety of employees, environmental protection, 
money laundering practices, respect of basic human rights 
of employees, prevention of child labour as well as forced 

labour, data protection and recognition of employees’ rights 
pertaining to freedom of association

The Company´s Code of Conduct includes the prohibition 
of insider dealing. The Company is subject to several ob-
ligations under Regulation (EU) No. 596/2014 (Market 
Abuse Regulation, “MAR”), as amended. Therefore, it has 
set up a company´s insider register and a process to ensure 
that persons on such list acknowledge their duties and are 
aware of sanctions. The Company notifies pursuant to Ar-
ticle 19 para. 5 subpara. 1 sentence 1 of MAR all person dis-
charging managerial responsibilities of their obligations 
in the context of managers’ transactions. Memorandums, 
notifications and information are distributed regularly.  

One of GCP’s important objectives has been to ensure the 
best-possible protection of personal data from manipulation 
or abuse. In this regard, various modern IT systems with 
high standards of data privacy are a key technical solution 
utilised by the Company. At the same time, staff are sensi-
tised to the topic of data protection through video training 
modules as well as seminars with legal experts. Displaying 
its proactive nature, the Company has also prepared clearly 
communicated standard operating procedures (SOPs) which 
assist all stakeholders in their daily operations involving 
data as well as ensure the effective protection of data.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Company is administered by a Board of Directors that 
is vested with the powers to perform and manage in the 
Company’s best interests.

The Board of Directors represents the shareholders as a 
whole and makes decisions solely in the Company’s best 
interests and independently of any conflicts of interest. 

The Board of Directors and senior management regularly 
evaluate the effective fulfillment of their and compliance 
with strong corporate governance standards. This evalu-
ation is also performed by the Audit Committee and the 
Risk Committee.

The members of the Board of Directors are elected by 
the shareholders at the AGM for a term not exceed-
ing six years and are eligible for re-election after such 
term. The directors may be dismissed with or without 
any cause at any time and at the sole discretion of the 
shareholders at the AGM. The Board of Directors, a ma-
jority of whom are independent, resolves on matters on 
the basis of a simple majority, in accordance with the 
articles of association. The Board of Directors chooses 
amongst the directors a chairperson who shall have a 
casting vote. The renewal of the mandates of Ms. Sim-
one Runge-Brandner and Mr. Daniel Malkin as indepen-
dent directors has been approved at the AGM in 2021 
until the AGM in 2023. Mr. Christian Windfuhr has been 
appointed and confirmed as executive director at the 
AGM in 2021 until the AGM in 2023.

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

MEMBERS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS

NAME POSITION

Mr. Christian Windfuhr Director,	Chairman

Ms. Simone Runge-Brandner Independent	Director

Mr. Daniel Malkin Independent	Director
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CEO

The Board of Directors resolved to delegate the daily man-
agement of the Company to Mr. Refael Zamir, as Daily 
Manager (administrateur-délégué) of the Company, under 
the endorsed denomination (Zusatzbezeichnung) Chief 
Executive Officer (CEO) for an undetermined period.

ADVISORY BOARD

The Board of Directors established an Advisory Board to 
provide expert advice and assistance to the Board of Di-
rectors. The Board of Directors decides on the composi-
tion, tasks, and term of the Advisory Board as well as the 
appointment and dismissal of its members. The Advisory 
Board has no statutory powers under Luxembourg law 
or the articles of association of the Company but applies 
rules adopted by the Board of Directors. The Advisory 
Board is an important source of guidance for the Board of 
Directors when making strategic decisions.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Board of Directors established an Audit Committee 
and decides on the composition, tasks and term of the 
Audit Committee as well as the appointment and dis-
missal of its members. The Audit Committee shall consist 
exclusively of Non-Executive Directors, of which at least 
half shall be Independent Directors. The responsibilities 
of the Audit Committee relate to the integrity of the con-
solidated financial statements, including reporting to the 
Board of Directors on its activities and the adequacy of 
internal systems controlling the financial reporting pro-
cesses, and monitoring the accounting processes.

The Audit Committee provides guidance to the Board 
of Directors on the auditing of the consolidated annual 
report of the Company and, in particular, shall monitor 
the independence of the approved independent auditor, 
the additional services rendered by such auditor, the is-
suing of the audit mandate to the auditor, the determi-
nation of auditing focal points, and the fee agreement 
with the auditor.

RISK COMMITTEE AND RISK OFFICER

The Board of Directors established a Risk Committee to 
assist and provide expert advice to the Board of Directors 
in fulfilling its oversight responsibilities relating to the 
different types of risks the Company is exposed to, rec-
ommend a risk management structure including its or-
ganization and processes, as well as assess and monitor 
effectiveness of the overall risk management. The Risk 
Committee is supported by the Risk Officer. The Risk Of-
ficer’s responsibilities are determined and monitored by 
the Risk Committee and are guided by the Risk Commit-
tee as part of its oversight role pursuant to the Rules of 
Procedure of the Risk Committee, with the objective of 
bringing a systematic and disciplined approach to eval-
uate and improve the culture, capabilities, and practices 
integrated with strategy-setting and execution. The Risk 
Committee provides advice on actions of compliance, 
in particular by reviewing the Company’s procedures 
for  detecting risk, the effectiveness of the Company’s 
risk management and internal control systems and by 
assessing the scope and effectiveness of the systems 
established by the management to identify, assess and 
monitor risks.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Board of Directors established a Remuneration Com-
mittee. The Remuneration committee shall be composed 
of Non Executive directors. The Remuneration Commit-
tee shall submit proposals regarding the remuneration 
of executive managers to the Board, ensuring that these 
proposals are in accordance with the remuneration policy 
adopted by the Company and the performance evalua-
tion results of the persons concerned. To that end, the 
committee shall be informed of the total remuneration 
paid to each member of the executive management by 
other companies affiliated with the group.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Board of Directors established a Nomination Com-
mittee. The Nomination Committee shall be composed 
of Non-Executive Directors. For every significant position 
to be filled, the committee will make an evaluation of the 
existing and required skills, knowledge and experience. 
Based on this assessment, a description of the role, to-
gether with the skills, knowledge and experience required 
shall be drawn up. As such, the committee shall act in the 
best interests of the Company, and among others, prepare 
plans for succession of Directors, evaluate existing and 
required skills, knowledge, and experience, consider pro-
posals from shareholders, the Board and executive man-
agement, and suggest candidates to the Board.

INTERNAL CONTROLS  
AND RISK MANAGEMENT SYSTEMS

The Company closely monitors and manages potential 
risks and sets appropriate measures in order to mitigate 
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the occurrence of possible failures to a minimum. The 
risk management is led by the Risk Committee, which 
constructs the risk management structure, organisa-
tion, and processes. The Risk Committee monitors the 
effectiveness of risk management functions throughout 
the organisation, ensures that infrastructure, resources, 
and systems are in place for risk management and are 
adequate to maintain a satisfactory level of risk manage-
ment discipline. The Company categorises the risk man-
agement systems into two main categories: internal risk 
mitigation and external risk mitigation.

INTERNAL RISK MITIGATION

Internal controls are constructed from five main elements:

 ● Risk assessment – set by the Risk Committee, 
supported by the Risk Officer, and guided by an 
ongoing analysis of the organisational structure and 
by identifying potential weaknesses.

 ● Control discipline – based on the organisational 
structure and supported by employee and 
management commitments. The discipline is founded 
on the foundations of integrity and ethical values.

 ● Control features – the Company sets physical 
controls, compliance checks, and verifications 
such as cross departmental checks. Grand City 
Properties S.A. puts strong emphasis on separation 
of duties, as approval and payments are done by at 
least two separate parties. Payment verification is 
cross checked and confirmed with the budget and 
the contract. Any payment exceeding a certain set 
threshold amount requires additional approval by the 
head of the department as a condition for payment.

 ● Monitoring procedures – the Company monitors 
and tests unusual entries, mainly through a 
detailed monthly actual vs. budget analysis 
and check. Strong and sustainable control and 
organisational systems reduce the probability of 
errors and mistakes significantly. The management 
places significant value in constantly improving 
all measures, adjusting to market changes and 
organisational dynamics.

 ● ESG risk-related expenditures – the Group has 
included identification of potential financial liabilities 
and future expenditures linked to ESG risks in the 
organisational risk assessment. Future expenditures 
on ESG matters and opportunities are included in the 
financial budget. 

EXTERNAL RISK MITIGATION

Through ordinary course of business, the Company is 
exposed to various external risks. The Risk Committee 
is constantly determining whether the infrastructure, re-
sources, and systems are in place and adequate to main-
tain a satisfactory level of risk. The potential risks and 
exposures are related, inter alia, to volatility of interest 
rate risks, liquidity risks, credit risks, regulatory and legal 
risks, collection and tenant deficiencies, the need for un-
expected capital investments, and market downturn risk.

Grand City Properties S.A. sets direct and specific 
guidelines and boundaries to mitigate and address each 
risk, hedging and reducing to a minimum the occurrence 
of failure or potential default.

For information regarding Brexit, Coronavirus, Inflation 
and Interest rates, Berlin elections and Expropriation ref-

erendum, and the Geopolitical situation around Russia – 
Ukraine, please see pages 131, 132 and 133 (Note 26.3.5)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

The Company respects the rights of all shareholders 
and ensures that they receive equal treatment. All 
shareholders have equal voting rights and all corporate 
publications are transmitted through general publica-
tion channels and are also available in a specific section 
on the Company’s website. The Company discloses its 
share ownership and additionally discloses any share-
holder position above 5% when it is informed by the 
respective shareholder. Share held and/or acquired by 
the Company, either directly or through subsidiaries, 
pursuant to its buy-back program, are suspended from 
their voting rights.

The shareholders of Grand City Properties S.A. exercise 
their voting rights at each General Meeting of the share-
holders, whereby each share is granted one vote. The 
AGM of the shareholders takes place on the last Wednes-
day of the month of June at the registered office of the 
Company, or at such other place as may be specified in 
the notice of the meeting. If such day is a legal holiday, 
the AGM of the shareholders shall be held on the fol-
lowing business day. At the AGM of the shareholders the 
Board of Directors presents, among others, the manage-
ment report as well as the statutory and consolidated 
financial statements to the shareholders.

The AGM resolves, among others, on the statutory and 
consolidated financial statements of Grand City Properties 
S.A., the allocation of the statutory financial results, the 
appointment of the approved independent auditor, and the 
discharge to the (re-)election of the members of the Board 
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of Directors. The convening notice for the AGM of the share-
holders contains the agenda and is publicly announced in 
the Recueil électronique des sociétés et associations in Lux-
embourg (RESA), in a Luxembourg newspaper and on the 
Company’s website at least thirty days before the AGM and 
in accordance with applicable Luxembourg law.

COMPLIANCE TO THE TRANSPARENCY LAW

The company is in line with the Transparency Law and in 
particular in relation to the disclosure requirements i.e. 
disclosure to the public of regulated information within 
the meaning of article 1 (10) of the Transparency Law. 
The Company provides public equal and timely access to 
such information and fulfills the complex disclosure ob-
ligations. The quarterly and annual financial reports and 
investor presentations press releases and ad-hoc notifi-
cations are available in English language on Company´s 
website. The Company provides on its website informa-
tion about organisation, its management and upcoming 
and past shareholder meetings, such as its AGMs. The 
Company´s website provides a financial calendar an-
nouncing the financial reporting dates as well as other 
important events. The financial calendar is published be-
fore the beginning of a year and regularly updated.

INFORMATION ACCORDING TO ARTICLE 11(2)  
OF THE LUXEMBOURG TAKEOVER LAW

The following disclosure is provided pursuant to article 
11 of the Luxembourg law of 19 May 2006 transposing 
Directive 2004/25/EC of the European Parliament and of 
the Council of 21 April 2004 on takeover bids, as amend-
ed (the “Takeover Law”):

a. With regard to article 11 (1) (a) and (c) of the Takeover Law 
(capital structure), the relevant information is available 
on pages 28, 42, and note 18 on pages 119, 120 of this 
annual report. In addition, the Company’s shareholding 
structure showing each shareholder owning 5% or more 
of the Company’s share capital is available on page 28 of 
this annual report and on the Company’s website, where 
the shareholding structure is updated monthly. 

b. With regard to article 11 (1) (b) of the Takeover Law, the 
ordinary shares issued by the Company are admitted to 
trading on the regulated market of the Frankfurt Stock 
Exchange (Prime Standard) and are freely transferable 
according to the Company’s articles of association (the 
“Articles of Association”).  

c. In accordance with the requirements of Article 11 (1) c 
of the Takeover Law, the following significant share-
holdings were reported to the Company, as of 31 De-
cember 2021:

d. With regard to article 11 (1) (d) of the Takeover Law, 
each ordinary share of the Company gives right to one 
vote according to article 8 of the Articles of Associ-
ation. There are no special control rights attaching 
to the shares. The voting rights attached to shares 
acquired by the Company, either directly or indirectly 
through subsidiaries, pursuant to the buy-back-pro-
gram are suspended.  

e. With regard to article 11 (1) (e) of the Takeover Law, 
control rights related to the issue of shares are di-
rectly exercised by the relevant employees. The key 
terms and conditions in relation to the Company’s in-
centive share plan are described on page 121, note 19 
of this annual report. 

f. With regard to article 11 (1) (f) of the Takeover Law, 
the Articles of Association impose no voting rights 
limitations. However, the sanction of suspension of 
voting rights automatically applies, subject to the 
Luxembourg law of 11 January 2008 on transparency 
requirements for issuers, as amended (the “Trans-
parency Law”) to any shareholder (or group of share-
holders) who has (or have) crossed the thresholds set 
out in the Transparency Law but have not notified the 
Company accordingly. In this case, the exercise of vot-
ing rights relating to the shares exceeding the frac-
tion that should have been notified is suspended. The 
suspension of the exercise of voting rights is lifted 
the moment the shareholder makes the notification.    

g. With regard to article 11 (1) (g) of the Takeover Law, as 
of December 31, 2021, the Company was not aware of 
any agreements between shareholders that would lead 
to a restriction on the transfer of shares or voting rights.  

h. With regard to article 11 (1) (h) of the Takeover Law, 
according to article 9 of the Articles of Association, the 
members of the board of directors of the Company (the 
“Board”) shall be elected by the shareholders at their 
AGM by a simple majority vote of the shares present 
or represented. The term of the office of the members 
of the Board shall not exceed six years, but they are 
eligible for re-election after such term. Any member of 
the Board may be removed from office with or without 
specifying a reason at any time. In the event of a va-

Shareholder name Amount of Shares 1)
Percentage 

of voting rights

Edolaxia	Group	Ltd 80,502,297	 46%

Grandcity	Holdings	Ltd 11,225,841 6%2)

1. Total number of Grand City Properties S.A. shares as of 31 December 2021: 

176,187,899

2. Treasury shares, voting right suspended
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cancy in the office of a member of the Board because 
of death, retirement or otherwise, this vacancy may 
be filled out on a temporary basis until the next meet-
ing of shareholders, by observing the applicable legal 
prescriptions. Further details on the rules governing 
the appointment and replacement of a member of the 
Board are set out in page 39 of this annual report.

According to article 18 of the Articles of Association, 
any amendment to the Articles of Association made 
by the general meeting of shareholders shall be ad-
opted with a quorum and majority pursuant to arti-
cle 450-3 of the law of 10 August 1915 on commercial 
companies, as amended (the “1915 Law”).

i. With regard to article 11 (1) (i) of the Takeover Law, the 
Board of Directors is endowed with wide-ranging pow-
ers to exercise all administrative tasks in the interest of 
the Company including the establishment of an Advisory 
Board, an Audit Committee, a Risk Committee, a Remu-
neration Committee and a Nomination Committee. Fur-
ther details on the powers of the Board are described on 
page 40 of this annual report.

According to article 5.1 of the Articles of Associa-
tion, the Company may redeem its own shares to 
the extent and under the terms permitted by law. 
The shareholders’ meeting held on 24 June 2020 au-
thorised the Board, with the option to delegate, to 
buy-back, either directly or through a subsidiary of 
the Company, shares of the Company for a period 
of five (5) years not exceeding 20% of the aggre-
gate nominal amount of the Company’s issued share 
capital. Further details on the Company’s share buy-
back program are described on page 119 of this an-
nual report.

j. With regard to article 11 (1) (j) of the Takeover Law, the 
Company’s (listed on pages 120 to 125  and notes 18.8 
and 20.2) convertible bonds, hybrid bonds and security 
issuances under the EMTN programme contain change of 
control provisions that provide noteholders with the right 
to require the Company to repurchase their notes upon a 
change of control of the issuer. The Company’s ISDA mas-
ter agreement securing derivate transactions with regard 
to its listed debts contains a termination right if the Com-
pany is financially weaker after a takeover.

k. With regard to article 11 (1) (k) of the Takeover Law, 
there are no agreements between the Company and 
members of the Board or employees according to 
which, in the event of a takeover bid, the Company 
may be held liable for compensation arrangements 
if the employment relationship is terminated with-
out good reason or due to a takeover bid.

Hannover
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 2020

€’000

Revenue                 524,629                 535,424  

Net rental income                 374,550                 372,462  

Operating and other income                 150,079                 162,962  

  

Property revaluations and capital gains                 694,844                 343,409  

Share in profit from investments in equity-accounted investees                     3,952                     3,569  

Property operating expenses                (218,064)              (226,486) 

Administrative and other expenses                  (11,138)                (10,719) 

Depreciation and amortisation                    (8,235)                  (5,042) 

   

Operating profit                 985,988                 640,155  

Adjusted EBITDA                 298,589                 299,780  

   

Finance expenses                  (46,450)                (52,760) 

Other financial results                (148,640)                (45,670) 

   

Current tax expenses                  (39,227)                (31,387) 

Deferred tax expenses (134,582)                (61,267) 

Profit for the year                 617,089                 449,071  

   

FFO I                 186,326                 182,206  

FFO II                 287,549                 484,034  

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT DATA
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 2020

€’000

Net rental income                 374,550                 372,462  

Operating and other income                 150,079                 162,962  

Revenue                 524,629                 535,424  

REVENUE

GCP recorded revenues amounting to €525 million for the year 
2021, as compared to €535 million in 2020. Total revenue com-
prises net rental income and operating and other income. 

Net rental income amounted to €375 million for the year 2021, 
increasing slightly compared to the €372 million recorded in 
2020. The increase in net rental income was primarily driven by 
a combined result of organic growth and acquisitions amount-
ing to over €700 million during the year, offset by disposals 
amounting to approx. €360 million during the reporting period 
and the full impact of properties disposed during 2020, which 
still had a partial contribution to last year’s rental income. 

Organic rental growth was driven by the strong operational per-
formance of the portfolio, reflected in like-for-like rental growth 
of 2.8%, which comprised of 2.2% from in-place rent growth and 
of 0.6% from occupancy increases. The portfolio’s in-place rent 
increased further to €8.1/sqm as of December 2021, compared 
to €7.4/sqm as of December 2020, which is the combined re-
sult of asset rotation into higher quality assets and from organic 
growth. At the same time the portfolio vacancy was reduced 
significantly to 5.1% as of December 2021 from 6.2% at Decem-
ber 2020, reaching the lowest level to date. The Company saw 
strong performance across its portfolio, specifically in NRW, 
Berlin, Leipzig, Dresden, and London, underlining the benefits 
of the portfolio’s geographical diversification. In London the va-
cancy decreased from 8.6% as of December 2020 to 5.8% as 
of December 2021 as a result of the strong rebound of letting 
activity following the easing of restrictions related to the coro-
navirus pandemic. 

The increase in net rental income was further impacted by the 
growth of the portfolio resulting from accretive acquisitions 
during the period, as well as the positive full period impact of ac-
quisitions in the previous year on the net rental income. In 2021 
GCP acquired over €700 million of properties, primarily in NRW, 
London, Berlin, Dresden and Munich. The acquisitions includ-
ed increasing to a majority stake of a former minority holding 
and as a result the Company consolidated a portfolio of approx. 
€280 million. As the majority of acquisitions were completed  
during the year, these had a partial impact on the 2021 income 
statement and will have a full impact in the coming periods. On 
the other hand, disposals of non-core and mature properties 
amounting to approx. €360 million had a significant  offsetting 
impact on the net rental income. The disposed properties were 
mostly situated in eastern German cities and in secondary cities 
in NRW and additionally included building rights. Acquisitions of 
high-quality properties in strong locations, while disposing non-
core properties, increases the overall quality of the portfolio and 
strengthens the ability to create internal growth. Net rental in-
come on an annualised run rate, excluding assets held for sale, 
stood at €383 million as of December 2021. 

Operating and other income relates primarily to income connect-
ed to expenses recoverable from tenants. The item amounted to 
€150 million in 2021, compared to €163 million in 2020. The de-
crease is in line with the decrease in property operating expens-
es over the same period and is mostly the result of changes in 
the portfolio between the two periods. As a result of the capital 
recycling in recent periods GCP acquired properties with leaner 
cost structures while disposing properties which had relatively 
higher operational expenses.

Berlin
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PROPERTY REVALUATIONS AND CAPITAL GAINS

The Company recorded property revaluations and capital gains 
in the amount of €695 million in 2021, compared to €343 million 
in 2020. The main component of this item is property revalua-
tions, which amounted to €631 million in 2021 as compared to 
€290 million in 2020. Property revaluations are the result of 
operational improvements to the portfolio and are supported 
by the strong and sustainable fundamentals of GCP’s portfolio 
locations. On a like-for-like basis, excluding capex, the portfo-
lio value increased by 8% as of December 2021. The Company 
recorded solid revaluation gains across the portfolio, but the 
strongest momentum was recorded in NRW, Hamburg, Bremen 
and Dresden/Leipzig/Halle. Strong transaction activity in the 
second half of 2021 further supported the valuation of GCP’s 
portfolio. The strong revaluation gains follow the strong opera-
tional performance of the portfolio and high demand for GCP’s 
properties from tenants, reflected by the Company’s lowest va-
cancy on record of 5.1% as of December 2021. Furthermore, the 
revaluation gains underline the quality of the portfolio and the 
embedded potential, which the Company continuously extracts 
through the successful implementation of value enhancing mea-
sures. The properties in the portfolio are externally appraised at 
least once per year by independent, professional, and certified 
valuators. The prime valuator, responsible for the majority of 
properties in the portfolio, is JLL and the valuations are predom-
inantly based on the discounted cashflow method. As of Decem-
ber 2021, the portfolio had an average rental yield of 4.2% and 

an average value per sqm of €2,205, as compared to 4.5% and 
€1,858 as of December 2020, respectively. The compression in 
rental yield and increased value per square meter result from the 
strong performance of the portfolio as well as from the impact 
of accretive capital recycling activities in the year.

Property revaluation and capital gains additionally include capital 
gains, which amounted to €64 million in 2021 as compared to €54 
million in 2020. Capital gains reflect the profit generated through 
disposals above book value. While property valuations increase, 
the actual transaction prices increased further, and as a result, 
disposals are carried above book value. Disposals above book 
value underline the conservative nature of the valuation of GCP’s 
portfolio. In 2021 GCP disposed approx. €360 million of proper-
ties at an average multiple of 17x, generating a 22% premium over 
book value. The realised disposal gains, which reflect the disposal 
price over total cost including transaction costs and capex spent, 
amounted to €101 million and reflect a 39% profit margin. 

DISPOSAL ANALYSIS 

GCP continuously analyses its portfolio to identify properties 
that are considered non-core, as well as matured assets where 
a material part of the upside potential has already been realised. 
Additionally, through its deal sourcing network, GCP regularly 
receives offers for its properties at attractive terms. The Com-
pany adopts an opportunistic approach towards such offers, 
disposing properties and crystalising the value that has been 
generated since acquisition. The proceeds of such disposals are 
directed towards further acquisitions of high-quality properties 
with upside potential as well as to other value enhancing mea-
sures with the aim to drive further shareholder value creation. 
As mentioned above, in 2021 the Company disposed properties 
in the amount of €358 million, realising a profit over total costs, 
including capex, of €101 million, which reflects a 39% profit 
margin. Furthermore, disposals were executed at a premium 

over their last appraised book value of 22%, generating IFRS 
capital gains of €64 million for the year, further supporting the 
conservative nature of the Company’s portfolio valuations. The 
disposals comprised primarily non-core assets located in east-
ern German cities and secondary cities in NRW, and additionally 
included building rights.

For the year ended 31 
December 2021 2020

€’000

Acquisition cost including 
capex of disposed properties 256,691  671,867  

Total revaluation gains on 
disposed properties since 
acquisition 37,531  248,146  

Book Value (IFRS) 294,222  920,013  

Disposal value net of trans-
action costs 357,914  973,695  

Capital gain 63,692  53,682  

Premium over net  
book value 22% 6%

  

Disposal value net of trans-
action costs 357,914  973,695  

Acquisition cost  
including capex of  
disposed properties (256,691) (671,867) 

Realised profit  
from disposal 101,223  301,828  

Disposal profit margin on 
investment property 39% 45%

For the year ended 31 
December

2021 2020

€’000

Property revaluations 631,152  289,727  

Capital gains 63,692  53,682  

Property revaluations 
and capital gains 694,844  343,409  
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PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2020

€’000

Purchased services                (159,592)              (161,729) 

Maintenance and refurbishment                  (22,449)                (27,280) 

Personnel expenses                  (22,059)                (24,119) 

Other operating costs                  (13,964)                (13,358) 

Property operating expenses                (218,064)              (226,486) 

GCP recorded €218 million in property operating expenses for 
the year 2021 which was 4% lower as compared to the €226 
million recorded in 2020. 

The majority of property operating expenses can be attribut-
ed to purchased services relating to various ancillary services 
provided to tenants. These are predominantly composed of ex-
penses related to such services as water, heating, waste man-
agement, gardening, and winter services, which are mostly re-
coverable. For the year 2021, purchased services decreased by 
1% over comparable costs incurred in 2020. The lower amount is 
the result of the disposal of assets with comparatively higher op-
erating costs while acquiring high-quality assets with relatively 
lower operating costs, as well as from cost cutting initiatives, 
such as from projects aimed at reducing tenant waste, water us-
age and heating, offset by cost inflation. 

In 2021, GCP has continued to fulfil its commitment to ensure 
high levels of tenant satisfaction by maintaining its high service 
quality. The company has created a fully digital process for ten-
ants, from signing leases to service requests, which both serve 
to improve the efficiency of the Company while at the same time 

increasing tenant satisfaction and safeguarding the health of 
tenants and employees by reducing physical contacts in times 
of the coronavirus pandemic. Furthermore, the Company’s TÜV 
certified Service Center, which is available 24/7, was recognised 
as “Fairest Customer Hotline” by Focus Money magazine in Oc-
tober of 2021. GCP has continued to build on practices that were 
developed during the onset of the coronavirus pandemic which 
have allowed the company to be resilient in the face of further 
pandemic restrictions in 2021.

Personnel expenses decreased to €22 million in 2021, as com-
pared to €24 million for the previous year. Personnel expenses 
decreased due to efficiencies and reduction of the head count 
in line with disposals activities, but was offset to some extent 
by cost inflation. Other operating costs for 2021 increased 
slightly to €14 million. Other operating costs typically con-
sists of expenses that are incurred in the letting process and 
include, among others, promotional activities, transportation, 
and communication expenses. 

Mönchengladbach
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MAINTENANCE AND CAPEX

GCP takes a proactive role in assessing asset quality by regularly 
evaluating the portfolio and making the required maintenance and 
refurbishment investments to uphold the quality and value propo-
sition of the portfolio. The Company additionally invests in specific 
measures targeted at improving the quality of the portfolio and 
enhancing the offering to its tenants. Such investments result in 
increased tenant satisfaction, higher rents, and lower vacancies. 

In 2021, maintenance and refurbishment expenses were reported at 
€22 million and €5.5 per average sqm, as compared to €27 million 
and €5.6 per average sqm in 2020. Maintenance and refurbishment 
expenses represent the investments made to sustain asset quality 
and thus sustain the tenant’s living conditions. Tenants can place 
service request through several channels and in several languages, 
for example through the Company’s service center or through the 
tenant app. Through the tenant app tenants can monitor the status 
of their maintenance and service requests and provide supporting 
documentation, increasing the efficiency of the process.

Repositioning capex is comprised of expenditures which are tar-
geted to increase the quality of the asset which in turn improves 
the quality offering provided to tenants. Repositioning capex 
measures include apartment renovations, improvements to stair-
cases, corridors, common spaces, façade refits, and other similar 
projects. In addition, improvements and renovations of areas sur-
rounding the assets also serve to lift the value proposition of the 
assets while further enhancing the living conditions and sense of 
community for tenants. These sorts of investments include the 
additions of playgrounds, barbeque pits, study rooms and other 
common meeting areas. The investments help create better liv-
ing spaces for tenants and impact vacancy and tenant turnover. 
In 2021, repositioning capex amounted to €63 million and €16 per 
average sqm as compared to €62 million and €14.1 per average 
sqm in 2020. Modernisation measures are aimed at further lift-
ing the value of the portfolio, which were carried on a small scale 
during the year. Such measures include energetic modernisation 
through the replacement of windows, heating systems and insu-

lating roofs and façades as well as other modernisation invest-
ments, such as addition of balconies and installing elevators. Such 
investments are undertaken towards targeted rent increases. For 
2021, these investments amounted to approximately €3 million 
and have been included in the repositioning capex. The Company 
expects to increase such investments in the coming periods in or-
der to improve the quality of the buildings in particular and the liv-
ing environment in the entire area in general and thereby improve 
the quality of life of the tenant, reduce tenant fluctuation while 
getting a return on investment. The increase in the cost per sqm 
also relate to cost inflation in materials and manpower in 2021.

GCP invested €42 million into various pre-letting modifications 
and other development related capex mostly in London during 
the year 2021, as compared to €21 million for 2020. These invest-
ments are primarily related to the completion of properties which 
were acquired in the final stages of completion and for which the 
required investments were included in GCP’s initial cost analysis 
at acquisition. In 2021, GCP continued to acquire properties in the 
pre-letting stage and also invested in properties acquired in the 
pre-letting stage in previous periods. Due to lack of construction 
material and sub-constructors some of the units suffered delays 
in the completion date. These units are expected to be completed 
and leased in the following periods, which will support the growth 
of rental income and operational profitability. 

Repos i t i on ing 	capex 	 / 	avg 	sqm Main tenance 	 / 	avg 	sqm

For the year ended 31 
December

2021 2020

€’000

Personnel expenses (4,587) (4,494) 

Audit and accounting 
costs (2,693) (2,514) 

Legal and professional 
consultancy fees (1,913) (1,924) 

Marketing and other 
expenses (1,945) (1,787) 

Administrative and 
other expenses (11,138) (10,719) 

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES

Administrative and other expenses for 2021 amounted to €11 
million, similar as compared to 2020. Administrative and other 
expenses comprise mostly of administrative personnel expenses 
and expenses related to audit and accounting costs, legal and 
professional consultancy fees as well as marketing and other ex-
penses. Expenses increased due to cost inflation and the Com-
pany was able to mitigate this inflation to some extent through 
increased efficiencies. 

Leipzig

MAINTENANCE & CAPEX DEVELOPMENT (€/SQM)

5.6

14.1

19.7

2020

5.5

16.0

21.5

2021
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GCP recorded finances expenses amounting to €46 mil-
lion in 2021, decreasing 12% as compared to €53 million in 
2020. The decrease is the result of further debt optimisation 
during 2021 and was achieved despite a higher debt balance 
throughout the year as compared to 2020. In 2021 the Com-
pany undertook several debt optimisation activities as part of 
its proactive approach to manage its debt profile. In January 
of 2021 the Company issued its largest bond to date through 
its Series X, €1 billion bond maturing in 2028 and carrying 
a coupon of 0.125% and selling approx. €170 million of its 
convertible bond Series F carrying a coupon of 0.25%, which 
were held in treasury, in September of 2021. At the same time 
the Company repaid over €1.1 billion of higher-interest bank 
loans and bonds through several transactions. As a result of 
these measures the Company decreased its average cost of 
debt from 1.3% as of December 2020 to 1% as of December 
2021, while maintaining a long average maturity of 6 years 
as of December 2021. GCP continues to maintain solid cov-
erage ratios due to its strong operational profitability, with 
an ICR of 6.4x and DSCR of 5.9x in 2021. The Company’s in-
vestment-grade credit ratings from S&P (BBB+/Stable) and 
Moody’s (Baa1/Stable, unsolicited) continue to provide GCP 
with strong access to capital markets.

For the year ended 
31 December 2021 2020

€’000

Finance expenses (46,450) (52,760) 

FINANCE EXPENSES

For the year ended 
31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Change in fair value 
of financial assets 
and liabilities, net

(122,553)                (19,876) 

Finance-related 
costs

(26,087)                (25,794) 

Other financial 
results

(148,640)                (45,670) 

OTHER FINANCIAL RESULTS

Other financial results present a negative amount of €149 mil-
lion in 2021, as compared to a negative result of €46 million in 
2020. Other financial results include the net change in fair val-
ue of financial assets and liabilities. These changes are mostly 
one-off and change from period to period, depending mostly 
on the volatility in financial market as well as by fluctuations 
in foreign exchange rates. These changes are primarily non-
cash in nature. Other financial results further consist of finance 
related costs connected to bond issuances and pre-payments, 
bank financing, hedging fees as well as other costs connected 
to the optimisation and maintenance of GCP’s financial plat-
form. In 2021 the Company pro-actively managed its debt ma-
turity schedule and issued €1 billion of Series X bonds while 
repaying over €1.1 billion of debt across several transactions. 
As the activity was higher than in the previous year related 
costs were also greater. 

In 2021 the Company recorded total tax expenses amounting to 
€174 million, as compared to €93 million in 2020. Total tax expens-
es consist of current tax expenses as well as deferred tax expenses.

Current tax expenses for 2021 amounted to €39 million, com-
pared to €31 million in 2020. Current tax expenses comprise 
primarily of corporate and property taxes and trend in-line with 
GCP’s underlying business, with corporate taxes increasing in-
line with the Company’s operating profits and property taxes 
changing based on the size and composition of the property 
portfolio. The relatively higher share of the portfolio in London, 
where the tax level is higher compared to Germany, further im-
pacted the level of current tax expenses. 

Deferred tax expenses for 2021 amounted to €135 million, as 
compared to €61 million in 2020 and comprise non-cash tax 
expenses which primarily result from the revaluation gains of 
the portfolio and are based on the theoretical sale of investment 
properties through asset deals, with the tax rate varying based 
on the tax regime in the property’s location. The higher expens-
es in 2021 compared to 2020 are the combined effect of stron-
ger revaluation gains in the current reporting period as well as 
expected changes in the tax regime in the UK, with corporate 
income tax expected to increase to 25% from 19% April 2023.

For the year ended 
31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Current tax 
expenses

(39,227)                (31,387) 

Deferred tax 
expenses

(134,582)                (61,267) 

Total tax expenses (173,809)                (92,654) 

TAXATION



50

NOTES ON BUSINESS PERFORMANCE

50 GRAND CITY PROPERTIES S.A. ■ Board of Directors’ Report

For the year ended 
31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Profit for the year 617,089                 449,071  

Profit attributable 
to the owners of 
the Company 523,522                 362,218  

Profit attributable 
to the perpetual 
notes investors 25,042                   32,848  

Profit attributable 
to non-controlling 
interests 68,525                   54,005  

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

GCP recorded a profit of €617 million for the year 2021, as com-
pared to €449 million in 2020. The increase is the combined result 
of strong growth in operational profits generated by the Company, 
reflected by increase in FFO I in 2021 compared to 2020, as well as 
from the strong revaluation gains, which were significantly higher 
than the previous year’s amount, and reflect the strong underlying 
performance of the portfolio as well as the positive dynamics in 
GCP’s markets. These strong results were partially offset by neg-
ative impacts resulting from other financial results. 

Profit attributable to perpetual notes investors amounted to 
€25 million, as compared to €33 million in 2020, reflecting a 
decrease of 24%. The decrease reflects the refinancing of GCP’s 
inaugural perpetual notes, which were fully redeemed in Febru-
ary of 2021 and carried a coupon of 3.75%, through the issuance 
of 1.5% perpetual notes in December 2020. The strong decrease 
in the coupon between the two perpetual issuances reflects the 
strong improvement of the Company in recent years. 

For the year ended 31 
December

2021 2020

Basic earnings per 
share (in €) 3.12                       2.13  

Diluted earnings per 
share (in €) 2.90                      2.01  

 

Weighted average num-
ber of ordinary shares 
(basic) in thousands 167,551                 169,803  

Weighted average num-
ber of ordinary shares 
(diluted) in thousands 181,588                 181,509  

EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic earnings per share for the year amounted to €3.12, while 
diluted earnings per share amounted to €2.90, as compared 
to €2.13 and €2.01 respectively for the year 2020. The relative 
stronger increase in the earnings per share as compared to the 
profit attributable to owners of the Company is primarily due 
to the shares bought back during the year. In 2021 the Compa-
ny bought back 7% of its shares through the public share pur-
chase offer and share buy-back programme. The impact was 
partially offset as a result of the issuance of scrip dividends in 
both periods.

The diluted earnings per share reflects various dilutive ef-
fects. The main dilutive effect relates to the theoretical future 
conversion of the Series F convertible bonds, which matured 
after the reporting date and were fully redeemed in cash in 
March 2022. 

Berlin
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The adjusted EBITDA is an industry standard figure displaying 
the Company’s recurring operational profits before interest, tax 
expenses and depreciation, excluding the effects of capital gains, 
revaluations, and other non-operational income statement items 
such as share of non-recurring profit/loss from investment in eq-
uity-accounted investees and other adjustments. In 2021, GCP’s 
adjusted EBITDA was €299 million, stable as compared to 2020. 
The Company’s focus on improving the portfolio asset quality 
has continued to result in operational growth which can be seen 
through solid organic LFL rental growth of 2.8%, with in-place 
rent increases contributing 2.2% and occupancy increases con-
tributing 0.6%. These operational improvements have continued 
to impact GCP’s vacancy rate which now stands at a historic low 
of 5.1%. This growth was offset by the impact of disposals as 
well as from cost inflation.

Funds From Operations I (FFO I) is an industry-wide standard 
measure of the recurring operational cash flow of a real es-
tate company, often utilised as a key bottom line industry per-
formance indicator. FFO I is calculated by deducting from the 
Adjusted EBITDA finance expenses, current tax expenses, the 
contribution to minorities, and the share of profit attributable 
to the Company’s perpetual notes investors, while adding the 
FFO contribution from joint ventures. During the year 2021, GCP 
generated an FFO I of €186 million which was 2% higher than 
the €182 million generated in 2020. The increase in FFO I was 
primarily driven by optimisation of the financial structure of the 
Company. During the year GCP refinanced higher-interest rate 
bank loans and bonds, which, combined with the full year impact 
of debt optimisation activities in 2020, resulted in a significant 
decrease in finance expenses. Furthermore, in December 2020 
and February 2021 the Company refinanced its 3.75% perpet-
ual notes with new perpetual notes carrying a coupon of 1.5%, 
reducing the adjustment for perpetual notes attribution. These 
positive impacts were offset by higher current tax expenses be-
tween the two periods.

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2020

€’000

Operating profit                 985,988                 640,155  

Depreciation and amortisation                     8,235                     5,042  

EBITDA                 994,223                 645,197  

Property revaluations and capital gains                (694,844)              (343,409) 

Share of profit from investments in equity-accounted investees                    (3,952)                  (3,569) 

Equity settled share-based payments and other adjustments                     3,162                     1,561  

Adjusted EBITDA                 298,589                 299,780  

Finance expenses                  (46,450)                (52,760) 

Current tax expenses                  (39,227)                (31,387) 

Contribution from / (to) joint ventures and minorities, Net                    (1,544)                     (579) 

Adjustment for Perpetual notes attribution                  (25,042)                (32,848) 

FFO I                 186,326                 182,206  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) in thousands (1)                 167,551                 169,803  

FFO I per share (in €)                       1.11                       1.07  

 

Result from disposal of properties                 101,223                 301,828  

FFO II                 287,549                 484,034  

ADJUSTED EBITDA AND FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS (FFO I, FFO II) 

(1) not considering the dilution effect of the management share plan as it is immaterial
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FFO I PER SHARE 

For the year 2021, GCP reported an FFO I per share of €1.11, in-
creasing 4% from 1.07 per share reported in 2020. The growth is 
attributed to the robust FFO I increase throughout the reporting 
period, driven primarily by further optimisation of the Compa-
ny’s financing structure, and was further boosted by the accre-
tive effects of the share buyback program and the tender offer 
completed in 2021, offset slightly by the partial impact from 
shares issued in relation to the scrip dividend. 

FFO II 

FFO II is a supplementary performance measure that includes 
the effect of disposals on top of FFO I. The result from disposal 
of properties refers to the excess amount of the sale price to 
cost price plus capex of disposed properties. Throughout 2021, 
GCP continued to dispose of non-core assets which amounted 
to approx. €360 million, at a profit margin over total costs of 
39%, realising gains of €101 million earned since the acquisi-
tion of these assets. These strong levels of profit above costs 
demonstrate the effectiveness of GCP’s business model and 
proven ability to deliver value creation gains to shareholders. 
GCP generated an FFO II of €288 million in 2021, as compared 
to €484 million reported in 2020. The higher number in the 
previous year is due primarily to the significantly higher dispos-
al activity in 2020 as compared to 2021.

FFO I DEVELOPMENT (in € millions)

2019

179

2020

182

2021

186

FFO I PER SHARE ANNUAL DEVELOPMENT (in €)

2019

1.07

2020

1.07

2021

1.11

ADJUSTED FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS (AFFO)

Adjusted Funds from Operations (AFFO) is another indicator 
for the Company’s recurring operational cash flow and is de-
rived by subtracting the repositioning capex from the Compa-
ny’s FFO I. GCP includes in the AFFO calculation reposition-
ing capex which is targeted at value creation and improving 
the asset quality of the portfolio, which GCP deems as being 
relevant for its AFFO calculation. In 2021, GCP generated an 
AFFO amounting to €123 million, as compared to an amount 
of €120 million reported in 2020. The increase in the AFFO 
in 2021 can be attributed to the strong performance in FFO I 
between the two periods, and the relatively smaller increase 
in repositioning capex. 

cv

For the year  
ended 31 December 2021 2020

€’000

FFO I 186,326                 182,206  

Repositioning capex (63,084)                (62,406) 

AFFO 123,242                 119,800  
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GCP generated €217 million of net cash provided by operating 
activities, as compared to €242 million in 2020. The decrease is 
mainly impacted by the capital recycling in 2021 and 2020, re-
sulting in timing effects from operating cash flows related to ac-
quired and sold properties between the two periods, with stron-
ger cash flows from acquired properties only having a partial 
impact in 2021 while disposals in 2020 still contributed material-
ly to the operational cash flows for that year. Furthermore, cash 
taxes paid in 2021 were higher as compared to 2020, resulting 
in lower operating cash flow. These impacts were partially off-
set by the Company’s strong operational profitability, with FFO 
I amounting to €186 million in 2021, increasing 2% compared 
to 2020. This growth was supported by robust organic rental 
growth, with a like-for-like net rent increase of 2.8%. 

The Company continued its active deployment of cash into value 
enhancing activities in 2021, resulting in net cash used in investing 

activities of €198 million, compared to €392 million in 2020. In 
2021 GCP deployed cash primarily in accretive acquisitions, as well 
as value enhancing capex projects. This was partially offset by 
disposals above book value. The disposals were carried through 
several transactions and the proceeds were received in full.

In 2021 GCP recorded net cash used in financing activities 
amounting to €537 million, as compared to net cash provided 
by financing activities in 2020 amounting to €651 million. GCP 
continued the active optimisation of its financial profile through 
refinancing debt and perpetual notes. In the year GCP repaid 
over €1.1 billion of higher interest bank loans and bonds as well 
as approx. €85 million notional value of perpetual notes. Fur-
thermore, the Company returned value to shareholders through 
the execution of its accretive share buyback in 2021, with a total 
volume of over €270 million, as well as through the dividend 
payment in July. These uses were offset primarily by the issu-

ance of €1 billion Series X straight bonds, the Company’s larg-
est issuance to date, at a low coupon of 0.125% as well as the 
selling of €170m of its Series F convertible bonds. Through its 
debt optimisation activities, the Company was able to reduce its 
cost of debt to 1% as of December 2021, compared to 1.3% as of 
December 2020.

The Company recorded a net decrease in cash and cash equiv-
alents amounting to €519 million in 2021, as a result of the 
above-mentioned investment activities as well as the optimisa-
tion of its financial platform. Despite these value enhancing ac-
tivities GCP maintained a strong liquidity position as of year-end 
2021, with a total cash balance of €895 million. Furthermore, the 
Company continues to maintain a strong portfolio of unencum-
bered assets, amounting to €8.4 billion and representing 88% 
of the total portfolio, which can serve as an additional source of 
liquidity to the Company.

CASH FLOW

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2020

€’000

Net cash provided by operating activities                 217,060                 242,152  

Net cash used in investing activities                (198,455)              (391,670) 

Net cash (used in)/provided by financing activities                (537,187)                650,620  

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents                (518,582)                501,102  

Other changes*                     1,869                   (2,957) 

Cash and cash equivalents as on January 1,              1,412,199                 914,054  

Cash and cash equivalents as on December 31,                 895,486              1,412,199  

* including changes in balance of cash and cash equivalents held-for-sale and effects of foreign exchange rate changes London
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ASSETS

(1) including inventories - trading properties
(2) including cash and cash equivalents held-for-sale

Dec 2021 Dec 2020

€’000

Non-current assets              9,882,834              8,601,687  

Investment property              9,339,489              8,022,351(1)  

Current assets              1,679,158              2,264,093  

Cash and liquid assets(2)              1,108,004              1,692,331  

Total Assets            11,561,992            10,865,780  

The Company’s balance of total assets amounted to €11.6 bil-

lion as of December 2021, increasing 6% as compared to €10.9 

billion as of December 2020. The increase in total assets is the 

result of a higher non-current asset balance, offset by a lower 

balance of current assets, driven mainly by a lower balance of 

cash and liquid assets compared to the previous period.

As of year-end 2021 the Company recorded non-current assets 

amounting to €9.9 billion, as compared to €8.6 billion as of 

year-end 2020. Non-current assets consist primarily of invest-

ment property, amounting to €9.3 billion, which increased 16% 

compared to the €8 billion at December 2020. The increase in 

investment property is mostly the result of strong revaluation 

gains in the year, acquisitions and capex, net of disposals, as 

well as positive impacts from foreign exchange rates. In 2021 

the Company recorded revaluation gains amounting to €631 

million, which is reflected by like-for-like revaluation gains of 

8%, net of capex and excluding the impact of foreign exchange 

changes, acquisitions and disposals. 

In 2021 the Company acquired and consolidated properties in a to-
tal amount of over €700 million, reflecting over 6,700 units. These 
were executed across several transactions and at an average mul-
tiple of 18x. The acquisitions included over €400 million across 
approx. 2,000 units (including pre-letting units) mainly located in 
London, Berlin, Dresden, and Munich. Units in the pre-letting stage 
are expected to start generating rent in the upcoming periods. Addi-
tionally, GCP acquired control in a former JV portfolio amounting to 
€280 million comprising more than 4,700 units in NRW which was 
previously recorded as an investment in equity accounted investees. 
As a result of this transaction the value was no longer reflected as 
investment in equity accounted investees at year-end 2021. These 
acquisitions were offset by disposals amounting to approx. €360 
million in 2021. The Company disposed mainly non-core assets and 
assets held-for-sale across Germany, mainly in eastern German cit-
ies such as Halle, Gera, Plauen, Stendal, Görlitz and in secondary 
cities in NRW. The disposals also included development rights in 
Hamburg. The disposals were executed at a multiple of 17x and re-
flect a premium over net book value of 22%, generating a margin 
over total cost, including capex, of 39%. 

The asset balance additionally includes tenant deposits, long-
term financial investments, including some investments in which 
the Company holds a minority position, investments in loans-to-
own as well as other long-term financial assets. The main com-
ponent comprises loans-to-own assets, which are asset-backed 
interest bearing loans which, under specific circumstances, have 
the embedded option to acquire the underlying asset at a signif-
icant discount. These investments provide the Company alterna-
tive means for accretive acquisitions which complement GCP’s 
existing deal sourcing network and are subject to a detailed 
due-diligence process as any acquisition. As of year-end 2021 
the balance of loans-to-own assets included in the balance sheet 
amounted to approx. €300 million. The loans-to-own portfolio 
comprises over a dozen loans to a diverse variety of property 
owners, primarily in the UK, secured by first mortgage on the 
underlying asset, with an average balance of approx. €25 mil-
lion and with interest rates ranging from 7% to 10%. The loans 
have maturities from 2022 to 2024 and are subject to an average 
LTV of around 65%. As of December 2021, long-term financial 
investments amount to over €50 million and are held for an ex-
pected long-term yield and co-investments in attractive deals, 
additionally, minority positions in real estate portfolios amount 
to around €30 million. Tenant deposits amount to €41 million 
and are used as a security for rent payments. 

Current assets as of year-end 2021 amounted to €1.7 billion, low-
er compared to the €2.3 billion as of year-end 2020. The main 
contributor to the reduced balance of current assets is the lower 
balance of cash and liquid assets as of December 2021 compared 
to the previous year, with the decrease being driven mainly by 
cash deployed in accretive acquisitions, share buybacks, the re-
demption of the Company’s 3.75% perpetual notes and the cash 
dividend payment in July. This has partially been offset by dis-
posals in the period as well as from operational cashflows. 

Current assets are further comprising primarily of trade and oth-
er receivables as well as assets held for sale. Trade and other 
receivables amounted to €453 million as of December 2021, 
of which €222 million comprises operational receivables such 
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Average Valuation Parameters 2021 2020

Rent multiple 23.6 22.2

Value per sqm €2,205 €1,858

Market rental growth p.a. 1.7% 1.4%

Management cost per unit p.a. €269 €260

Ongoing maintenance cost per sqm €9.2 €8.7

Average discount rate 4.8% 5.1%

Average cap rate 3.9% 4.1% 

as rent, operating costs and other receivables. Operating cost 
receivables relate primarily to the ancillary services and other 
tenant charges, including mainly heating, cleaning, insurance 
winter services, waste, sewage, and electricity. This balance 
is corelated to the pre-payments for ancillary services received 
from tenants, which is presented in the short-term liabilities. 
Once per year operating costs receivables are settled against the 
advances received from tenants. Assets held for sale amount-
ed to €114 million as of December 2021 and relate to properties 
which the company intends to dispose over the next 12 months.

AVERAGE VALUATION PARAMETERS 

Munich
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(1) including short-term loans and borrowings
(2) including deferred tax liabilities of assets held for sale
(3) including short-term derivative financial instruments
(4) excluding current liabilities included in the items above

Total liabilities amounted to €5.8 billion as of December 2021, 
an increase of 8% compared to the €5.3 billion as of December 
2020. The increase was primarily driven by a higher balance in 
bonds, as well as from higher deferred tax liabilities and other 
long-term liabilities and derivative financial instruments, offset 
by a lower balance of loans and borrowings. 

During the year the Company undertook several measures to 
further optimise its financial profile. In January GCP issued its 
largest bond to date, through its Series X straight bond, which 
carries a coupon of 0.125% and matures in 2028. In addition, 
the Company sold approx. €170 million of its Series F convert-
ible bond which were held in treasury and carry a coupon of 
0.25%. The funds were mainly directed at the repayment and 

redemption of higher-interest rate bank loans and bonds. GCP 
redeemed approx. €135 million of Series D, Series S and Series 
T straight bonds, which matured in 2021. Furthermore, the com-
pany repurchased approx. €345 million notional value of Series 
E notes (due 2025) with a coupon of 1.5% and €395 million 
notional value of Series W notes (due 2024) with a coupon of 
1.7%. The Company additionally repaid higher-interest rate bank 
loans amounting to approx. €260 million, offset by the consoli-
dation of around €165 million of bank loans. As a result of these 
measures the cost of debt reduced to 1% as of December 2021, 
compared to 1.3% as of December 2020. The Company has main-
tained its long average debt maturity, which stands at 6 years as 
of December 2021.

GCP recorded deferred tax liabilities amounting to €766 mil-
lion as of December 2021, an increase of 19% compared to 
€643 million at December 2020. The increase in deferred 
tax liabilities is mainly attributable to the strong revaluation 
gains the Company recorded in 2021, as well as from the im-
pact of the expected change in the corporate tax rate in the 
UK. Deferred tax liabilities take into account the theoretical 
disposal of investment properties in the form of asset deals 
at the tax rate based on the property location. At year-end 
2021 the balance of deferred tax liabilities amounted to 13% 
of total liabilities. 

EQUITY

Total equity amounted to €5.8 billion as of year-end 2021, an in-
crease of 4% compared to €5.6 billion as of year-end 2020. The 
strong increase in equity is driven by the strong profit generated 
by the Company during the period, amounting to €617 million for 
the year. These strong profits were offset by value returned to 
shareholders by means of share buybacks and dividends in the 
year. The impact from the dividend payment was partially offset 
by the scrip dividend.

Equity attributable to perpetual notes investors amounted to 
€1.2 billion, as compared to €1.3 billion in 2020, reflecting a 
decrease of 6% resulting from the refinancing of GCP’s perpet-
ual notes, which were fully redeemed in February 2021, fol-
lowing a tender offer in December 2020 under which approx. 
€415 million notional values of the notes were repurchased. 
The perpetual notes, which carried a coupon of 3.75%, where 
refinanced through the issuance of 1.5% perpetual notes in De-
cember 2020. The strong decrease in the coupon between the 
two perpetual issuances reflects the strong improvement of 
the Company in recent years. 

Non-controlling interests amounted to €615 million as of De-
cember 2021, compared to €535 million as of December 2020. 
The increase is primarily the result of profit generated in the pe-
riod attributed to non-controlling interests. 

The continued strong equity base of the Company, which com-
prises a key component of its capital structure, is further reflect-
ed in the strong equity ratio, which stands at 50% as of Decem-
ber 2021, compared to 51% as of December 2020. 

LIABILITIES

Dec 2021 Dec 2020

€’000

Total Equity 5,802,586  5,554,928  

of which equity attribut-
able to the owners of the 
Company 3,960,034  3,713,849  

of which equity attributable 
to Perpetual notes investors 1,227,743  1,306,092  

of which non-controlling 
interests 614,809  534,987  

Dec 2021 Dec 2020

€’000

Loans and borrowings (1) 358,249  437,137  

Straight & Convertible 
Bonds 4,091,880  3,776,092  

Deferred tax liabilities (2) 766,142  642,513  

Other long-term liabilities 
and derivative financial 
instruments (3)               261,221    183,681  

Current liabilities (4)

                 
281,914  

               
271,429  

Total Liabilities 5,759,406  5,310,852  
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(1) including advanced payments and deposits, inventories - trading properties and excluding right-of-use assets
(2) excluding right-of-use assets
(3) including loans and borrowings held-for-sale
(4) including cash and cash equivalents held-for-sale

The Company maintains a conservative financial pro-
file as an integral part of its business. This is reflect-
ed in its low LTV, which has a board-mandated limit 
of 45%, significantly below the limits imposed by the 
Company’s bond covenants. GCP maintains significant 
headroom to its more conservative limit, with an LTV 
of 36% as of December 2021. This reflects an increase 
compared to the very low LTV reported in 2020 of 31%, 
increasing mainly due to the use of cash for accretive 
acquisitions, share buybacks, debt repayments and 
other value enhancing activities throughout 2021.

As part of its conservative financial profile the Company 
aims to maintain strong coverage ratios through contin-
uously working on its operational profitability as well as 
optimising its financial structure, with the aim to minimise 
interest expenses. As a result of increasing operational 
profits while reducing interest expenses in 2021 compared 
to 2020, GCP managed to significantly increase its cover-
age ratios, with an ICR of 6.4x, compared to 5.7x in 2020, 
and a DSCR of 5.9x, compared to 4.6x in 2020. At the same 
time the Company maintains financial flexibility through 

its large balance of cash and liquid assets amounting to 
€1.1 billion and the high degree of unencumbered assets 
in its portfolio, which represented 88% of value as of De-
cember 2021, reflecting €8.4 billion in value.

This disciplined approach to the Company’s financial 
platform provides GCP with strong access to capital 
through broad-based demand for its capital market is-
suances and is further reflected by strong investment 
grade credit ratings by both S&P (BBB+/Stable) and 
Moody’s (Baa1/Stable, unsolicited).

LOAN-TO-VALUE Dec 2021 Dec 2020

€’000

Investment property (1)              9,305,042              7,954,448  

Investment properties of assets held-for-sale (2)                   99,329                 150,207  

Equity-accounted investees                             -                 107,880  

Total value              9,404,371              8,212,535  

Total debt (3)              4,450,129              4,213,229  

Cash and liquid assets (4)              1,108,004              1,692,331  

Net debt              3,342,125              2,520,898  

LTV 36% 31%

LOW LEVERAGE WITH ROBUST PROFITABILITY

Dec 2021 Dec 2020

€’000

Unencumbered Assets 8,352,924             6,679,941  

Total Investment properties *              9,442,026              8,172,558  

Unencumbered Assets Ratio 88% 82%

* Including investment property held-for-sale and inventories - trading property

UNENCUMBERED ASSETS

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2020

€’000

Adjusted EBITDA                 298,589                 299,780  

Finance Expenses                   46,450                   52,760  

Interest Coverage Ratio 6.4x 5.7x

INTEREST COVERAGE RATIO (ICR)

For the year ended 
31 December 2021 2020

€’000

Adjusted EBITDA                 298,589                 299,780  

Finance Expenses                   46,450                   52,760  

Amortisation of loans from financial 
institutions                     4,328                   11,907  

Debt Service Coverage Ratio 5.9x 4.6x

DEBT SERVICE COVERAGE RATIO (DSCR)

DEBT FINANCING KPIS

33% 31%

Dec	2019 Dec	2020 Dec	2021

36%

LTV BoD Limit

45% Board of Directors’ limit
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EPRA PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The European Public Real Estate Association (EPRA) is the 
widely recognised market standard guidance and benchmark 
provider for the European real estate industry. EPRA’s Best 
Practices Recommendations prescribe the ongoing reporting 
of a set of performance metrics which are meant to enhance 
the quality of reporting by bridging the gap between the reg-
ulated IFRS reporting presented and specific analysis relevant 

to the European real estate industry. These standardised 
EPRA Performance Measures provide additional perspective 
on earnings, balance sheet and operational metrics, and fa-
cilitate for the simple and effective comparison of perfor-
mance-related information across different companies. The 
information presented below is based on the materiality and 
importance of information. 

2021 2020

€’000

EPRA NRV              5,228,882              4,775,679  

EPRA NRV per share (in €)                       31.7                       27.8  

EPRA NTA              5,020,190              4,566,426  

EPRA NTA per share (in €)                       30.4                       26.5  

EPRA NDV              3,853,263              3,451,717  

EPRA NDV per share (in €)                       23.3                       20.1  

EPRA Earnings                 173,884                 182,657  

EPRA Earnings per share (in €)                       1.04                       1.08  

EPRA Net initial yield (NIY) 3.2% 3.5%

EPRA "topped-up" NIY 3.2% 3.5%

EPRA Vacancy 5.1% 6.2%

EPRA Cost Ratio (incl. direct vacancy costs) 21.4% 20.2%

EPRA Cost Ratio (excl. direct vacancy costs) 19.5% 17.9%

Hamburg
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EPRA NET ASSET VALUE METRICS

The Net Asset Value is a key performance measure used in the real 
estate industry. Due to the evolving nature of ownership structures, 
balance sheet financing as well as the inclusion of non-operating 
activities leading to entities being relatively more actively managed, 
EPRA has provided three different metrics to reflect this nature of 
property companies. The EPRA Net Asset Value Metrics are defined 
by EPRA and include the Net Reinstatement Value (NRV), Net Tangi-
ble Assets (NTA) and Net Disposal Value (NDV). 

EPRA Net Reinstatement Value (NRV) assumes that entities never 
sell assets and aims to represent the value required to rebuild the 

entity. The EPRA NRV measure provides stakeholders with the value 
of net assets on a long-term basis and excludes assets and liabili-
ties that are not expected to materialise. Furthermore, real estate 
transfer taxes are added back, since the intention of this metric is 
to reflect what would be required to reinstate the Company through 
existing investment markets and the Company’s current capital and 
financing structures.

EPRA Net Tangible Assets (NTA) assumes that entities buy and sell 
assets, thereby crystallising certain levels of unavoidable deferred 
tax. Therefore, the EPRA NTA measure excludes the value of intan-

gible assets while also taking into consideration the fact that com-
panies acquire and dispose assets and, in the process, realise certain 
levels of deferred tax liabilities. 

EPRA Net Disposal Value (NDV) represents the shareholders’ val-
ue under a disposal scenario, where deferred tax, financial instru-
ments and certain other adjustments are calculated to the full extent 
of their liability, net of any resulting tax. Therefore, the EPRA NDV 
measure is meant to provide stakeholders with the net asset value 
in the scenario that all assets are disposed and/or liabilities are not 
held until maturity. 

in € ‘000 unless otherwise specified EPRA NRV EPRA NTA EPRA NDV EPRA NRV EPRA NTA EPRA NDV

Dec 2021 Dec 2020

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company
                       

3,960,034  
           

3,960,034  
             

3,960,034            3,713,849  3,713,849  3,713,849  

Deferred tax liabilities 754,069(1)  636,405(2)  -  632,348(1) 507,744(2)                           -  

Fair value measurements of derivative financial instruments(3) (3,078) (3,078) -                 (3,940) (3,940)                           -  

Intangible assets and goodwill -                (14,717) -                          -  (13,909)                           -  

Real estate transfer tax 517,857(1)  441,546(2)  -  433,422(1) 362,682(2)                           -  

Net fair value of debt -  -  (106,771)                         -  -  (262,132) 

NAV 5,228,882  5,020,190  3,853,263            4,775,679  4,566,426  3,451,717  

Basic number of shares including in-the-money dilution effects (in thousands) 165,133  172,000 

NAV per share (in €) 31.7  30.4  23.3                     27.8  26.5  20.1  

(1) including balances held-for-sale
(2) excluding deferred tax liabilities / real estate transfer tax on assets held for sale, non-core assets and development rights in Germany
(3) not including net change in fair value of derivative financial instruments related to currency effects
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EPRA NDV

EPRA NDV as of December 2021 amounted to €3.9 billion, or 
€23.3 per share, as compared to €3.5 billion and €20.1 per 
share as of year-end 2020. The EPRA NDV represents the Com-
pany’s NAV under a theoretical scenario where all assets would 
be disposed, and therefore does not add back any deferred tax 
liabilities or real estate transfer tax, as it is assumed that under 
such a scenario these would be triggered. In addition, the EPRA 
NDV adjusts for the net fair value of debt, as these would be 
expected to be settled at fair market value in such a scenario. 

EPRA NRV

The Company recorded EPRA NRV amounting to €5.2 billion as of 
December 2021, or €31.7 per share, reflecting an increase of 9% 
and 14%, respectively, as compared to the €4.8 billion and €27.8 
per share as of December 2020. As the NRV assumes that entities 
never sell assets and aims to represent the value required to rebuild 
the Company, the full amount of deferred tax and real estate trans-
fer tax are added back. The increase in EPRA NRV is primarily driven 
by the strong profit generated by the Company in the year, offset by 
the payment of the dividend as well as by the share buyback, which 
had a negative impact on the total NRV but had a positive impact 
on the NRV per share due to buying back the shares at a discount. 

EPRA NTA

EPRA NTA amounted to €5 billion, or €30.4 per share as of De-
cember 2021, compared to €4.6 billion and €26.5 per share as of 
December 2020, increasing 10% and 15%, respectively. As with 
the EPRA NRV, the growth between the period was primarily driv-
en by profit generated in 2021, offset by cash dividends and share 
buybacks. The main difference between the EPRA NTA and EPRA 
NRV is the assumption that entities actively buy and sell assets 
within their portfolio, and by doing so crystalising deferred tax ex-
penses and triggering real estate transfer taxes. In line with this, 
GCP classified part of its portfolio in three categories of properties 
which it may not hold long-term, for which it conservatively ex-
cludes deferred tax liabilities and real estate transfer taxes from 
the EPRA NTA. These three categories are outlined below:

• Investment properties held for sale: These properties are 
actively managed for sale and the Company expected to 
dispose them within 12 months

• Propertied classified in its portfolio as “Other”: This 
portfolio may be disposed on an opportunistic basis and are 
located in cities which do not lie in the focus of GCP’s port-
folio, and therefore are conservatively classified as proper-
ties which may be disposed. However, it is also likely they 
might remain in the portfolio for the long term. The Com-
pany may further evaluate the probability of these proper-
ties to be disposed or held long term in coming periods and 
make the necessary adjustments.   

• Development rights in Germany:  As part of GCP’s value 
creation process, the company identifies development poten-
tial and is working to obtaining development rights. Once the 
development rights are extracted, GCP will decide whether to 
dispose the rights or to develop the projects. As GCP is expect-
ed to dispose a portion of the building rights on an opportunis-
tic basis, the deferred tax and real estate transfer tax regarding 
the building rights are not added back in the NTA calculation.
building rights are not added back in the NTA calcuation.

* All investment properties, excluding investment properties held-for-sale, 
investment properties in cities classified as “Others” and development 
rights in Germany

Particulars Fair Value
as %  

of total  
portfolio

% of deferred 
tax and  

real estate  
transfer tax 
added back

€’000

Portfolio to be 
held long term*

8,067,520 85% 100%

Investment prop-
erties held-for-
sale

102,537  1% 0%

Portfolio cities clas-
sified as “Others”

1,020,790 11% 0%

Development 
rights in Germany

251,179  3% 0%

Total (including 
assets classified 
as held-for-sale)

9,442,026  100%  

Cologne
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EPRA NAV METRICS DEVELOPMENT  (IN €)

EPRA NAV METRICS DEVELOPMENT (IN € MILLIONS)

EPRA NDV p.s

EPRA NDV

EPRA NTA p.s

EPRA NTA

EPRA NRV p.s

EPRA NRV

Dec	
2020

Dec	
2020

Dec	
2020

Dec	
2020

Dec	
2020

Dec	
2021

Dec	
2021

Dec	
2021

Dec	
2021

Dec	
2021

20.1
23.3

3,452

26.5
30.4 27.8

31.7

3,853
4,566

Dec	
2020

Dec	
2021

4,776
5,2295,020

Leipzig

+16%

+12%

+15%
+14%

+10%
+9%
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 2020

€’000

Earnings per IFRS income statement                 617,089                 449,071  

Property revaluations and capital gains                (694,844)              (343,409) 

Change in fair value of financial assets and liabilities, net                 122,553                   19,876  

Deferred tax expenses                 134,582                   61,267  

Share of profit from investments in equity-accounted investees                    (3,952)                  (3,569) 

Contribution from joint ventures                     1,949                     2,597  

Contribution to minorities                    (3,493)                  (3,176) 

EPRA Earnings                 173,884                 182,657  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares (basic) in thousands*                 167,551                 169,803  

EPRA Earnings per share (in €)                       1.04                       1.08  

Bridge to FFO I

Add back: Depreciation                     8,235                     5,042  

Add back:  Finance-related costs                   26,087                   25,794  

Add back:  Equity settled share-based payments and other adjustments                     3,162                     1,561  

Less: Adjustment for perpetual notes attribution                  (25,042)                (32,848) 

FFO I                 186,326                 182,206  

FFO I per share (in €)                       1.11                       1.07  

* not considering the dilution effect of the management share plan as it is immaterial

EPRA EARNINGS

The EPRA Earnings indicator is intended to serve as a key indi-
cator of the fundamental operational profits for the year within 
the context of a real estate company, and is intended to mea-
sure the extent to which the Company’s dividend distribution is 
covered by its operational income. GCP also provides a recon-
ciliation of the EPRA Earnings to the FFO I, another widely-rec-
ognised and key performance measure, as it believes it to be a 
better measure of recurring operational profits and given that 
its dividend payout policy is based on the FFO I, supporting its 
importance and relevance.

The Company recorded EPRA Earnings amounting to €174 mil-
lion for the year 2021, compared to €183 million in 2020. This 
reflects €1.04 on a per share basis compared to €1.08 in 2020. 
While the Company recorded solid internal growth, reflected 
by 2.8% like-for-like rental growth, as well as strong improve-
ments in its financial platform with reduced finance expenses 
and increased coverage ratios, these improvements were off-
set by higher-finance related costs which are partially one-off 
costs and relate to the Company’s debt optimization activities, 
as well as the impact from capital recycling between the peri-
ods. On a per share basis the EPRA Earnings were positively 
impacted by the accretive share buybacks executed in the year, 
which somewhat offset the decrease in absolute EPRA Earn-
ings. The bridge to FFO I adjusts for such one-off expenses as 
well as non-cash charges, while taking off the adjustment for 
perpetual notes attribution, and reflects the strength of GCP’s 
operational profit generation, with FFO I increasing 2% com-
pared to 2020, and 4% on a per share basis.
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EPRA NET INITIAL YIELD (NIY) AND EPRA 

‘TOPPED-UP’ NIY

The EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) is intended to serve as a stan-
dardised portfolio valuation indicator. It is calculated by subtract-
ing the passing non-recoverable operating costs from the passing 
net rental income as of the end of the period and dividing the re-
sult by the fair value of the full property portfolio (including held-
for-sale properties and inventories – trading properties, exclud-
ing the value of properties classified as development rights and 
new buildings, as these are non-income generating assets), plus 
an allowance for estimated purchasers’ costs. EPRA ‘topped-up’ 
NIY is an additional calculation that factors into consideration the 
effects of rent-free periods and other lease incentives. In line with 
EPRA recommendations, investments in equity accounted invest-
ees have been reflected in the calculation of the net initial yields 
based on GCP’s shareholding at the end of the reporting period.

GCP’s portfolio had an EPRA NIY of 3.2% as of December 2021, 
which compares to 3.5% as of December 2020. The decrease in 
EPRA NIY between the two periods was driven by strong valua-
tion uplifts in the portfolio as well as by acquisitions of high-qual-
ity properties on the back of disposals of lower quality properties. 
In 2021 the Company recorded strong revaluation gains, reflected 
by a 8% like-for-like value uplift, excluding capex and impact from 
acquisitions and disposals. This increase is driven by the solid op-

erational performance of the portfolio combined with the strong 
market dynamics in GCP’s portfolio locations. In addition, GCP 
acquired over €700 million of high-quality properties in core mar-
kets such as London, Berlin, Dresden, Munich, and NRW, while 
disposing approx. €360 million of mainly non-core assets, located 
primarily in eastern German cities and secondary cities in NRW, 
resulting in enhanced quality of the overall portfolio which is re-
flected in the stronger EPRA NIY.

Dec 2021 Dec 2020

€’000

Investment property              9,339,489              8,005,893  

Investment property - share of JV                             -                 169,511  

Investment properties of assets held-for-sale                 102,537                 150,207  

Inventories - trading properties                             -                   16,458  

Less: Classified as development rights and new buildings     (306,272)              (453,368) 

Complete property portfolio            9,135,754              7,888,701  

Allowance for estimated purchaser's costs               674,073                 584,898  

Gross up complete property portfolio valuation            9,809,827              8,473,599  

End of period annualised net rental income(1)                 384,848                 357,210  

Operating costs(2)                  (71,232)                (62,002) 

Annualised net rent, after non-recoverable costs                 313,616                 295,208  

Notional rent expiration of rent-free periods or other lease 
incentives  N/A  N/A 

Topped-up net annualised rent                 313,616                 295,208  

EPRA NIY 3.2% 3.5%

EPRA “topped-up” NIY 3.2% 3.5%

(1) 1 including net rental income from assets held-for-sale and GCP’s share in equity-accounted investees
(2) 2 to reach annualised operating costs, cost margins were used for each respective period

Duisburg
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EPRA Vacancy is an operational measure that calculates a 
real estate company’s economic vacancy rate as based on the 
prevailing market rental rates, as opposed to in-place rents 
and physical vacancy. It is calculated by dividing the estimat-
ed market rental value of the vacant spaces in the portfolio 
by the market rental value of the entire portfolio, including 
vacancy rented at market rents.

GCP’s portfolio had an EPRA Vacancy rate of 5.1% as of Decem-
ber 2021, lower as compared to 6.2% as of December 2020. 
GCP has consistently reduced its vacancy in recent years, on 
the back of strong operational performance and solid devel-
opment of fundamentals in GCP’s portfolio locations, reflect-
ed in the contribution of 0.6% from occupancy increase to the 
Companies total like-for-like rental growth of 2.8% for Decem-
ber 2021. Furthermore, the Company has increased its asset 
quality through its capital recycling activities, which have had a 
positive impact on the vacancy development.   

The EPRA Cost Ratios provide a detailed analysis of a Compa-
ny’s operating costs structure and provide for increased compa-
rability across companies. The cost ratio is derived by dividing 
the Company’s direct administrative expenses and property op-

erating expenses (including non-recoverable service charges) 
by the rental income for the year, excluding ground rents. The 
ratio is calculated both including and excluding the direct va-
cancy costs. 

EPRA VACANCY EPRA COST RATIOS

Dec 2021 Dec 2020

€’000

Estimated rental value of 
vacant space (A)

                  
20,650  

                 
22,647  

December annualised net 
rent including vacancy rent-
ed at ERV (B)

                
403,683  

               
362,663  

EPRA Vacancy Rate (A/B) 5.1% 6.2%

For the year ended 31 December 2021 2020

€’000

Property operating expenses, net                   45,536                   36,244  

Maintenance and refurbishment                   22,449                   27,280  

Administrative expenses                   11,138                   10,719  

Share of expenses from investments in equity accounted investees*                     2,599                     2,510  

EPRA Costs (including direct vacancy costs)                   81,722                   76,753  

Direct vacancy costs                    (7,369)                  (8,521) 

EPRA Costs (excluding direct vacancy costs)                   74,353                   68,232  

   

Revenue                 524,629                 535,424  

Less: operating and other income                (150,079)              (162,962) 

Add: Share of net rental income from equity-accounted investees                     6,796                     7,972  

Rental income, net                 381,346                 380,434  

   

EPRA Cost Ratio (including direct vacancy costs) 21.4% 20.2%

EPRA Cost Ratio (excluding direct vacancy costs) 19.5% 17.9%

* including share of operating expenses recoverable from tenants
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* excluding the impact of acquiring a controlling stake in an existing investee 
and consolidating a portfolio of approx. €280 million, previously held as an 
equity accounted investee

During 2021 GCP recorded EPRA property-related capex amount-
ing to €585 million, compared to €700 million in 2020. EPRA 
property-related capex comprises expenditures to acquisitions, 
repositioning capex, as well as pre-letting modifications and 
others. Acquisition cost represent the gross expenditure related 
to the acquisition of investment properties, including transac-
tion costs, and comprised the majority of capital expenditures 
in 2021, amounting to €480 million. The acquisition expenditure 
does not include increasing majority stake in a joint-venture and 
consolidation of a property portfolio of approx. €280 million.

In addition, GCP spent €42 million in pre-letting modifications, 
which are expenditures related to snagging and the final prepa-
ration of new buildings, as well as the re-opening of converted 
and refurbished properties which are in the pre-let stage and are 
being prepared for leasing. The Company recorded €63 million of 
expenditure related to repositioning capex. Repositioning capex 
comprises targeted investment that GCP undertakes to improve 
the quality of its assets and in turn the value proposition of its 
portfolio to existing and prospective tenants. These activities in-
clude measures such as apartment renovations, improvements to 

staircases, corridors, and common areas, as well as façade refits 
and other similar projects. Furthermore, improvements to the sur-
rounding areas, such as installation of playgrounds, barbeque pits 
or the renovation of common meeting areas are included under 
this item. In 2021 the Company additionally undertook modernisa-
tion measures in several targeted projects, including the addition 
of elevators and balconies, energetic modernisation through re-
placement of windows, façade and roof insulation and replacing 
heating systems. These activities have been included in the repo-
sitioning capex and amounted to approx. €3 million.

GCP’s EPRA Cost Ratio’s, including and excluding direct vacan-
cy costs, stood at 21.4% and 19.5%, respectively, as of year-
end 2021, reflecting an increase compared to the 20.2% and 
17.9% as of year-end 2020, respectively. The increase in the 
EPRA Cost Ratios is primarily the result of cost inflation affect-
ing the Company’s operating and administrative expenses. The 
increase in cost was offset by efficiencies gains and optimizing 
the cost structure through recycling of assets, due to disposed 
assets with relatively higher operational costs and acquiring 
properties with a leaner cost structure. As a result of the lower 
vacancy of the portfolio direct vacancy costs were also lower, 
partially offset due to cost inflation in this item.

EPRA CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

For the year ended 31 
December 2021 2020

€’000

Acquisitions 479,976*                 616,830  

Pre-letting modifications 
and others 42,339                   21,261  

Repositioning capex 63,084                   62,406  

EPRA property-related 
capex 585,399                700,497  

London Frankfurt
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ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

RECONCILIATION OF ADJUSTED EBITDA

The adjusted EBITDA is an industry standard figure indicative 
of the Company’s recurring operational profits before inter-
est and tax expenses, excluding the effects of capital gains, 
revaluations, and other non-operational income statement 
items such as profits from disposal of buildings, share of profit 
from investment in equity-accounted investees and other ad-
justments. GCP starts from its Operating profit and adds back 
the item Depreciation and amortisation to arrive at the EBITDA 
value. Non-recurring and non-operational items are deducted 
such as the Property revaluations and capital gains, Result on 
the disposal of buildings and Share of profit from investment in 
equity-accounted investees. Further adjustments are labelled 
as Equity settled share-based payment and other adjustments, 
which are subtracted since these are non-cash expenses.

In this section, GCP provides an overview of the use of its alternative performance measures.
For enhanced transparency and more industry specific comparative basis, the Company provides market and industry standard performance indicators. GCP provides a set of measures that can 
be utilised to assess the Company’s operational earnings, net asset value of the Company, leverage position, debt and interest coverage abilities as well as liquidity headroom. The following 
measurements apply to the real estate industry’s specifications and include adjustments where necessary that are in compliance with the standards. 

Adjusted EBITDA reconciliation

Operating Profit

(+)   Depreciation and amortisation

(=)  EBITDA

(+/-)  Property revaluations and capital gains

(+/-) Result on the disposal of buildings

(+/-) Share of profit from investment in equity-accounted investees

(+/-) Equity settled share-based payments and other adjustments

(=) Adjusted EBITDA

FFO I reconciliation

Adjusted EBITDA

(-) Finance expenses

(-) Current tax expenses

(-) Contribution from/(to) joint ventures and minorities, Net

(-) Adjustment for perpetual notes attribution

(=) FFO I

FFO II Reconciliation

FFO II 

FFO I

(+/-) Result from disposal of properties

(=) FFO II

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS 
I (FFO I)

Funds From Operations I (FFO I) is an industry-wide standard 
measure of the recurring operational cash flow of a real estate 
company, often utilised as a key industry performance indica-
tor. It is calculated by deducting the Finance expenses, Current 
tax expenses, Contribution to minorities, Adjustment for per-
petual notes attribution and adding the Contribution from joint 
ventures, to the Adjusted EBITDA. 

RECONCILIATION OF FUNDS FROM OPERATIONS 
II (FFO II)

FFO II additionally incorporates on top of the FFO I the results 
from asset disposals, calculated as the difference between the 
disposal values and the property acquisition costs plus capex, 
reflecting the economic profit generated on the sale of the as-
sets. Although, property disposals are non-recurring, disposal 
activities provide further cash inflow that increase the liquid-
ity levels. As a result, this measure is an indicator to evaluate 
operational cash flow of a company including the effects of 
disposals.
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LOAN-TO-VALUE Reconciliation 

(+) Investment property(1)

(+) Investment properties of assets held for sale(2)

(+) Investment in equity-accounted investees

(=) (A) Total value

(+) Total debt(3)

(-) Cash and liquid assets(4)

(=) (B) Net debt

(=) (B/A) LTV

Equity Ratio Reconciliation

(A) Total Equity

(B) Total Assets

(=) (A/B) Equity Ratio

Unencumbered Assets Ratio reconciliation

(A) Unencumbered assets

(B) Total investment properties*

(=) (A/B) Unencumbered Assets Ratio

AFFO reconciliation

FFO I

(-) Repositioning capex

(=) AFFO

RECONCILIATION OF LOAN-TO-VALUE (LTV)

LTV ratio is an acknowledged measurement of the leverage posi-
tion of a given firm in the real estate industry. This ratio highlights 
to which extent financial liabilities are covered by the Company’s 
real estate asset value as well as how much headroom of the fair 
value of real estate portfolio is available compared to the net 
debt. Following the industry specifications, GCP calculates the 
LTV ratio by dividing the total net debt to the total value at the 
balance sheet date. Total value of the portfolio is a combination 
of the Investment property which includes the Advanced pay-
ments and deposits, inventories - trading properties, Investment 
properties of assets held for sale and the investment in equity-ac-
counted investees and excludes right-of-use assets. For the cal-
culation of net debt, total Cash and liquid assets are deducted 
from the Straight bonds, Convertible Bonds and Total loan and 
borrowings. Total loan and borrowings include the Short-term 
loans and borrowings, debt redemption, and Financial debt held 
for sale while Straight bonds and Convertible bonds include Bond 
redemption. Cash and liquid assets is the sum of Cash and cash 
equivalents, Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss, 
and Cash and cash equivalents held for sale. 

RECONCILIATION OF UNENCUMBERED ASSETS 

RATIO

The unencumbered assets ratio is a liquidity measure as it re-
flects the Company’s ability to raise secure debt over these 
assets and thus provides an additional layer of financial flexi-
bility and liquidity. Moreover, the unencumbered assets ratio 
is important for unsecured bondholders, providing them with 
an asset backed security. Hence, the larger the ratio is, the 
more flexibility a firm has in terms of headroom and comfort 
to its debtholders. Unencumbered assets ratio is calculated 
by dividing the Unencumbered investment property of the 
portfolio by the Total investment properties which is the sum 
of Investment property, Inventories - trading property and In-
vestment properties of assets held for sale.  

RECONCILIATION OF ADJUSTED FUNDS FROM 
OPERATIONS (AFFO)

The Adjusted Funds From Operations (AFFO) is an additional 
measure of comparison which factors into the FFO I, the Compa-
ny’s repositioning capex, which targets value enhancement and 
quality increase in the portfolio. Modernisation and pre-letting 
capex are not included in the AFFO as it is considered as an addi-
tional investment program, similar to the property acquisitions, 
which is conducted at the Company’s discretion. Therefore, in 
line with the industry practices, GCP deducts the Repositioning 
capex from the FFO I to arrive at the AFFO. As a result, AFFO 
is another widely used indicator which tries to assess residual 
cash flow for the shareholders by adjusting FFO I for recurring 
expenditures that are capitalised.

RECONCILIATION OF EQUITY RATIO

Equity Ratio is the ratio of Total Equity divided by Total Assets, 
each as indicated in the consolidated financial statements. GCP 
believes that the Equity Ratio is useful for investors primarily 
to indicate the long-term solvency position of the Company. 
The Equity Ratio is calculated by dividing the Total Equity by 
the Total Assets, both as per the consolidated financial state-
ments of the Company.

(1) including advanced payments and deposits, inventories - trading properties and ex-
cluding right-of-use assets

(2) excluding right-of-use assets
(3) including loans and borrowings held for sale
(4) including cash and cash equivalents held for sale

* including investment properties, investment properties of assets held for sale and 
inventories - trading property
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RECONCILIATION OF ICR AND DSCR

Two widely recognised debt metrics Interest Coverage Ratio 
(ICR) and Debt Service Coverage Ratio (DSCR) are utilised to 
demonstrate the strength of GCP’s credit profile. These met-
rics are often used to see the extent to which interest and debt 
servicing are covered by recurring operational profits and pro-
vides implications on how much of cash flow is available after 
debt obligations. Therefore, ICR is calculated by dividing the 
Adjusted EBITDA by the Finance expenses and DSCR is calcu-
lated by dividing the Adjusted EBITDA by the Finance expenses 
plus the Amortisation of loans from financial institutions. With 
this ratio, GCP is able to show that with its high profitability 
and long-term oriented conservative financial structure, GCP 
consistently exhibits high debt cover ratios.

EPRA EARNINGS

The EPRA Earnings indicator is intended to serve as a key indi-
cator of the underlying operational profits for the year in the 
context of a real estate company, intended to measure the ex-
tent to which the Company’s dividend distribution is covered 
by its operational income. GCP computes EPRA Earnings by 
excluding from its IFRS Earnings, Property revaluations and 
capital gains, Result on the disposal of buildings, Changes in 
the fair value of financial assets and liabilities (net), Deferred 
tax expenses, its Share of profit from investment in equity-ac-
counted investees, Contribution to minorities and adding the 
Contribution from joint ventures.

GCP also provides a reconciliation of the EPRA Earnings to the 
FFO I, another widely-recognized and key performance mea-
sure, as it believes it to be a better measure of recurring opera-
tional profits and given that its dividend payout policy is based 
on the FFO I, supporting its importance and relevance. 

ICR Reconciliation

(A) Adjusted EBITDA 

(B) Finance expenses

(=) (A/B) ICR

DSCR Reconciliation

(A) Adjusted EBITDA 

(B) Finance expenses

(C) Amortisation of loans from financial institutions

(=) [A/(B+C)] DSCR

EPRA Earnings Reconciliation

EPRA Earnings

Earnings per IFRS income statement

Excluding:

(+/-) Property revaluations and capital gains

(+/-) Result on the disposal of buildings

(+/-) Change in fair value of financial assets and liabilities, net

(+) Deferred tax expenses

(+/-) Share in profit from investment in equity-accounted investees

(+/-) Contribution from joint ventures

(+/-) Contribution to minorities

(=) EPRA Earnings

Bridge to FFO I

Excluding:

(+) Depreciation

(+) Finance-related costs

(+/-) Other adjustments

(-) Adjustment for perpetual notes attribution

(=) FFO I
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RECONCILIATION OF THE NET REINSTATEMENT 
VALUE ACCORDING TO EPRA (EPRA NRV)

The Net Reinstatement Value measure provides stakeholders 
with the value of net assets on a long-term basis and excludes 
assets and liabilities that are not expected materialise. Fur-
thermore, real estate transfer taxes are added back, since the 
intention of this metric is to reflect what would be required to 
reinstate the Company through existing investment markets 
and the Company’s current capital and financing structures.

The reconciliation of the EPRA NRV starts from the Equity at-
tributable to the owners of the Company and adds back De-
ferred tax liabilities on investment property, fair value mea-
surements of derivative financial instruments. Further, the 
EPRA NRV includes real estate transfer tax in order to derive 
the EPRA NRV and provide the reader with a perspective of 
what would be required to reinstate the Company at a given 
point of time. 

RECONCILIATION OF THE NET DISPOSAL VALUE 
ACCORDING TO EPRA (EPRA NDV)

The Net Disposal Value measure is meant to provide stakehold-
ers with the net asset value in the scenario that all assets are 
disposed and/or liabilities are not held until maturity. In this 
measure of net asset value, deferred tax liabilities, fair value 
measurements of financial instruments and certain other ad-
justments are considered to the full extent of their liabilities, 
without including any optimisation of real estate transfer tax.

Accordingly, to arrive at the EPRA NDV the starting point is the 
Equity attributable to the owners of the Company and includes 
the Net fair value of debt. The adjustment is the difference be-
tween the market value of debt and book value of debt. 

RECONCILIATION OF THE NET TANGIBLE ASSETS 
ACCORDING TO EPRA (EPRA NTA)

The Net Tangible Assets measure excludes the value of in-
tangible assets while also taking into consideration the fact 
that companies acquire and dispose assets and, in the process, 
realise certain levels of deferred tax liabilities. Additionally, 
to the extent that tax optimisation is demonstrable, a corre-
sponding portion of real estate transfer taxes are excluded to 
arrive at the Net Tangible Assets.  

The reconciliation of the EPRA NTA begins at the Equity attrib-
utable to the owners of the Company and adds back Deferred 
tax liabilities on investment property excluding deferred tax 
liabilities related to the assets which are considered non-core, 
assets expected to be disposed within the following 12 months 
and the development rights in Germany. In addition, intangi-
ble assets as per the IFRS Balance sheet is subtracted and fair 
value measurements of derivative financial instruments are 
considered for this measure of valuation by EPRA. Further, the 
EPRA NTA adds back a portion of the real estate transfer tax 
excluding real estate transfer tax related to assets which are 
considered non-core, assets expected to be disposed within 
the following 12 months and development rights in Germany.

EPRA NDV Reconciliation

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

(+/-) Net fair value of debt

(=) EPRA NDV

EPRA NRV Reconciliation

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

(+) Deferred tax liabilities(1)

(+/-) Fair value measurements of derivative financial instru-
ments, net(2)

(+) Real Estate Transfer Tax(1)

(=) EPRA NRV

EPRA NTA Reconciliation

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

(+) Deferred tax liabilities(1)

(+/-) Fair value measurements of derivative financial instru-
ments, net(2)

(-) Intangible assets and goodwill

(+) Real Estate Transfer Tax(1)

(=) EPRA NTA

(1) including balances held-for-sale
(2) not including net change in fair value of derivative financial instruments related to 

currency effect

(1) excluding deferred tax liabilities / real estate transfer tax on non-core assets, assets 
held for sale and development rights in Germany

(2) not including net change in fair value of derivative financial instruments related to 
currency effect
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EPRA NET INITIAL YIELD (NIY) AND EPRA 
‚TOPPED-UP‘ NIY

The EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) is intended to serve as a stan-
dardised portfolio valuation indicator. It is calculated by sub-
tracting the passing non-recoverable operating costs from 
the passing net rental income as of the end of the period, 
and dividing the result by the fair value of the full property 
portfolio (including held-for-sale properties and inventories 
– trading properties) plus an allowance for estimated pur-
chasers’ costs. EPRA ‘topped-up’ NIY is an additional calcu-
lation that factors into consideration the effects of rent-free 
periods and other lease incentives.

The fair value of the full property portfolio is the sum of in-
vestment property, share of investment properties in equity 
accounted investees, investment properties from assets held 
for sale as well as the inventories - trading properties. Prop-
erties classified as development rights and new buildings are 
subtracted, as these are non-income generating assets and 
therefore not relevant to the NIY calculation. In addition, this 
sum is grossed up with an allowance for estimated purchas-
er’s cost. The annualised net rental income is arrived by sub-
tracting non-recoverable property operating costs based on 
cost margins for comparability. 

EPRA VACANCY RATE

EPRA Vacancy rate is a key disclosure that provides for the 
comparable and consistent reporting of vacancy across com-
panies. EPRA Vacancy rate is expressed as a percentage, be-
ing the Estimated Rental Value (ERV) of vacant space divided 
by the annualised rental value of the portfolio, including va-
cancy rented at ERV, for a given month. 

EPRA NIY and ‘topped-up’ NIY reconciliation

EPRA Net Initial Yield (NIY) and EPRA ‘topped-up’ NIY

(+) Investment property

(+) Investment properties – share of JV

(+) Investment properties of assets held for sale

(+) Inventories - trading properties

(-) Classified as development rights and new buildings

(=) Complete property portfolio

(+) Allowance for estimated purchasers’ costs

(=) (A) Gross up complete property portfolio valuation

(+) End of period annualised net rental income(1)

(-) Operating costs(2)

(=) (B) Annualised net rent, after non-recoverable costs

(+) Notional rent expiration of rent-free periods or other 
lease incentives

(=) (C) Topped-up net annualised rent

(=) (B/A) EPRA NIY 

(=) (C/A) EPRA “topped-up” NIY 

(1) including net rental income from assets held for sale and GCP’s share in equity-ac-
counted investees

(2) to reach annualised operating costs, cost margins were used for each respective period

EPRA Vacancy rate reconciliation

(A) ERV of vacant space, for a given month

(B) annualised rental value of the portfolio, including 
vacancy rented at ERV, for a given month

(=) (A/B) EPRA Vacancy rate 
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EPRA COST RATIOS

EPRA Cost Ratio is a key measure to enable meaningful mea-
surement of the changes in a company’s operating costs as 
well as comparability between companies. EPRA Costs (includ-
ing direct vacancy costs) is the sum of non-recoverable opera-
tional expenses, maintenance and refurbishment, administra-
tive expenses and the share of expenses from investments in 
equity accounted investees related to the above. EPRA Costs 
(excluding direct vacancy costs) eliminate direct vacancy costs 
from the EPRA Costs (including direct vacancy costs).  

EPRA CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

The EPRA capital expenditure disclosure is based on EPRA 
guidelines, which aims to provide a detailed analysis of the 
Company’s capital expenditures. 

Acquisitions represent the amount spent for the purchase of 
investment properties including capitalized transaction costs. 

Pre-letting modification capex refer to costs related to snag-
ging and the final preparation of new buildings as well as 
re-opening of converted/refurbished buildings prior to leasing. 

Repositioning capex comprise of costs involved in improving 
the long-term asset quality 

EPRA Cost Ratios reconciliation

EPRA Cost Ratios

(+) Operational expenses

(+) Maintenance and refurbishment

(+) Administrative and other expenses

(+) Share of expenses from investments in equity  
accounted investees*

(=) (A) EPRA Costs (including direct vacancy costs)

(-) Direct vacancy costs

(=) (B) EPRA Costs (excluding direct vacancy costs)

Rental and operating income

(-) Operating income

(+) Share of net rental income from equity-accounted  
investees

(=) (C) Rental income, net

(=) (A/C) EPRA Cost Ratio (including direct vacancy costs) 

(=) (B/C) EPRA Cost Ratio (excluding direct vacancy costs) 

* including share of operating expenses recovered from tenants

EPRA capital expenditure

(A) Acquisitions

(B) Pre-letting modifications and others

(C) Repositioning Capex

(=) [(A) + (B) + (C)] EPRA capital expenditure 
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RESPONSIBILITY STATEMENT

To the best of our knowledge, the consolidated annual report of Grand City Properties 
S.A., prepared in accordance with the applicable reporting principles for financial statements, 
give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and profit and loss of the 
Group and the management report of the Group includes a fair view of the development of 

the business, and describes the main opportunities, risks, and uncertainties associated with 
the Group.

DISCLAIMER
The financial data and results of the Group are affected by financial and operating results 

of its subsidiaries. Significance of the information presented in this report is examined from 
the perspective of the Company including its portfolio with the joint ventures. In several 

cases, additional information and details are provided in order to present a comprehensive 
representation of the subject described, which in the Group’s view is essential to this report.

Luxembourg, 16 March 2022

Christian Windfuhr
Chairman and member 
of the Board of Directors

Simone Runge-Brandner
Member of the 
Board of Directors

Daniel Malkin
Member of the 
Board of Directors
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REPORT OF THE REVISEUR D’ENTREPRISES AGREE

Report on the audit of the consolidated financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements 

of Grand City Properties S.A. and its subsidiaries (the 

“Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of 

financial position as at 31 December 2021, and the con-

solidated statement of profit or loss, consolidated state-

ment of comprehensive income, consolidated statement 

of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash 

flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidat-

ed financial statements, including a summary of significant 

accounting policies. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial 

statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated 

financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 

of its consolidated financial performance and its consol-

idated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 

with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) 

as adopted by the European Union.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with the EU Regu-

lation N° 537/2014, the Law of 23 July 2016 on the audit 

profession (“Law of 23 July 2016”) and with International 

Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”) as adopted for Luxembourg 

by the Commission de Surveillance du Secteur Financier 

(“CSSF”). Our responsibilities under the EU Regulation N° 

537/2014, the Law of 23 July 2016 and ISAs as adopted for 

Luxembourg by the CSSF are further described in the « Re-

sponsibilities of the “réviseur d’entreprises agréé” for the au-

dit of the consolidated financial statements » section of our 

report. We are also independent of the Group in accordance 

with the International Code of Ethics for Professional Ac-

countants, including International Independence Standards, 

issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Ac-

countants (“IESBA Code”) as adopted for Luxembourg by the 

CSSF together with the ethical requirements that are relevant 

to our audit of the consolidated financial statements, and 

have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities under those 

ethical requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we 

have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 

for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our profes-

sional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 

the consolidated financial statements of the current peri-

od. These matters were addressed in the context of the 

audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, 

and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide 

a separate opinion on these matters. 

Valuation of Investment Properties

Refer to notes 16 and 25.2 to the consolidated financial 

statements for related disclosures. In notes 2.3, 3.12 and 

3.14 to the consolidated financial statements you find the 

corresponding significant accounting judgements, esti-

mates and assumptions, and the accounting policies, re-

spectively. 

a) Why the matter was considered to be one of most signifi-

cance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements

As at 31 December 2021 the Group held a portfolio of in-

vestment properties with a fair value of TEUR 9,339,489 

(31 December 2020: TEUR 8,005,893) and investment 

To the Shareholders of
Grand City Properties S.A.
1, avenue du Bois
L-1251 Luxembourg
Grand Duchy of Luxembourg
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properties within assets classified as held for sale with 
a fair value of TEUR 102,537 (31 December 2020: TEUR 
150,207).

The valuation of investment properties is a significant 
judgement area and is underpinned by a number of as-
sumptions.

The fair value measurement of investment property is in-
herently subjective and requires valuation experts and the 
Group’s management to use certain assumptions regard-
ing discount and capitalization rates on the Group’s assets, 
future rent, occupancy rates, contract renewal terms, the 
probability of leasing vacant areas, asset operating ex-
penses, the tenants’ financial stability and the implications 
of any investments made for future development purposes 
in order to assess the future expected cash flows from the 
assets. Any change in the assumptions used to measure 
the investment property could cause a significant change 
on the resulting fair value.

The Group uses external valuation reports issued by exter-
nal independent professionally qualified valuers to deter-
mine the fair value of its investment properties.

The external valuers were engaged by management and 
performed their work in compliance with the Royal In-
stitute of Chartered Surveyors Valuation – Professional 
Standards, TEGoVA European Valuations Standards and 
IVSC International Valuation Standard. The valuers used 
by the Group have considerable experience of the mar-
kets in which the Group operates. In determining a prop-
erty’s valuation, the external valuers take into account 
property-specific characteristics and information such as 
the current tenancy agreements and rental income. They 
apply assumptions for yields and estimated market rent, 
which are influenced by prevailing market yields and 

comparable market transactions, to arrive at the final 

valuation.

The significance of the estimates and judgments involved, 

coupled with the fact that only a small percentage differ-

ence in individual property valuations, when aggregated, 

could result in a material misstatement in the consolidated 

statement of profit or loss and consolidated statement of 

financial position, warrants specific audit focus in this area.

b) How the matter was addressed during the audit

Our procedures over valuation of investment properties 

included but were not limited to the following:

 − We tested the design and implementation of the key con-

trols around the determination and monitoring of the fair 

value measurement of the investment properties;

 − We assessed the competence, capabilities, qualifi-

cations, independence and integrity of the external 

valuers and read their terms of engagement with the 

Company to determine whether there were any matters 

that might have affected their objectivity or may have 

imposed scope limitations on their work;

 − Through the involvement of our own property valua-

tion specialists, on a sample basis, we assessed that 

the valuation approach applied by the external valu-

er was in accordance with relevant valuation and ac-

counting standards and suitable for use in determining 

the carrying value in the consolidated statement of fi-

nancial position;

 − Through the involvement of our own property valuation 

specialists, on a sample basis, we tested the integrity, 

accuracy and completeness of inputs used by the ex-

ternal valuers, as well as appropriateness of valuation 

parameters used, such as discount and capitalisation 

rates, market rents per square meter and capital ex-

penditure, vacancy rates, comparable price per square 

meter and development cost; 

 − Through the involvement of our own property valuation 

specialists, on a sample basis, we assessed the valua-

tion process, significant assumptions and critical judge-

ment areas by benchmarking these to external industry 

data and comparable property transactions, in particu-

lar the yields applied; and

 − We considered the adequacy of the disclosures in the 

consolidated financial statements, and the Group’s de-

scriptions regarding the inherent degree of subjectivity 

and the key assumptions in estimates.

Other information

The Board of Directors is responsible for the other infor-

mation. The other information comprises the information 

stated in the consolidated annual report including the 

Board of Directors’ report, EPRA Performance Measures, 

Alternative Performance Measures, the Corporate Gov-

ernance Statement and Corporate Social Responsibility 

Statement but does not include the consolidated financial 

statements and our report of the “réviseur d’entreprises 

agréé” thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does 

not cover the other information and we do not express any 

form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial 

statements, our responsibility is to read the other infor-

mation and, in doing so, consider whether the other infor-

mation is materially inconsistent with the consolidated fi-
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nancial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit 
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report this fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Directors and 
Those Charged with Governance for the consol-
idated financial statements

The Board of Directors is responsible for the prepara-
tion and fair presentation of the consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 
European Union, and for such internal control as the 
Board of Directors determines is necessary to enable 
the preparation of consolidated financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

The Board of Directors is responsible for presenting and 
marking up the consolidated financial statements in com-
pliance with the requirements set out in the Delegated 
Regulation 2019/815 on European Single Electronic Format 
(“ESEF Regulation”).

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, 
the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclos-
ing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the 
Board of Directors either intends to liquidate the Group 
or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for over-
seeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

Responsibilities of the réviseur d’entreprises 
agréé for the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements

The objectives of our audit are to obtain reasonable assur-

ance about whether the consolidated financial statements 

as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 

due to fraud or error, and to issue a report of the “réviseur 

d’entreprises agréé” that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 

that an audit conducted in accordance with the EU Regula-

tion N° 537/2014, the Law of 23 July 2016 and with ISAs as 

adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF will always detect a 

material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 

arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, in-

dividually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be ex-

pected to influence the economic decisions of users taken 

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

Our responsibility is to assess whether the consolidated 

financial statements have been prepared in all material re-

spects with the requirements laid down in the ESEF Reg-

ulation.

As part of an audit in accordance with the EU Regulation 

N° 537/2014, the Law of 23 July 2016 and with ISAs as 

adopted for Luxembourg by the CSSF, we exercise pro-

fessional judgment and maintain professional skepticism 

throughout the audit. 

We also:

 − Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 

of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 

to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 

responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 

that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 

our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material mis-
statement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or 
the override of internal control.

 − Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the pur-
pose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control.

 − Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the Board of Directors.

 − Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of Direc-
tors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a ma-
terial uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a ma-
terial uncertainty exists, we are required to draw atten-
tion in our report of the “réviseur d’entreprises agréé” 
to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to 
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the 
audit evidence obtained up to the date of our report 
of the “réviseur d’entreprises agréé”. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.

 − Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and con-
tent of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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 − Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 

the financial information of the entities and business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the 

consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for 

the direction, supervision and performance of the Group 

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance re-

garding, among other matters, the planned scope and tim-

ing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any 

significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a 

statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communi-

cate with them all relationships and other matters that 

may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, 

and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or 

safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 

governance, we determine those matters that were of most 

significance in the audit of the consolidated financial state-

ments of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our report unless law 

or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements

We have been appointed as “réviseur d’entreprises agréé” 

by the General Meeting of the Shareholders on 30 June 

2021 and the duration of our uninterrupted engagement, 

including previous renewals and reappointments, is ten 

years.  

The Board of Directors’ Report is consistent with the con-
solidated financial statements and has been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements.     

The Corporate Governance Statement is included in the 
Board of Directors’ Report. The information required by 
Article 68ter paragraph (1) letters c) and d) of the law of 
19 December 2002 on the commercial and companies reg-
ister and on the accounting records and annual accounts 
of undertakings, as amended, is consistent with the con-
solidated financial statements and has been prepared in 
accordance with applicable legal requirements.

We confirm that the audit opinion is consistent with the 
additional report to the audit committee or equivalent.

We confirm that the prohibited non-audit services referred 
to in the EU Regulation N° 537/2014 were not provided 
and that we remained independent of the Group in con-
ducting the audit.

We have checked the compliance of the consolidated fi-
nancial statements of the Group as at 31 December 2021 
with relevant statutory requirements set out in the ESEF 
Regulation that are applicable to consolidated financial 
statements.

For the Group it relates to:

 y Consolidated financial statements prepared in a valid 
xHTML format;

 y The XBRL markup of the consolidated financial state-
ments using the core taxonomy and the common rules 
on markups specified in the ESEF Regulation.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements of 
Grand City Properties S.A. as at 31 December 2021, iden-
tified as ESEF_grandcityproperties20211231.zip, have been 
prepared, in all material respects, in compliance with the 
requirements laid down in the ESEF Regulation.

Our audit report only refers to the consolidated finan-
cial statements of Grand City Properties S.A. as at 31 
December 2021, identified as ESEF_grandcityproper-
ties20211231.zip, prepared and presented in accordance 
with the requirements laid down in the ESEF Regulation, 
which is the only authoritative version.

KPMG Luxembourg

Société anonyme 

Cabinet de révision agréé 

Alessandro Raone

Partner

Luxembourg, 16 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2020

Note €’000

Revenue 6 524,629 535,424

Property revaluations and capital gains 7 694,844 343,409

Share of profit from investments in equity-accounted investees 14 3,952 3,569

Property operating expenses 8 (218,064) (226,486)

Administrative and other expenses 9 (11,138) (10,719)

Depreciation and amortisation 15 (8,235) (5,042)

Operating profit 985,988 640,155

Finance expenses 10.1 (46,450) (52,760)

Other financial results 10.2 (148,640) (45,670)

Profit before tax 790,898 541,725

Current tax expenses 11.2 (39,227) (31,387)

Deferred tax expenses 11.3 (134,582) (61,267)

Profit for the year 617,089 449,071

Profit attributable to:

Owners of the Company 523,522 362,218

Perpetual notes investors 25,042 32,848

Non-controlling interests 68,525 54,005

617,089 449,071

Net earnings per share attributable  
to the owners of the Company (in euro):

Basic earnings per share 12.1               3.12                     2.13   

Diluted earnings per share 12.2               2.90                     2.01   
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For the year ended 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Profit for the year 617,089 449,071

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods, net of tax:

Foreign currency translation, net of investment hedges of foreign operations (6,715) (22,476)

Net change in cost of hedging 36,359 (15,383)

Total other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of tax 29,644 (37,859)

Total comprehensive income 646,733 411,212

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the Company 553,166 324,359

Perpetual notes investors 25,042 32,848

Non-controlling interests 68,525 54,005

646,733 411,212

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
For the year ended 31 December

2021 2020

Note €’000

ASSETS

Investment property 16 9,339,489 8,005,893

Property and equipment 15 55,626  (*)13,533

Intangible assets and goodwill 15 14,717 (*)13,909

Advance payment and deposits 24,255 36,866

Investment in equity-accounted investees 14 - 107,880

Derivative financial assets 27 37,504 57,057

Other non-current assets 13 359,831 315,884

Deferred tax assets 11.3 51,412 50,665

Non-current assets 9,882,834 8,601,687

895,486Cash and cash equivalents 1,412,199

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 211,913 279,743

Inventories - trading property - 16,458

Trade and other receivables 17 452,048 394,711

Derivative financial assets 27 6,129 5,967

Assets held-for-sale 25.2 113,582 155,015

Current assets 1,679,158 2,264,093

Total assets 11,561,992 10,865,780

EQUITY

Share capital 18.1 17,619 17,186

Treasury shares 18.4 (248,009) -

Share premium and other reserves 18.5/18.6 408,371 439,240

Retained earnings 3,782,053 3,257,423

Total equity attributable to the owners of the Company 3,960,034 3,713,849

Equity attributable to perpetual notes investors 18.8 1,227,743 1,306,092

Total equity attributable to the owners and perpetual notes investors 5,187,777 5,019,941

Non-controlling interests 18.9 614,809 534,987

Total equity 5,802,586 5,554,928
(*)reclassified
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For the year ended 31 December

2021 2020

Note €’000

LIABILITIES

Loans and borrowings 20.1 353,073 427,470

Convertible bond 20.2 - 277,614

Straight bonds 20.2 3,642,285 3,361,162

Derivative financial liabilities 27 76,200 40,545

Other non-current liabilities 22 154,330 142,432

Deferred tax liabilities 11.3 760,472 634,329

Non-current liabilities 4,986,360 4,883,552

20.1 5,176 9,667Current portion of long-term loans

Bond redemption 20.2/33 449,595 137,316

Trade and other payables 21 215,757 209,065

Derivative financial liabilities 27 30,691 704

Tax payable 18,541 13,446

Provisions for other liabilities and charges 23 39,778 45,776

Liabilities held-for-sale 25.2 13,508 11,326

Current liabilities 773,046 427,300

5,759,406 5,310,852Total liabilities

11,561,992 10,865,780Total equity and liabilities

Christian Windfuhr
Chairman and member of the Board of Directors

Simone Runge-Brandner
Member of the Board of Directors

Daniel Malkin
Member of the Board of Directors

The Board of Directors of Grand City Properties S.A. authorised these consolidated financial statements to be issued on 16 March 2022.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

€’000
Share 
capital

Treasury 
shares

Share 
premium

Equity com-
ponent of 

convertible 
bond

Cost of  
hedging 
reserve

Foreign 
exchange 

translation 
reserves, 

net
Other  

reserves
Retained 
Earnings

Total equity 
attributable 
to owners  

of the  
Company

Equity  
attribu-
table to 

perpetual 
notes  

investors

Equity attributa-
ble to owners of 
the Company and 
Perpetual notes 

investors

Non-
controlling  
interests

Total  
equity

Balance as at 31 
December 2020

17,186 - 497,187 12,657 (25,256) (32,943) (12,405) 3,257,423 3,713,849 1,306,092 5,019,941 534,987 5,554,928

Profit for the year - - - - - - - 523,522 523,522 25,042 548,564 68,525 617,089

Other comprehensive 
income (loss) for the year

- - - - 36,359 (6,715) - - 29,644 - 29,644 - 29,644

Total Comprehensive 
Income (loss) for the 
period

- - - - 36,359 (6,715) - 523,522 553,166 25,042 578,208 68,525 646,733

Dividend distribution(1) - - (136,433) - - - - - (136,433) - (136,433) - (136,433)

Scrip dividend(1) 433 - 82,280 - - - - - 82,713 - 82,713 - 82,713

Share buy-back(2) - (271,781) - - - - - - (271,781) - (271,781) - (271,781)

Share-based payment - 397 - - - - 914 (365) 946 - 946 - 946

Capital increase  - 23,375 745 - - - (7,017) - 17,103 - 17,103 - 17,103

Initial consolidation, de-
consolidation and transac-
tions with non-controlling 
interests

- - - - - - - 1,473 1,473 - 1,473 11,297 12,770

Payment to perpetual 
notes investors

- - - - - - - - - (19,485) (19,485) - (19,485)

Repayment to perpetual 
notes investors(4) - - - - - - (4,502) - (4,502) (83,906) (88,408) - (88,408)

Issuance of convertible 
bond (3) - - - 3,500 - - - - 3,500 - 3,500 - 3,500

Balance as at 31 
December 2021

17,619 (248,009) 443,779 16,157 11,103 (39,658) (23,010) 3,782,053 3,960,034 1,227,743 5,187,777 614,809 5,802,586

(1) for additional information see note 18.7

(2) for additional information see note 18.4

(3) for additional information see note 20.2(i)

(4) for additional information see note 18.8(c)
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Equity attributable to the owners of the Company

€’000
Share 
capital

Share
Premium

Equity 
component 

of 
convertible 

bond

Cost of 
hedging
reserve

Foreign 
exchange 

translation 
reserves,

net
Other 

reserves
Retained 
earnings

Total equity 
attributable 
to owners 

of the  
Company

 
Equity 

attributable 
to 

perpetual 
notes 

investors

Equity 
attributable 
to owners 

of the Com-
pany and 
Perpetual 
notes in-
vestors

Non-
controlling 
interests

Total  
equity

Balance as at 31 December 2019 16,790 566,680 12,657 (9,873) (10,467) 24,485 2,892,360 3,492,632 1,030,050 4,522,682 443,917 4,966,599

Profit for the year - - - - - - 362,218 362,218 32,848 395,066 54,005 449,071

Other comprehensive  
loss for the year

- - - (15,383) (22,476) - - (37,859) - (37,859) - (37,859)

Total Comprehensive income  
(loss) for the period

- - - (15,383) (22,476) - 362,218 324,359 32,848 357,207 54,005 411,212

Dividend distribution - (138,407) - - - - - (138,407) - (138,407) - (138,407)

Scrip dividend 385 67,009 - - - - - 67,394 - 67,394 - 67,394

Share-based payment 11 1,905 - - - (621) - 1,295 - 1,295 - 1,295

Initial consolidation, deconso-
lidation and transactions with 
non-controlling interests

- - - - - - 2,845 2,845 - 2,845 37,065 39,910

Payment to perpetual notes in-
vestors

- - - - - - - - (33,000) (33,000) - (33,000)

Repayment to perpetual notes 
investors

- - - - - (36,269) - (36,269) (410,166) (446,435) - (446,435)

issuance of perpetual notes - - - - - - - - 686,360 686,360 - 686,360

Balance at 31 December 2020 17,186 497,187 12,657 (25,256) (32,943) (12,405) 3,257,423 3,713,849 1,306,092 5,019,941 534,987 5,554,928
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2020

Note €’000

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:

Profit for the year 617,089 449,071

ADJUSTMENTS FOR THE PROFIT:

Depreciation and amortisation 15 8,235 5,042

Property revaluations and capital gains 7 (694,844) (343,409)

Share of profit from investments in equity-accounted investees 14 (3,952) (3,569)

Net finance expenses 10 195,090 98,430

Tax and deferred tax expenses 11 173,809 92,654

Equity settled share-based payment 19 3,162 1,561

Change in working capital (44,830) (29,444)

253,759 270,336

(36,699)Tax paid (28,184)

Net cash provided by operating activities 217,060 242,152

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:

Acquisition of equipment and intangible assets, net 15 (8,367) (7,380)

Acquisitions of investment property, Capex and advances paid, net (480,305) (505,125)

Disposals of investment property, net 14,989 12,846

Acquisition of investees and loans, net of cash acquired (9,388) (117,555)

Disposal of investees, net of cash disposed 342,802 664,232

Investment in financial and other assets, net (58,186) (438,688)

Net cash used in investing activities (198,455) (391,670)
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For the year ended 31 December

2021 2020

Note €’000

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:

Amortisation of loans from financial institutions 20.3 (4,328) (11,907)

Proceeds (repayment) of loans from financial institutions, net 20.3 (288,320) (9,525)

Proceeds from straight and convertible bonds, net 20.3 1,149,078 (*) 587,715

Proceeds (payments) from (to) Perpetual notes investors, net 18.8 (107,893) 206,925

Repayment and buyback of straight bonds 20.3 (927,119) (*) (6,875)

Capital increase 18.6 17,103 -

Share buy-back 18.4 (271,781) -

Transactions with non-controlling interests (417) 6,637

Dividend distributed to the shareholders 18.7 (53,720) (71,013)

Interest and other financial expenses, net 20.3 (49,790) (51,337)

Net cash provided (used) by (in) financing activities (537,187) 650,620

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents (518,582) 501,102

Change in cash and cash equivalents held-for-sale 25.2 (216) 171

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the year 1,412,199 914,054

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 2,085 (3,128)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year 895,486 1,412,199

(*)reclassified
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. GENERAL

1.1. INCORPORATION AND PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

Grand City Properties S.A. (“the Company”) was incorpo-
rated in Grand Duchy of Luxembourg on December 16, 2011 
as a Société Anonyme (public limited liability company). Its 
registered office is at 1, Avenue du Bois L-1251 Luxembourg.

The Company is a specialist in residential real estate, in-
vesting in value-add opportunities in densely populated 
areas, predominantly in Germany and is complemented by 
a portfolio in London. The Company’s strategy is to im-
prove its properties through targeted modernization and 
intensive tenant management, and create value by subse-
quently raising occupancy and rental levels.                               

These consolidated financial statements for the year end-
ed 31 December 2021 comprise the Company and its in-
vestees (“the Group” or “GCP”).

1.2. LISTING ON THE FRANKFURT STOCK EXCHANGE

Since 2012, the Company’s shares are listed on the Frankfurt 
Stock Exchange. On 9 May 2017 the Company’s shares were 
uplisted to the Prime Standard of the Frankfurt Stock Exchange. 

Effective 18 September 2017, the Company’s shares were 
included in the MDAX index of the Deutsche Börse.

As at 31 December 2021, the issued share capital consists 
176,187,899 shares with a par value of euro 0.10 per share, 
of which 11,225,841 shares with suspended voting rights are 
held in treasury. for additional information see note 18.4.

1.3. CAPITAL INCREASE, PERPETUAL NOTES  
AND BOND ISSUANCES

Since 2012, the Company undertook several capital market 
transactions which include the issuance of straight bonds, 
convertible bonds, perpetual notes and equity. 

In addition, the Company established Euro Medium Term 
Notes Programme (“the EMTN programme”). 

For more information see notes 18 and 20.2.

1.4. GROUP RATING

As of the beginning of 2021 and as part of cost saving mea-
sures, the Group has terminated its contract with Moody’s. 
However, Moody’s has informed the Group that it intends 
to maintain a public credit rating on the Group on an unso-
licited basis. 

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s credit rating was reaf-
firmed by rating agencies, as follows:

1.5. DEFINITIONS

In these consolidated financial statements: 

The Company Grand City Properties S.A.

The Group The Company and its investees

Ultimate  
controlling party Aroundtown SA

The Parent  
company Edolaxia Group Ltd

Subsidiaries

Companies that are controlled by 
the Company (as defined in IFRS 
10) and whose financial statements 
are consolidated with those of the 
Company

Associates

Companies over which the Com-
pany has significant influence (as 
defined in IAS 28) and that are 
not subsidiaries. The Company's 
investment therein is included in 
the consolidated financial state-
ments of the Company using equity 
method of accounting

Investees Subsidiaries, jointly controlled enti-
ties and associates

Related parties As defined in IAS 24

S&P Moody’s

Long-term corporate credit rating  
of the Company

BBB+ Baa1

Senior unsecured debt of the 
Company

BBB+ Baa1

Subordinated perpetual notes BBB- Baa3
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1. STATEMENT OF COMPLIANCE

These consolidated financial statements have been pre-
pared in accordance with the International Financial Report-
ing Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union.

Certain consolidated statement of profit or loss, consol-
idated statement of financial position and consolidated 
statement of cash flows’ items related to the year end-
ed 31 December 2020 have been reclassified to enhance 
comparability with 2021 figures and are marked as “re-
classified”.

The consolidated financial statements were authorised for 
issue by the Company’s Board of Directors on 16 March 2022.

2.2. BASIS OF MEASUREMENT

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared 
on a going concern basis, applying the historical cost con-
vention, except for the measurement of the following:

 » Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss;
 » Investment properties are measured at fair value;
 » Investment in equity-accounted investees;
 » Derivative financial assets and liabilities;
 » Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale;
 » Deferred tax liability on fair value gain on investment 

property and derivative financial instruments.

2.3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, 
ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS requires from management the 

exercise of judgment, to make estimates and assumpti-

ons that influence the application of accounting princi-

ples and the related amounts of assets and liabilities, 

income and expenses. The estimates and underlying as-

sumptions are based on historical experience and various 

other factors that are deemed to be reasonable based on 

current knowledge available at that time. Actual results 

may differ from such estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are revised on 

a regular basis. Revisions in accounting estimates are rec-

ognised in the period during which the estimate is revised, 

if the estimate affects only that period, or in the period of 

the revision and future periods, if the revision affects the 

present as well as future periods.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting pol-

icies, management has made the following judgements, 

which have the most significant effect on the amounts rec-

ognised in the consolidated financial statements:

 » Leases

 − Property lease classification (the Group as lessor) The 

Group has entered into property leases on its investment 

property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on 

an evaluation of the terms and conditions of the arrange-

ments, such as the lease terms not constituting a major 

part of the economic life of the properties and the pres-

ent value of the minimum lease payments not amounting 

to substantially all of the fair value of the properties, that 

it retains substantially all the risks and rewards inciden-

tal to ownership of these properties and accounts for the 

contracts as operating leases.

 » Revenue from contracts with customers

 − Determination of performance obligations - In rela-

tion to the services provided to tenants of investment 

property as part of the lease agreements into which the 

Group enters as a lessor, the Group has determined that 

the performance obligation is the overall property man-

agement service and that the service performed each 

day is distinct and substantially the same. Although the 

individual activities that comprise the performance ob-

ligation vary significantly throughout the day and from 

day to day, the nature of the overall promise to provide 

management service is the same from day to day. There-

fore, the Group has concluded that the services to ten-

ants represent a series of daily services that are individ-

ually satisfied over time, using a time-elapsed measure 

of progress, because tenants simultaneously receive and 

consume the benefits provided by the Group. With re-

spect to the sale of property, the Group concluded that 

the goods and services transferred in each contract con-

stitute a single performance obligation.

 − Principal versus agent considerations (services to ten-

ants) - The Group arranges for certain services provided 

to tenants of investment property included in the contract 

the Group enters into as a lessor, to be provided by third 

parties. The Group has determined that it controls the ser-

vices before they are transferred to tenants, because it has 

the ability to direct the use of these services and obtain the 

benefits from them. In making this determination, the Group 

has considered that it is primarily responsible for fulfilling 

the promise to provide these specified services because 

it directly deals with tenants’ complaints and it is primari-

ly responsible for the quality or suitability of the services. 

Therefore, the Group has concluded that it is the principal in 

these contracts. In addition, the Group has concluded that it 
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transfers control of these services over time, as services are 

rendered by the third-party service providers, because this 

is when tenants receive and, at the same time, consume the 

benefits from these services. 

 − Determining the timing of revenue recognition on the 

sale of property - The Group has evaluated the timing 

of revenue recognition on the sale of property based on 

a careful analysis of the rights and obligations under the 

terms of the contract and legal advice from the Group’s 

external counsels in various jurisdictions. The Group has 

generally concluded that contracts relating to the sale 

of completed property are recognised at a point in time 

when control transfers. For unconditional exchanges of 

contracts, control is generally expected to transfer to 

the customer together with the legal title. For condition-

al exchanges, this is expected to take place when all the 

significant conditions are satisfied.

 » Business combinations

 − The Group acquires subsidiaries that own real estate. 

At the time of acquisition, the Group considers whether 

each acquisition represents the acquisition of a business 

or the acquisition of an asset. The Group accounts for 

an acquisition as a business combination where an inte-

grated set of activities and assets, including property, is 

acquired. More specifically, consideration is given to the 

extent to which significant processes are acquired and, in 

particular, the extent of services provided by the subsid-

iary. When the acquisition of subsidiaries does not rep-

resent a business combination, it is accounted for as an 

acquisition of a group of assets and liabilities. The cost 

of the acquisition is allocated to the assets and liabili-

ties acquired based upon their relative fair values, and no 

goodwill or deferred tax is recognised.

 » Interest rate benchmark reform

 − Economically equivalent - IBOR reform Phase 2 requires, 

as a practical expedient, for changes to the basis for de-

termining contractual cash flows that are necessary as 

a direct consequence of IBOR reform to be treated as a 

change to a floating rate of interest, provided the tran-

sition from IBOR to an RFR takes place on a basis that 

is ‘economically equivalent’. To qualify as ‘economically 

equivalent’, the terms of the financial instrument must 

be the same before and after transition except for the 

changes required by IBOR reform. For changes that are 

not required by IBOR reform, the Group applies judge-

ment to determine whether they result in the financial 

instrument being derecognised. Therefore, as financial 

instruments transition from IBOR to RFRs, the Group 

applies judgement to assess whether the transition has 

taken place on an economically equivalent basis. In mak-

ing this assessment, the Group considers the extent of 

any changes to the contractual cash flows as a result 

of the transition and the factors that have given rise to 

the changes, with consideration of both quantitative and 

qualitative factors. Factors of changes that are econom-

ically equivalent include: changing the reference rate 

from an IBOR to a RFR; changing the reset days between 

coupons to align with the RFR; adding a fallback to auto-

matically transition to an RFR when the IBOR ceases; and 

adding a fixed credit spread adjustment based on that 

calculated by the International Swaps and Derivatives 

Association (ISDA) or which is implicit in the market for-

ward rates for the RFR. 

 − Hedge accounting - The Group applies the temporary re-

liefs provided by the IBOR reform Phase 1 amendments, 

which enable its hedge accounting to continue during the 

period of uncertainty, before the replacement of an existing 

interest rate benchmark with an RFR. For the purpose of de-

termining whether a forecast transaction is highly probable, 

the reliefs require it to be assumed that the IBOR on which 

the hedged cash flows are based is not altered as a result 

of IBOR reform. The reliefs end when the Group judges 

that the uncertainty arising from IBOR reform is no longer 

present for the hedging relationships that are referenced to 

IBORs. This applies when the hedged item has already tran-

sitioned from IBOR to an RFR and also to exposures that 

will transition via fallback to an RFR when certain LIBORs 

cease on 1 January 2022.

Estimates and assumptions
The key assumptions concerning future and other key 
sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjust-
ment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year, are described below. The 
Group based its assumptions and estimates on parame-
ters available when the consolidated financial statements 
were prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions 
about future developments, however, may change due to 
market changes or circumstances arising that are beyond 
the control of the Group. Such changes are reflected in the 
assumptions when they occur. 

 » Valuation of investment property - The Group uses 
external valuation reports issued by independent pro-
fessionally qualified valuers to determine the fair value 
of its investment properties. The fair value measure-
ment of investment property requires valuation ex-
perts and the Company’s management to use certain 
assumptions regarding rates of return on the Group’s 
assets, future rent, occupancy rates, contract renew-
al terms, the probability of leasing vacant areas, asset 
operating expenses, the tenants’ financial stability and 
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the implications of any investments made for future de-
velopment purposes in order to assess the future ex-
pected cash flows from the assets. Any change in the 
assumptions used to measure the investment property 
could affect its fair value. 

 » Valuation of financial assets and liabilities - Some of 
the Group’s assets and liabilities are measured at fair val-
ue for financial reporting purposes. In estimating the fair 
value of an asset or a liability, the Group uses market-ob-
servable data to the extent it is available. The fair value 
of financial instruments that are not traded in an active 
market is determined using valuation techniques. The 
group uses its judgement to select a variety of methods 
and make assumptions that are mainly based on market 
conditions existing at the end of each reporting period.

 » Taxes - Significant judgment is required in determining 
the provision for income taxes. There are transactions 
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determina-
tion is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. 
The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit 
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes 
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these mat-
ters is different from the amounts that were initially re-
corded, such differences will impact the income tax and 
deferred tax provisions in the period in which such de-
termination is made. Deferred tax assets are recognised 
for unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable 
that taxable profit will be available against which the 
losses can be utilised. Significant management judge-
ment is required to determine the amount of deferred 
tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely 
timing and the level of future taxable profits, together 
with future tax planning strategies. 

 » Impairment of financial assets measured at amortised 

cost - When measuring expected credit loss (ECL) the 

Group uses reasonable and supportable forward-look-

ing information, which is based on assumptions for the 

future movement of different economic drivers and how 

these drivers will affect each other. Loss given default 

is an estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based 

on the difference between the contractual cash flows 

due and those that the lender would expect to receive, 

taking into account cash flows from collateral and inte-

gral credit enhancements.

 » Property leases - estimating the incremental bor-

rowing rate - The Group cannot readily determine the 

interest rate implicit in leases where it is the lessee, 

therefore, it uses its incremental borrowing rate (IBR) 

to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of inter-

est that the Group would have to pay to borrow over 

a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds 

necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to the 

right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. 

The IBR therefore reflects what the Group ‘would have 

to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable 

rates are available. 

2.4. FUNCTIONAL AND PRESENTATION CURRENCY

The Group’s consolidated financial statements are pre-

sented in euro, which is also the Company’s functional cur-

rency, and rounded to the nearest thousand (euro ’000) 

unless stated otherwise. 

For each entity, the Group determines the functional cur-

rency and items included in the financial statements of 

each entity are measured using that functional currency.

Transactions and balances

Transactions in foreign currencies are initially recorded by 
the Group’s entities at their respective functional curren-
cy spot rates at the date the transaction first qualifies for 
recognition.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign cur-
rencies are translated at the functional currency spot rates of 
exchange at the reporting date.

Differences arising on settlement or translation of mone-
tary items are recognised in profit or loss, with the excep-
tion of monetary items that are designated as part of the 
hedge of the Group’s net investment of a foreign opera-
tion. These are recognised in other comprehensive income 
until the net investment is disposed of, at which time, the 
cumulative amount is reclassified to profit or loss. Tax 
charges and credits attributable to exchange differences 
on those monetary items are also recognised in other com-
prehensive income.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical 
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange 
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary 
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are trans-
lated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair value 
is determined. 

The gain or loss arising on translation of non-monetary items 
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition 
of gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., trans-
lation differences on items whose fair value gain or loss is 
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss 
are also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit 
or loss, respectively).

In determining the spot exchange rate to use on initial rec-
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ognition of the related asset, liability, expense or income 
(or part of it) on the derecognition of a non-monetary as-
set or non-monetary liability relating to advance consid-
eration, the date of the transaction is the date on which 
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or 
non-monetary liability arising from the advance consid-
eration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in ad-
vance, the Group determines the transaction date for each 
payment or receipt of advance consideration.

Group companies

On consolidation, the assets and liabilities of foreign op-
erations are translated into euros at the rate of exchange 
prevailing at the reporting date and their statements 
of profit or loss are translated at the average exchange 
rates for the period, unless exchange rates fluctuated 
significantly during the period, in which case the ex-
change rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions 
are used. The exchange differences arising on translation 
for consolidation are recognised in other comprehensive 
income and accumulated in a separate component of eq-
uity under the header of foreign currency translation re-
serve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the component 
of other comprehensive income relating to that particular 
foreign operation is reclassified to profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign op-
eration and any fair value adjustments to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities arising on the acquisition 
are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation 
and translated at the spot rate of exchange at the report-
ing date.

The Group’s main foreign exchange rates versus the euro 
were as follows:

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1. CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES  
AND DISCLOSURES

The accounting policies adopted and methods of compu-
tation followed are consistent with those of the previous 
financial year, except for items disclosed below. 

There were several new and amendments to standards and 
interpretations which are applicable for the first time in 2021, 
but either not relevant or do not have an impact on the con-
solidated financial statements of the Group. The Group has 
not early adopted any standard, interpretation or amendment 
that has been issued but is not yet effective. See note 3.25.

These amendments did not have any significant impact on 
the consolidated financial statements of the Group. See 
note 26.3.1. 

With effective date of 1 January 2021:

 » Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - Phase 2 Amend-
ments to IFRS 9, IAS 39 IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16

The amendments provide temporary reliefs which 
address the financial reporting effects when an inter-
bank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alterna-
tive nearly risk-free interest rate (RFR).

The amendments include the following practical expedients:

 − A practical expedient to require contractual changes, or 

changes to cash flows that are directly required by the re-

form, to be treated as changes to a floating interest rate, 

equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest

 − Permit changes required by IBOR reform to be made to 

hedge designations and hedge documentation without the 

hedging relationship being discontinued 

 − Provide temporary relief to entities from having to meet 

the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR in-

strument is designated as a hedge of a risk component

These amendments have not had a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements. See note 26.3.1. 

With effective date of 1 April 2021:

 » Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases: Covid-19-Related 
Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (issued on 31 
March 2021)

In May 2020, the IASB published an amendment to IFRS 
16 that provided lessees (but not lessors) with relief in the 
form of an optional practical expedient from assessing 
whether a rent concession related to COVID-19 is a lease 
modification. Lessees could elect to account for rent con-
cessions in the same way as if they were not lease modi-
fications. The expedient initially only applied to reductions 

EUR/
GBP

EUR/
HKD

EUR/
CHF

EUR/JPY

As of 31  
December 2021

0.840 8.833 1.033 130.380

As of 31  
December 
2020

0.899 9.514 1.080 126.490

Change (%) (6.5%) (7.2%) (4.4%) 3.1%

Average 
exchange rate 
during the year

0.860 9.193 1.081 129.877
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in lease payments due on or before 30 June 2021, but that 

date was subsequently extended to 30 June 2022 through 

further amendments made in March 2021.

These amendments had no impact on the consolidat-

ed financial statements of the Group.

3.2. BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements comprise the finan-

cial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries as at 

31 December 2021. Control is achieved when the Group is 

exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involve-

ment with the investee and has the ability to affect those 

returns through its power over the investee. Specifically, the 

Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:

 » Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give 

it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of 

the investee)

 » Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involve-

ment with the investee

 » The ability to use its power over the investee to affect 

its returns

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting 

rights results in control. To support this presumption and 

when the Group has less than a majority of the voting or 

similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all rele-

vant facts and circumstances in assessing whether it has 

power over an investee, including:

 » The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote 

holders of the investee

 » Rights arising from other contractual arrangements

 » The Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an invest-
ee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes 
to one or more of the three elements of control. Consolida-
tion of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control 
over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses con-
trol of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expens-
es of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year 
are included in the consolidated financial statements from 
the date the Group gains control until the date it ceases to 
control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehen-
sive income (OCI) are attributed to the equity holders of 
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling inter-
ests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests 
having a deficit balance. When necessary, adjustments 
are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to 
bring their accounting policies in line with the Group’s 
accounting policies. All intra-group assets and liabili-
ties, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating to 
transactions between members of the Group are elimi-
nated in full on consolidation.

Unrealised gains arising from transactions with equity-ac-
counted investees are eliminated against the investment to 
the extent of the Group’s interest in the investee. Unrealised 
losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains, 
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without 
a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction. 
The carrying amounts of the Group’s interests and the 
non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the changes 
in their relative interests in the subsidiaries. Any difference 
between the amount by which the non-controlling interests 

are adjusted and the fair value of the consideration paid or 

received is recognised directly in equity attributed to own-

ers of the Company.

When the Group loses control over a subsidiary, profit or 

loss on disposal is calculated as the difference between (i) 

the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received 

and the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previ-

ous carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and 

liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests 

and other components of equity, and is recognised in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss under ‘Property re-

valuation and capital gains’. 

When assets of the subsidiary are carried at revalued 

amounts or fair values and the related cumulative gain 

or loss has been recognised in other comprehensive in-

come and accumulated in equity, the amounts previously 

recognised in other comprehensive income and accumu-

lated in equity are accounted for as if the Company had 

directly disposed of the relevant assets (i.e. reclassified 

to profit or loss or transferred directly to retained earn-

ings as specified by applicable IFRS). The fair value of any 

investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date 

when control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial 

recognition for subsequent accounting under IFRS 9 Fi-

nancial Instruments or IAS 28 Investments in Associates 

and Joint Ventures.

The accounting policies set out below have been applied 

consistently to all periods presented in these consoli-

dated financial statements and have been applied by all 

entities in the Group. Where necessary, adjustments are 

made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring 

their accounting policies into line with those of the Group.
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3.3. PROPERTY ACQUISITIONS AND BUSINESS 

COMBINATIONS

Where property is acquired, via corporate acquisitions or 

otherwise, management considers the substance of the 

assets and activities of the acquired entity in determin-

ing whether the acquisition represents the acquisition of 

a business. Where such acquisitions are not determined 

to be an acquisition of a business, they are not treated as 

business combinations. Rather, the cost to acquire the cor-

porate entity or assets and liabilities is allocated between 

the identifiable assets and liabilities of the entity based on 

their relative values at the acquisition date. Such a trans-

action or event does not give rise to goodwill.

3.4.  BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

The Group determines that it has acquired a business 

when the acquired set of activities and assets include an 

input and a substantive process that, together, significant-

ly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The acquired 

process is considered substantive if it is critical to the abil-

ity to continue producing outputs, and the inputs acquired 

include an organised workforce with the necessary skills, 

knowledge, or experience to perform that process or it sig-

nificantly contributes to the ability to continue producing 

outputs and is considered unique or scarce or cannot be 

replaced without significant cost, effort, or delay in the 

ability to continue producing outputs.

Business combinations are accounted for using the acqui-

sition method. The cost of an acquisition is measured as 

the aggregate of the consideration transferred, which is 

measured at acquisition date fair value, and the amount 

of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree. For each 

business combination, the Group elects whether to mea-

sure non-controlling interests in the acquiree that are 

present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a 

proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event 

of liquidation, at fair value or at the proportionate share 

of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. Other types of 

non-controlling interests are measured at fair value or, 

when applicable, on the basis specified in another IFRS. 

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the ac-

quirer will be recognised at fair value at the acquisition date 

and included as part of the consideration transferred in a 

business combination. Contingent consideration classified 

as equity is not remeasured and its subsequent settlement 

is accounted for within equity. Contingent consideration 

classified as an asset or liability that is a financial instru-

ment and within the scope of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, 

is measured at fair value with the changes in fair value rec-

ognised in the statement of profit or loss in accordance with 

IFRS 9. Other contingent consideration that is not within the 

scope of IFRS 9 is measured at fair value at each reporting 

date with changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

Changes in the fair value of the contingent consideration 

that qualify as measurement period adjustments are ad-

justed retrospectively, with corresponding adjustments 

against goodwill. Measurement period adjustments are 

adjustments that arise from additional information ob-

tained during the ‘measurement period’ (which cannot ex-

ceed one year from the acquisition date) about facts and 

circumstances that existed at the acquisition date.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the finan-

cial assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classifi-

cation and designation in accordance with the contractual 

terms, economic circumstances and pertinent conditions 

as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation of 

embedded derivatives in host contracts by the acquiree.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired 
and the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair val-
ue at the acquisition date, except that:

 » deferred tax assets or liabilities and liabilities or as-
sets related to employee benefit arrangements are 
recognised and measured in accordance with IAS 12 In-
come Taxes and IAS 19 Employee Benefits respectively;

 » liabilities or equity instruments related to share based 
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share based 
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to 
replace share based payment arrangements of the ac-
quiree are measured in accordance with IFRS 2 Share 
based Payment at the acquisition date; and

 » Assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held 
for sale in accordance with IFRS 5 Non current Assets 
Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations are mea-
sured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost (being the excess of the 
aggregate of the consideration transferred and the amount 
recognised for non-controlling interests and any previous in-
terest held over the net identifiable assets acquired and lia-
bilities assumed). If the fair value of the net assets acquired 
is in excess of the aggregate consideration transferred, the 
Group re-assesses whether it has correctly identified all of 
the assets acquired and all of the liabilities assumed and re-
views the procedures used to measure the amounts to be 
recognised at the acquisition date. If the reassessment still 
results in an excess of the fair value of net assets acquired 
over the aggregate consideration transferred, the gain is rec-
ognised in profit or loss.
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After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any 
accumulated impairment losses. For the purpose of impair-
ment testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination 
is, from the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s 
cash-generating units (CGUs) that are expected to benefit 
from the combination, irrespective of whether other assets or 
liabilities of the acquiree are assigned to those units.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a CGU and part of the 
operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill asso-
ciated with the disposed operation is included in the carry-
ing amount of the operation when determining the gain or 
loss on disposal. Goodwill disposed in these circumstances is 
measured based on the relative values of the disposed oper-
ation and the portion of the CGU.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is incom-
plete by the end of the reporting period in which the combi-
nation occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts for the 
items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those provi-
sional amounts are adjusted during the measurement period 
(see above), or additional assets or liabilities are recognised, 
to reflect new information obtained about facts and circum-
stances that existed at the acquisition date that, if known, 
would have affected the amounts recognised at that date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred and in-
cluded in administrative expenses.

3.5.  INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES AND EQUITY - 
ACCOUNTED INVESTEES

An associate is an entity over which the Group has signifi-
cant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor an inter-
est in a joint venture. Significant influence is the power to 
participate in the financial and operating policy decisions 
of the investee but is not control or joint control over those 

policies. A jointly controlled entity is an entity in which two 

or more parties have interest.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and 

equity-accounted investees are incorporated in these con-

solidated financial statements using the equity method 

of accounting, except when the investment is classified 

as held for sale, in which case it is accounted for in ac-

cordance with IFRS 5 Non current Assets Held for Sale 

and Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, 

an investment in an associate is initially recognised in the 

consolidated statement of financial position at cost and 

adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the 

consolidated income statement and other comprehen-

sive income of the associate. When the Group’s share of 

losses of an associate exceeds the Group’s interest in that 

associate (which includes any long term interests that, in 

substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the 

associate), the Group discontinues recognizing its share of 

further losses. Additional losses are recognised only to the 

extent that the Group has incurred legal or constructive 

obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the Group’s 

share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets, liabil-

ities and contingent liabilities of an associate recognised 

at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which 

is included within the carrying amount of the investment. 

Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value of the 

identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities over 

the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of IAS 36 are applied to determine 

whether it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss 

with respect to the Group’s investment in an associate. 

When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the in-

vestment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in 

accordance with IAS 36 Impairment of Assets as a single 

asset by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of val-

ue in use and fair value less costs to sell) with its carrying 

amount; any impairment loss recognised forms part of the 

carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of that 

impairment loss is recognised in accordance with IAS 36 to 

the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment 

subsequently increases.

When an entity in the Group transacts with its associate, 

profits and losses resulting from the transactions with the 

associate are recognised in the Group’s consolidated finan-

cial statements, however only to the extent of interests in 

the associate that are not related to the Group.

3.6. REVENUE RECOGNITION

The Group’s key sources of income include:

 » Rental income

 » Revenue from contracts with customers:

 » Services to tenants including management charges and 

other expenses recoverable from tenants

 » Sale of properties – inventories and investment property

The accounting for each of these elements is discussed 

below:

Rental income

The Group earns revenue from acting as a lessor in operating 

leases which do not transfer substantially all of the risks and 

rewards incidental to ownership of an investment property. 

Rental income arising from operating leases on investment 

property is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the 
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lease term and is included in revenue in the consolidat-

ed statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature, 

except for contingent rental income which is recognised 

when it arises. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 

and arranging an operating lease are capitalised to the in-

vestment property and recognised as an expense over the 

lease term on the same basis as the lease income.

Lease incentives that are paid or payable to the lessee are 

deducted from lease payments. Accordingly, tenant lease in-

centives are recognised as a reduction of rental revenue on a 

straight-line basis over the term of the lease. The lease term 

is the non-cancellable period of the lease together with any 

further term for which the tenant has the option to continue 

the lease, where, at the inception of the lease, the Group is 

reasonably certain that the tenant will exercise that option. 

Revenue from services to tenants

For investment property held primarily to earn rental in-

come, the Group enters as a lessor into lease agreements 

that fall within the scope of IFRS 16. These agreements 

include certain ancillary services offered to tenants (i.e., 

customers). The consideration charged to tenants for these 

services includes fees and reimbursement of certain ex-

penses incurred. These services are specified in the lease 

agreements and separately invoiced. The Group has de-

termined that these services constitute distinct non-lease 

components (transferred separately from the right to use 

the underlying asset) and are within the scope of IFRS 15. 

The Group allocates the consideration in the contract to 

the separate lease and revenue (non-lease) components 

on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.

In respect of the revenue component, these services repre-

sent a series of daily services that are individually satisfied 

over time because the tenants simultaneously receive and 
consume the benefits provided by the Group. The Group 
applies the time elapsed method to measure progress.

The Group arranges for third parties to provide certain of 
these services to its tenants. The Group concluded that it acts 
as a principal in relation to these services as it controls the 
specified services before transferring them to the customer. 
Therefore, the Group records revenue on a gross basis.

Sale of property 

The Group enters into contracts with customers to sell 
properties that are either complete or under development. 

The sale of completed property constitutes a single per-
formance obligation and the Group has determined that 
this is satisfied at the point in time when control transfers. 
For unconditional exchange of contracts, this generally oc-
curs when legal title transfers to the customer. For condi-
tional exchanges, this generally occurs when all significant 
conditions are satisfied.

For contracts relating to the sale of properties under de-
velopment, the Group is responsible for the overall man-
agement of the project and identifies various goods and 
services to be provided. In such contracts, the goods and 
services are not distinct and are generally accounted for as 
a single performance obligation. Depending on the terms 
of each contract, the Group determines whether control is 
transferred at a point in time or over time.

The Group has elected to make use of the following prac-
tical expedients:

 » Contract costs incurred related to contracts with an 
amortization period of less than one year have been ex-
pensed as incurred.

 » The Group applies the practical expedient in paragraph 

121 of IFRS 15 and does not disclose information about 

remaining performance obligations for contracts in 

which the Group has a right to consideration from ten-

ants in an amount that corresponds directly with the 

value to the tenant of the Group’s performance com-

pleted to date.

 » The Group does not adjust the transaction price for 

the effects of significant financing component since at 

contract inception it is expected that the period be-

tween when the entity transfers the services to ten-

ants and when the tenants pay for these services will 

be one year or less.

3.7. FINANCE INCOME AND EXPENSES AND OTHER 

FINANCIAL RESULTS

Finance income comprises interest income on funds invested.

Finance expenses comprise interest expense on bank 

loans, third party borrowings and bonds.

Other financial results represent changes in the time value 

of provisions, changes in the fair value of traded securi-

ties, gains or losses on derivative financial instruments, 

borrowing and redemption costs, loan arrangement fees, 

dividend income and other one-off payments.

Financial expenses are recognised as they are incurred in 

the consolidated statement of profit or loss, using the ef-

fective interest method.
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3.8.  TAXES

Current tax

Current income tax assets and liabilities are measured 
at the amount expected to be recovered from or paid to 
taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to 
compute the amount are those that are enacted, or sub-
stantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries 
where the Group operates and generates taxable income.

Current income tax relating to items recognised directly 
in other comprehensive income or equity is recognised in 
other comprehensive income (OCI) or in equity and not in 
the statement of profit or loss. Management periodically 
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulations are subject 
to interpretation and establishes provisions where appro-
priate.

Current tax also includes taxes on the holding of real es-
tate property and construction.

Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided using the liability method on tem-
porary differences between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting 
purposes at the reporting date.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable tem-
porary differences, except: 

 » When the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recog-
nition of goodwill or of an asset or liability in a transaction 
that is not a business combination and, at the time of the 
transaction, affects neither accounting profit nor taxable 
profit or loss 

 » In respect of taxable temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries, branches and associ-
ates and interests in joint arrangements, when the timing 
of the reversal of the temporary differences can be con-
trolled and it is probable that the temporary differences 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible tem-
porary differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits 
and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are rec-
ognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit 
will be available against which the deductible temporary 
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits 
and unused tax losses can be utilised, except:

 » When the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible 
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects 
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss.

 » In respect of deductible temporary differences associated 
with investments in subsidiaries, branches and associates 
and interests in joint arrangements, deferred tax assets 
are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that 
the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable 
future and taxable profit will be available against which 
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed 
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that it 
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be 
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be 
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are re-assessed 
at each reporting date and are recognised to the extent 
that it has become probable that future taxable profits will 
allow the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax 
rates that are expected to apply in the year when the asset 
is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and 
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted 
at the reporting date.

In accounting for the deferred tax relating to the lease, the 
Group considers both the lease asset and liability separate-
ly. The Group separately accounts for the deferred taxation 
on the taxable temporary difference and the deductible 
temporary difference, which upon initial recognition, are 
equal and offset to zero. Deferred tax is recognised on sub-
sequent changes to the taxable and temporary differences.

Deferred tax relating to items recognised outside profit or 
loss is recognised outside profit or loss. Deferred tax items 
are recognised in correlation to the underlying transaction 
either in OCI or directly in equity.

Tax benefits acquired as part of a business combination, but 
not satisfying the criteria for separate recognition at that 
date, are recognised subsequently if there is new informa-
tion about changes in facts and circumstances. The adjust-
ment is either treated as a reduction in goodwill (as long as 
it does not exceed goodwill) if it was incurred during the 
measurement period or recognised in profit or loss.

The Group offsets deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabil-
ities if, and only if, it has a legally enforceable right to set off 
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred 
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same tax-
able entity or different taxable entities which intend either to 
settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to 
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in 
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred 
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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3.9. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT

Owner-occupied properties are measured at fair value less 

accumulated depreciation and impairment  losses recognised 

after the date of revaluation. Valuations are performed with 

sufficient frequency to ensure that the carrying amount of a 

revalued asset does not differ materially from its fair value.

A revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive in-

come and credited to the asset revaluation surplus in equity. 

However, to the extent that it reverses a revaluation deficit 

of the same asset previously recognised in profit or loss, the 

increase is recognised in profit and loss. A revaluation deficit 

is recognised in the statement of profit or loss, except to the 

extent that it offsets an existing surplus on the same asset 

recognised in the asset revaluation surplus.

Equipment includes furniture, fixtures and office equip-

ment and is measured at cost less accumulated deprecia-

tion and impairment losses.

Depreciation is recognised in profit or loss using the 

straight line method over the useful lives of each part of 

an item of equipment. 

The annual depreciation rates used for the current and 

comparative periods are as follows:

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment

Property 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are 

reassessed at the reporting date.

Where the carrying amount of an asset is greater than its 

estimated recoverable amount, the asset is written down 

immediately to its recoverable amount.

Expenditure for repairs and maintenance is charged to profit 

or loss of the year in which it is incurred. The cost of major 

renovations and other subsequent expenditure are includ-

ed in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable 

that future economic benefits in excess of the originally as-

sessed standard of performance of the existing asset will 

flow to the Group. Major renovations are depreciated over 

the remaining useful life of the related asset.

An item of equipment is derecognised upon disposal or 

when no future economic benefits are expected to arise 

from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss aris-

ing on the disposal or retirement of an item of property 

and equipment is determined as the difference between 

the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset 

and is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit 

and loss.

3.10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in profit or 

loss as incurred.

Development expenditure is capitalised only if the expen-

diture can be measured reliably, the product or process 

is technically and commercially feasible, future economic 

benefits are probable and the Group intends to and has 

sufficient resources to complete development and to use 

or sell the asset. Otherwise, it is recognised in profit or 

loss as incurred. Subsequent to initial recognition, devel-

opment expenditure is measured at cost less accumulated 

amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.

Other intangible assets that are acquired by the Group 

and have finite useful lives are measured at cost less ac-

cumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment 

losses.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised only when it in-
creases the future economic benefits embodied in the 
specific asset to which it relates. All other expenditure, in-
cluding expenditure on internally generated goodwill and 
brands, is recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

Amortisation is calculated to write off the cost of intangi-
ble assets less their estimated residual values using the 
straight-line method over their estimated useful lives and 
is generally recognised in profit or loss. 

The estimated useful lives for current and comparative pe-
riods are as follows: 

software 

Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if appropriate.

Goodwill arising on the acquisition of subsidiaries is mea-
sured at cost less accumulated impairment losses.

3.11. DEFERRED INCOME

Deferred income represents income which relates to fu-
ture periods.

 » Prepayments

The Group receives prepayments from tenants for an-
cillary services and other charges on a monthly basis. 
Once a year, the prepayments received from tenants are 
settled against the operating cost receivables. 

 » Tenancy deposits

Tenancy deposits are paid to ensure the tenant occu-
pied real estate is returned in good condition. The ten-
ancy deposits can also be used if a loss of rent occurs.

%

7-33

3

%
20-33
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3.12. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Investment property comprises property that is held, to 

earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Property 

held under a lease is classified as investment property 

when it is held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation 

or both, rather than for sale in the ordinary course of busi-

ness or for use in production or administrative functions.

Investment property comprises principally properties that 

are not occupied substantially for use by, or in the oper-

ations of, the Group, nor for sale in the ordinary course 

of business, but are held primarily to earn rental income 

and capital appreciation. These buildings are substantially 

rented to tenants and not intended to be sold in the ordi-

nary course of business.

Investment property is measured initially at cost, including 

directly attributable expenditure such as transfer taxes, pro-

fessional fees for legal services and other transaction costs.

Subsequent to initial recognition, investment property is 

stated at fair value, which reflects market conditions at 

the reporting date. Gains or losses arising from changes 

in the fair values of investment property are included in 

profit or loss in the period in which they arise, including 

the corresponding tax effect. 

Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only 

when there is evidence of a change in use (such as com-

mencement of development or inception of an operating 

lease to another party). For a transfer from investment 

property to inventories, the deemed cost for subsequent 

accounting is the fair value at the date of change in use. 

If an inventory property becomes an investment property, 

the difference between the fair value of the property at the 

date of transfer and its previous carrying amount is rec-

ognised in profit or loss. The Group considers as evidence 
the commencement of development with a view to sale 
(for a transfer from investment property to inventories) 
or inception of an operating lease to another party (for a 
transfer from inventories to investment property).

Investment property is derecognised either when it has 
been disposed of (i.e., at the date the recipient obtains con-
trol of the investment property in accordance with the re-
quirements for determining when a performance obligation 
is satisfied in IFRS 15) or when it is permanently withdrawn 
from use and no future economic benefit is expected from 
its disposal. The difference between the net disposal pro-
ceeds and the carrying amount of the asset is recognised in 
“Property revaluations and capital gains” in the consolidat-
ed statement of profit or loss in the period of derecognition. 
In determining the amount of consideration to be included 
in the gain or loss arising from the derecognition of invest-
ment property, the Group considers the effects of variable 
consideration, the existence of a significant financing com-
ponent, noncash consideration, and consideration payable 
to the buyer (if any) in accordance with the requirements for 
determining the transaction price in IFRS 15.

Refer to the note 3.14 “Non-current assets held for sale” 
on the accounting for investment property classified by 
held for sale.

3.13. TRADING PROPERTY (INVENTORIES)

Property acquired or being constructed for sale in the ordi-
nary course of business, rather than to be held for rental or 
capital appreciation, is held as inventory property and is mea-
sured at the lower of cost and net realisable value (NRV).

Cost incurred in bringing each property to its present loca-
tion and condition includes:

 » Freehold and leasehold rights for land
 » Amounts paid to contractors for development
 » Planning and design costs, costs of site preparation, pro-

fessional fees for legal services, property transfer taxes, 
development overheads and other related costs

NRV is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course 
of the business, based on market prices at the reporting 
date, less estimated costs of completion and the estimat-
ed costs necessary to make the sale.

When an inventory property is sold, the carrying amount 
of the property is recognised as an expense in the period 
in which the related revenue is recognised. The carrying 
amount of inventory property recognised in profit or loss is 
determined with reference to the directly attributable costs 
incurred on the property sold and an allocation of any other 
related costs based on the relative size of the property sold.

3.14. NON-CURRENT ASSETS HELD FOR SALE

The Group classifies non-current assets (principally in-
vestment property) and disposal groups as held for sale 
if their carrying amounts will be recovered principally 
through a sale transaction rather than through continuing 
use. Non-current assets and disposal groups classified as 
held for sale (except for investment property measured 
at fair value) are measured at the lower of their carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell. Costs to sell are 
the incremental costs directly attributable to the disposal 
of an asset (disposal group), excluding finance costs and 
income tax expense.

The criteria for held for sale classification is regarded as 
met only when the sale is highly probable and the asset 
or disposal group is available for immediate sale in its 
present condition. Actions required to complete the sale 
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should indicate that it is unlikely that significant changes 
to the sale will be made or that the decision to sell will be 
withdrawn. Management must be committed to the plan 
to sell the asset and the sale is expected to be completed 
within one year from the date of the classification.

Investment property held for sale continues to be measured 
at fair value. Assets and liabilities classified as held for sale 
are presented separately in the statement of financial position.

When the Group is committed to a sale plan involving loss 
of control of a subsidiary, all of the assets and liabilities of 
that subsidiary are classified as held for sale when the cri-
teria described above are met, regardless of whether the 
Group will retain a non-controlling interest in its former 
subsidiary after the sale.

3.15. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

A financial instrument is any contract that gives right to 
a financial asset of one entity and a financial liability or 
equity instrument of another entity.

I. FINANCIAL ASSETS

i. Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified at initial recognition as sub-
sequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through 
other comprehensive income (OCI), or fair value through 
profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition 
depends on the financial assets’ contractual cash flow char-
acteristics and the Group’s business model for managing 
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not 
contain a significant financing component or for which the 
Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initial-

ly measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case 
of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not contain a 
significant financing component or for which the Group has 
applied the practical expedient are measured at the transac-
tion price determined under IFRS 15. See note 3.6.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured 
at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give 
rise to cash flows that are ‘solely payments of principal 
and interest (SPPI)’ on the principal amount outstanding. 
This assessment is referred to as the SPPI test and is per-
formed at an instrument level.

The Group’s business model for managing financial as-
sets refers to how it manages its financial assets in order 
to generate cash flows. The business model determines 
whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual 
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery 
of assets within a time frame established by regulation 
or convention in the marketplace (regular way trades) are 
recognised on the trade date, i.e., the date that the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset.

ii. Subsequent measurement

For the purposes of subsequent measurement, financial 
assets are classified in four categories:

1. Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
2. Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling 

of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)
3. Financial assets designated at fair value through OCI 

with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon 
de-recognition (equity instruments)

4. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets at amortised cost if 
both of the following conditions are met:
 » The financial asset is held within a business model with 

the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect 
contractual cash flows, and

 » The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount out-
standing.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently mea-
sured using the effective interest rate (EIR) method and 
are subject to impairment. Gains or losses are recognised 
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified 
or impaired refer to expected credit loss model in deter-
mined impairment.

Financial assets at fair value through OCI (debt instruments)

The Group measures debt instruments at fair value 
through OCI if both of the following conditions are met:

 » The financial asset is held within a business model with 
the objective of both holding to collect contractual cash 
flows and selling, and

 » The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments 
of principal and interest on the principal amount out-
standing.

For debt instruments at fair value through OCI, interest in-
come, foreign exchange revaluation and impairment loss-
es or reversals are recognised in consolidated statement 
of profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for 
financial assets measured at amortised cost. The remain-
ing fair value changes are recognised in OCI. Upon de-rec-
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ognition, the cumulative fair value change recognised in 

OCI is recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through OCI (equity instruments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify 

irrevocably its equity investments as equity instruments 

designated at fair value through OCI when they meet 

the definition of equity under IAS 32 and are not held 

for trading. The classification is determined on an instru-

ment-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never re-

cycled to profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as other 

financial results in the consolidated statement of profit 

or loss when the right of payment has been established, 

except when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a 

recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which 

case, such gains are recorded in OCI. Equity instruments 

designated at fair value through OCI are not subject to im-

pairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss in-

clude financial assets held for trading, financial assets 

designated upon initial recognition at fair value through 

profit or loss, or financial assets mandatorily required to 

be measured at fair value. Financial assets are classified 

as held for trading if they are acquired for the purpose 

of selling or repurchasing in the near term. Derivatives, 

including separated embedded derivatives, are also clas-

sified as held for trading unless they are designated as 

effective hedging instruments. Financial assets with cash 

flows that are not solely payments of principal and in-

terest are classified and measured at fair value through 

profit or loss, irrespective of the business model. Not-

withstanding the criteria for debt instruments to be clas-

sified at amortised cost or at fair value through OCI, as 

described above, debt instruments may be designated at 

fair value through profit or loss on initial recognition if 

doing so eliminates, or significantly reduces, an account-

ing mismatch. 

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are car-

ried in the consolidated statement of financial position at 

fair value with net changes in fair value recognised in the 

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Dividends on listed equity instruments are also recognised 

as other financial results in the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss when the right of payment has established.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a finan-

cial liability or non-financial host, is separated from the 

host and accounted for as a separate derivative if: the 

economic characteristics and risks are not closely related 

to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms 

as the embedded derivative would meet the definition of 

a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured at 

fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives 

are measured at fair value with changes in fair value rec-

ognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs if there 

is either a change in the term of the contract that signifi-

cantly modifies the cash flows that would otherwise be 

required or a reclassification of a financial asset out of the 

fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing 

a financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The 

financial asset host together with the embedded deriva-

tive is required to be classified entirely as a financial asset 

at fair value through profit or loss.

iii. De-recognition

Financial asset (or, where applicable, part of a financial 

asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is pri-

marily de-recognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s con-

solidated statement of financial position) when:

 » The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have ex-

pired, or

 » The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows 

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the 

received cash flows in full without material delay to a third 

party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) 

the Group has transferred substantially all the risks and 

rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither trans-

ferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards 

of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash 

flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through 

arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has re-

tained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has 

neither transferred nor retained substantially all of the 

risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control 

of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the trans-

ferred asset to the extent of its continuing involvement. In 

that case, the Group also recognises an associated liabil-

ity. The transferred asset and the associated liability are 

measured on the basis that reflects the rights and obliga-

tions that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee 

over the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the 

original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum 

amount of consideration that the Group could be required 

to repay.
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iv. Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit 
losses (ECLs) for all debt instruments not held at fair val-
ue through profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference 
between the contractual cash flows due in accordance 
with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group 
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the 
original effective interest rate. The expected cash flows 
will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held or 
other credit enhancements that are integral to the contrac-
tual terms.

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures 
for which there has not been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit 
losses that result from defaults events that are possible 
within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those 
credit exposures for which there has been a significant 
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, a loss al-
lowance is required for credit losses expected over the 
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of 
the default (a lifetime ECL). The Group presumes that the 
credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly 
since initial recognition when contractual payments are 
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group has rea-
sonable and supportable information that demonstrates 
otherwise. 

Lifetime ECL represents the expected credit losses that 
will result from all possible default events over the expect-
ed life of a financial instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL 
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to 
result from default events on a financial instrument that 
are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.

For trade receivables, the Group applies a simplified ap-

proach in calculating ECLs. Therefore, the Group does 
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a 
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting 
date. The Group has established a provision that is based 
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for for-
ward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the eco-
nomic environment.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when 
internal or external information indicates that the Group 
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts 
in full before taking into account any credit enhancements 
held by the Group or when there is a breach of financial cov-
enants by the debtor. Irrespective of the above analysis, the 
Group considers that default has occurred when a financial 
asset is more than 90 days past due unless the Group has 
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate 
that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate. 
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable 
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

II. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

i. Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as 
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans 
and borrowings, payables or as derivatives designated as 
hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value 
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net 
of directly attributable transaction costs.

ii. Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their 
classification, as described below:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss in-

clude financial liabilities held for trading and financial lia-

bilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair value 

through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if they 

are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in the near 

term. This category also includes derivative financial in-

struments entered into by the Group that are not designat-

ed as hedging instruments in hedge relationships as de-

fined by IFRS 9. Separated embedded derivatives are also 

classified as held for trading unless they are designated as 

effective hedging instruments.

Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are recognised 

in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition at 

fair value through profit or loss are designated at the initial 

date of recognition, and only if the criteria in IFRS 9 are 

satisfied. The Group has not designated any financial lia-

bility as at fair value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

This is the category most relevant to the Group. After ini-

tial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings are 

subsequently measured at amortised cost using the EIR 

method. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss 

when the liabilities are de-recognised as well as through 

the EIR amortization process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any 

discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that 

are an integral part of the EIR. 
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iii. De-recognition

A financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation un-
der the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. When 
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the 
same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an 
exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of 
the original liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference in the respective carrying amounts is rec-
ognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

III.  OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the 
net amount is reported in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if there is a currently enforceable legal 
right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an in-
tention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and 
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

IV.   SHARE CAPITAL

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs 
directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are rec-
ognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

V. TREASURY SHARES

When shares recognised as equity are repurchased, the 
amount of the consideration paid including acquisition di-
rect costs is recognized as a deduction from equity. Repur-
chased shares are classified as treasury shares, presented 
in the treasury share reserve and are not revaluated after 
the acquisition. When treasury shares are subsequently 
sold or reissued, the amount received is recognized as an 
increase in equity and the resulting surplus or deficit on 

the transaction is presented in the share premium.

VI. CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Convertible bonds, that can be converted to share capital 
at the option of the holder and the number of shares to be 
issued is fixed are separated into liability and equity compo-
nent based on the terms of the contract. 

On issuance of the convertible bonds, the fair value of the 
liability component is determined using a market rate for an 
equivalent non-convertible instrument. This amount is clas-
sified as a financial liability measured at amortised cost (net 
of transaction costs) until it is extinguished on conversion 
or redemption.

The remainder of the proceeds is allocated to the conversion 
option that is recognised and included in equity. Transaction 
costs are deducted from equity, net of associated income 
tax. The carrying amount of the conversion option is not 
re-measured in subsequent years.

Transaction costs are apportioned between the liability and 
equity components of the convertible bonds, based on the 
allocation of the proceeds to the liability and equity compo-
nents when the instruments are initially recognised.

On conversion, the financial liability is reclassified to equity 
and no gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated state-
ment of profit or loss.

VII.  PERPETUAL NOTES

Perpetual notes have no maturity date and may be redeemed 
by the Company, at its sole discretion, on certain dates. The 
Perpetual notes are recognised as equity attributable to its 
holders, which forms part of the total equity of the Group. 
The Company may, at its sole discretion, elect to defer the 

payment of interest on the notes (referred to as Arrears of 

Interest). Arrears of Interest must be paid by the Company 

upon the occurrence of certain events, including but not lim-

ited to, dividends, distributions or other payments made to 

instruments such as the Company’s ordinary shares, which 

rank junior to the Perpetual notes. Upon occurrence of such 

an event, any Arrears of Interest would be re-classified as 

a liability in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. 

The deferred amounts shall not bear interest.

3.16. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS  

  AND HEDGE ACCOUNTING

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as for-

ward currency contracts, interest rate swap and cross-cur-

rency swap contracts, to hedge its foreign currency risks, 

interest rate risks and fair value risks. Such derivative finan-

cial instruments are initially recognised at fair value on the 

date on which a derivative contract is entered into and are 

subsequently re-measured at fair value. Derivatives are car-

ried as financial assets when the fair value is positive and as 

financial liabilities when the fair value is negative.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

 » Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to chang-

es in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability or an 

unrecognised commitment.

 » Cash flow hedges when hedging the exposures to vari-

ability in cash flows that is either attributable to a par-

ticular risk associated with a recognised asset or liability 

or a highly probable forecast transaction or the foreign 

currency risk in an unrecognised firm commitment.

 » Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation.
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At the inception of a hedge relationship, the Group formally 
designates and documents the hedge relationship to which 
it wishes to apply hedge accounting and the risk manage-
ment objective and strategy for undertaking the hedge.

The documentation includes identification of the hedg-
ing instrument, the hedged item, the nature of the risk 
being hedged and how the Group will assess whether 
the hedging relationship meets the hedge effectiveness 
requirements (including the analysis of sources of hedge 
ineffectiveness and how the hedge ration is determined). 
A hedging relationship qualifies for hedge accounting if it 
meets all of the following effectiveness requirements:

 » There is ‘an economic relationship’ between the hedged 
item and the hedging instrument.

 » The effect of credit risk does not ‘dominate the value 
changes’ that result from that economic relationship.

 » The hedge ratio of the hedging relationship is the same 
as that resulting from the quantity of the hedged item 
that the Group actually hedges and the quantity of the 
hedging instrument that the Group actually uses to 
hedge that quantity of hedge item. Hedges that meet 
all the qualifying criteria for hedge accounting are ac-
counted for and further described below:

 » Fair value hedges
The change in the fair value of a hedging instrument 
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss. The change in the fair value of the hedged item 
attributable to the risk hedged is recorded as part of 
the carrying value of the hedged item and is also rec-
ognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

The Group designates only the spot element as a hedg-
ing instrument. The forward element is recognised in 
OCI and accumulated in a separate component of equity 

under cost of hedging reserve as time period related el-

ement and amortised to the consolidated statement of 

profit or loss over the hedged period.

If the hedged item is derecognised, the unamortised fair 

value is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

 » Hedge of net investments in foreign operations

Hedges of a net investment in a foreign operation, includ-

ing a hedge of monetary item that is accounted for as part 

of the net investment, are accounted for as follows: 

 − The Group designates only the spot element as a hedging 

instrument. The forward element is recognised in OCI and 

accumulated in a separate component of equity under cost 

of hedging reserve as time period related element and am-

ortised to the consolidated statement of profit or loss over 

the hedged period.

 − Gains or losses on the hedging instrument relating to the 

effective portion of the hedge are recognised as OCI while 

any gains or losses relating to the ineffective portion are 

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. 

 − On disposal of the foreign operation, the cumulative val-

ue of any such gains or losses recorded in equity is trans-

ferred to the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

3.17. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement 

of financial position and in the consolidated statement of 

cash flow comprise cash at banks and on hand and short-

term highly liquid deposits with an original maturity of three 

months or less, that are readily convertible to a known 

amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of 

changes in value.

3.18. PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES

This item includes operating costs that can be recharged 

to the tenants and direct management costs of the proper-

ties. Maintenance expenses for the upkeep of the property 

in its current condition, as well as expenditure for repairs 

are charged to the consolidated income statement. Refur-

bishment that takes place subsequent to the property val-

uation, thus excluded in its additional value, will also be 

stated in this account, until the next property valuation.

3.19. OPERATING SEGMENTS

The Group has one reportable operating segment which 

refers to rental income from owned investment properties.

An operating segment is a component of the Group that 

meets the following three criteria: 

 » Is engaged in business activities from which it may earn 

revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and 

expenses relating to intragroup transactions;

 » whose operating results are regularly reviewed by the 

Group’s chief operating decision maker to make deci-

sions about resources to be allocated to the segment 

and assess its performance; and

 » For which separate financial information is available.

The Group has one reportable operating segment which 

refers to rental income from owned investment properties.

3.20. COMPARATIVES

Where necessary, comparative figures have been adjust-

ed to conform to changes in presentation in the current 

period.
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3.21. EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share are calculated by dividing the net 

profit attributable to owners of the Company by the 

weighted number of Ordinary shares outstanding during 

the period. Basic earnings per share only include shares 

that were actually outstanding during the period. Poten-

tial Ordinary shares (convertible securities such as con-

vertible debentures, warrants and employee options) 

are only included in the computation of diluted earnings 

per share when their conversion decreases earnings per 

share or increases loss per share from continuing opera-

tions. Further, potential Ordinary shares that are convert-

ed during the period are included in diluted earnings per 

share only until the conversion date and from that date in 

basic earnings per share. The Company’s share of earn-

ings of investees is included based on the earnings per 

share of the investees multiplied by the number of shares 

held by the Company.

3.22. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT TRANSACTIONS 

The grant-date fair value of equity-settled share-based 

payment awards granted to employees is generally rec-

ognised as an expense, with a corresponding increase in 

equity, over the vesting period of the awards. The amount 

recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect the number 

of awards for which the related service and non-market 

performance conditions are expected to be met, such that 

the amount ultimately recognised is based on the number 

of awards that meet the related service and non-market 

performance conditions at the vesting date. 

3.23. PROVISIONS FOR OTHER LIABILITIES  

AND  CHARGES

Provisions are recognised when there is a present obliga-

tion, either legal or constructive, vis-à-vis third parties as 

a result of a past event, if it is probable that a claim will 

be asserted, and the probable amount of the required pro-

vision can be reliably estimated. Provisions are reviewed 

regularly and adjusted to reflect new information or 

changed circumstances.

Provisions include provisions for operating and administra-

tive liabilities, as well as accruals of interest on straight 

and convertible bonds which have not become payable as 

at the reporting date.

3.24. LEASED ASSETS

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a con-

tract is, or contains, a lease. That is, if the contract conveys 

the right to control the use of an identified asset for a peri-

od of time in exchange for consideration. 

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement 

approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and 

leases of low-value assets. The Group recognises lease li-

abilities to make lease payments and right-of-use assets 

representing the right to use the underlying assets. 

I) Right-of-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the com-

mencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying 

asset is available for use). Initially, the right-of-use assets 

are measured at cost and adjusted for any remeasurement 

of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes 

the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct 

costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the 

commencement date less any lease incentives received. 

In addition, the Group leases properties that meet the defi-

nition of investment property. The right-of-use assets are 

classified and presented as part of the line item ‘Invest-

ment property’ in the statement of financial position and 

subsequently measured at fair value.

II) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group rec-

ognises lease liabilities measured at the present value of 

lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease 

payments include fixed payments (including in-substance 

fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable, vari-

able lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and 

amounts expected to be paid under residual value guaran-

tees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of 

a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by the 

Group and payments of penalties for terminating the lease, 

if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to 

terminate. Variable lease payments that do not depend on 

an index or a rate are recognised as expenses (unless they 

are incurred to produce inventories) in the period in which 

the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group 

uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commence-

ment date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is 

not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the 

amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion 

of interest and reduced for the lease payments made. In ad-

dition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if 
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there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change 
in the lease payments (e.g., changes to future payments re-
sulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine 
such lease payments) or a change in the assessment of an 
option to purchase the underlying asset. IFRS 16 requires cer-
tain adjustments to be expensed, while others are added to 
the cost of the related right-of-use asset.

The Group presents cash payments for interest portion of 
lease liabilities under “interest and other financial expens-
es, net” in the consolidated statement of cash flows. 

III) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition ex-
emption to short-term leases of equipment (i.e., those 
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from 
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase 
option). It also applies the lease of low-value assets rec-
ognition exemption to leases of office equipment that are 
considered to be low value. Lease payments on short-term 
leases and leases of low-value assets are recognised as 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

Refer to accounting policies on rental income in note 3.6.

3.25. STANDARDS ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

The new and amended standards and interpretations that 
are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance 
of the Group’s financial statements are disclosed below, 
if they are expected to have an impact on the Group’s fi-
nancial statements. The Group intends to adopt these new 
and amended standards and interpretations, if applicable, 
when they become effective.

The following amendments were adopted by the EU, but 
not yet effective in 2021:

With effective date of 1 January 2022:

 » Amendments to IFRS 3 Business Combinations
Amendments were made to IFRS 3 Business Combina-
tions to update the references to the Conceptual Frame-
work for Financial Reporting and add an exception for 
the recognition of liabilities and contingent liabilities 
within the scope of IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Li-
abilities and Contingent Assets and Interpretation 21 
Levies. The amendments also confirm that contingent 
assets should not be recognised at the acquisition date.

 » Amendments to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment
The amendment to IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equip-
ment (PP&E) prohibits an entity from deducting from 
the cost of an item of PP&E any proceeds received 
from selling items produced while the entity is pre-
paring the asset for its intended use. It also clarifies 
that an entity is testing whether the asset is func-
tioning properly when it assesses the technical and 
physical performance of the asset. The financial per-
formance of the asset is not relevant to this assess-
ment. Entities must disclose separately the amounts 
of proceeds and costs relating to items produced that 
are not an output of the entity’s ordinary activities.

 » Amendments to IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabili-
ties and Contingent Assets
The amendment to IAS 37 clarifies that the direct costs 
of fulfilling a contract include both the incremental 
costs of fulfilling the contract and an allocation of other 
costs directly related to fulfilling contracts. Before rec-

ognising a separate provision for an onerous contract, 
the entity recognises any impairment loss that has oc-
curred on assets used in fulfilling the contract.

 » Annual Improvements 2018-2020
The following improvements were finalised in May 2020:

 ▪ IFRS 9 Financial Instruments – clarifies which fees 
should be included in the 10% test for derecognition of 
financial liabilities.

 ▪ IFRS 16 Leases – amendment of illustrative example 
13 to remove the illustration of payments from the 
lessor relating to leasehold improvements, to remove 
any confusion about the treatment of lease incentives.

 ▪ IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 
Reporting Standards – allows entities that have mea-
sured their assets and liabilities at carrying amounts 
recorded in their parent’s books to also measure any 
cumulative translation differences using the amounts 
reported by the parent. This amendment will also ap-
ply to associates and joint ventures that have taken 
the same IFRS 1 exemption.

 ▪ IAS 41 Agriculture – removal of the requirement for enti-
ties to exclude cash flows for taxation when measuring 
fair value under IAS 41. This amendment is intended to 
align with the requirement in the standard to discount 
cash flows on a post-tax basis.

These amendments are not expected to have a material 
impact on the Group.

The Group has not early adopted any standard, interpretation 
or amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective.
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4. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The following table presents the Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities measured and recognised at fair value at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 on a recurring basis:

As at 31 December 2021 As at 31 December 2020

Fair value measurement using Fair value measurement using

Carrying 
amount

Total fair 
value

Quoted prices 
in active 
market

(Level 1)

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)

Carrying 
amount

Total fair 
value

Quoted prices 
in active 
market

(Level 1)

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs 
(Level 3)

€’000

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss(*) 410,570 410,570 175,638 77,163  157,769 308,877 308,877 232,597 76,280 -

Derivative financial assets 43,633   43,633   -     43,633   -     63,024 63,024       -   63,024 -

Total financial assets 454,203 454,203 175,638 120,796  157,769 371,901 371,901 232,597 139,304 -

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Derivative financial liabilities 106,891   106,891    - 106,891   -     41,249 41,249    -   41,249 -

Total financial liabilities 106,891   106,891   -     106,891   -     41,249 41,249        -   41,249 -

(*) including non-current financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, see note 13.

London Bremen
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Fair value hierarchy

Level 1: the fair value of financial instruments traded in ac-

tive markets (such as debt and equity securities) is based 

on quoted market prices at the end of the reporting period.

Level 2: the fair value of financial instruments that are not 

traded in an active market (for example, over-the-coun-

ter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques 

which maximise the use of observable market data and 

rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all 

significant input required to fair value of financial instru-

ment are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: if one or more of the significant inputs is not ba-

sed on observable market data, the instrument is included 

in level 3.

The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers into and trans-

fers out of fair value hierarchy levels as at the end of the 

reporting period.

When the fair value of financial assets and financial lia-

bilities recorded in the consolidated statement of finan-

cial position cannot be measured based on quoted prices 

in active markets, their fair value is measured using val-

uation techniques including the discounted cash flows 

(DCF) model. The inputs to these models are taken from 

observable markets where possible, but where this is not 

feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establish-

ing fair values. Judgements include considerations of input 

such as liquidity risk, credit risk and volatility. Changes in 

assumptions relating to these factors could affect the re-

ported fair value of financial instruments and is discussed 

further below.

The Group also has a number of financial instruments which are not measured at fair value in the consolidated statement of financial position. For the majority of these instruments, 
the fair values are not materially different to their carrying amounts, since interest receivable/payable is either close to current market rates or the instruments are short-term in nature. 
Significant differences were identified for the following instruments as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:

As at 31 December 2021 As at 31 December 2020

Fair value measurement using Fair value measurement using

Carrying 
amount

Total fair 
value

Quoted 
prices in ac-
tive market

(Level 1)

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobserva-
ble inputs 
(Level 3)

Carrying 
amount

Total fair 
value

Quoted 
prices in ac-
tive market

(Level 1)

Significant 
observable 

inputs 
(Level 2)

Significant 
unobserva-
ble inputs 
(Level 3)

€’000

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Straight bonds(*) 3,642,285   3,779,314   3,599,216   180,098   - 3,498,478 3,834,864 3,643,580 191,284 -

Convertible bond(*) 449,595   451,283   451,283   -     - 277,614       286,183 286,183 -   -

Total financial liabilities 4,091,880   4,230,597   4,050,499   180,098   - 3,776,092      4,121,047 3,929,763 191,284 -

(*) including bond redemption
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Valuation techniques used to determine fair values:
The following methods and assumptions were used to es-
timate the fair values: 

 » The fair values of the quoted bonds are based on price 
quotations at the reporting date. The fair value of unquot-
ed bonds is measured using the discounted cash flows 
method with observable inputs.

 » There’s an active market for the Group’s listed equity in-
vestments and quoted debt instruments.

 » For the fair value measurement of investments in unlisted 
funds, the net asset value is used as a valuation input and 
an adjustment is applied for lack of marketability and re-
strictions on redemptions as necessary. This adjustment 
is based on management judgment after considering the 
period of restrictions and the nature of the underlying in-
vestments.

 » The Group enters into derivative financial instruments 
with various counterparties, principally financial institu-
tions with investment grade credit ratings. Interest rate 
and foreign exchange swap and forward, collar and cap 
contracts are valued using valuation techniques, which 
employ the use of market observable inputs. The most 
frequently applied valuation technique includes forward 
pricing and swap models using present value calculations. 
The models incorporate various inputs including the credit 
quality of counterparties, foreign exchange spot and for-
ward rates, yield curves of the respective currencies, cur-
rency basis spreads between the respective currencies, 
interest rate curves and forward rate curves.

Essen
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5. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES AND NON-
CONTROLLING INTERESTS

 » During the year, the Group obtained control over several 
portfolios through acquisitions of companies, including 
obtaining control over its equity-accounted investees. The 
transactions did not meet the definition of business com-
bination. The purchases of these companies were treated 
as acquisition of a group of assets and liabilities, without 
recognition of goodwill. 

The acquisition costs, net of the fair value of interests pre-
viously accounted for using the equity method and loans 
granted in previous periods, amounted to euro 27 million. 
The total acquisition costs were allocated between the as-
sets acquired and the liabilities assumed based on their 
relative fair value at the purchase date. As part of the ac-
quisition, the Group initially consolidated investment prop-
erty of euro 356 million, loans and borrowings of euro 201 
million and recognised euro 17 million non-controlling in-
terests. See also note 14.

 » During the year, the Group changed its holdings rates in 
several subsidiaries without losing control. The carrying 
amount of the Group’s interest and non-controlling inter-
ests was adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative 
interest in the subsidiaries, in the amount of euro 2 million 
and is presented in the consolidated statement of changes 
in equity. The results of the transactions are recognised 
directly in equity attributed to the owners of the Company.

6. REVENUE

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Net rental income 374,550 372,462

Operating and other income  150,079 162,962

524,629 535,424

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Property revaluations  
(see note 16.1)

631,152 289,727

Capital gains  
(see note 25.1)

63,692 53,682

694,844 343,409

7. PROPERTY REVALUATIONS AND CAPITAL GAINS

Mannheim

The Group is not exposed to significant revenue derived from an individual 
customer.

During the year, approximately 80% (2020: 85%) of the Group’s net rental 
income derive from Germany and 20% (2020: 15%) derive from the United 
Kingdom and others.
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8. PROPERTY OPERATING EXPENSES

9. ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER EXPENSES

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Purchased services (159,592) (161,729)

Maintenance and refurbishment (22,449) (27,280)

Personnel expenses (22,059) (24,119)

Other operating costs (13,964) (13,358)

(218,064) (226,486)

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Personnel expenses (4,587) (4,494)

Audit and accounting costs (2,693) (2,514)

Legal and professional consultancy fees (1,913) (1,924)

Marketing and other expenses (1,945) (1,787)

(11,138) (10,719)

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had 809 employees (2020: 882 employees). On an annual average, the Group had 
849 (2020: 916) employees.

During the year, the Group recorded euro 1.9 million (2020: euro 1.9 million) and euro 0.8 million (2020: euro 0.7 million) 
related to audit and audit-related fees provided by KPMG audit firms and other audit firms, respectively, and euro 0.2 mil-
lion (2020: euro 0.2 million) and euro 0.1 million (2020: euro 0.1 million) related to tax and consultancy services provided 
by KPMG audit firms and other audit firms, respectively.
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10. NET FINANCE EXPENSES 
Year ended 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

10.1.  FINANCE EXPENSES

Finance expenses from financial institutions and third parties, net (3,273) (3,770)

Finance expenses from straight and convertible bonds, net (43,177) (48,990)

(46,450) (52,760)

10.2. OTHER FINANCIAL RESULTS

Changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities, net (122,553) (19,876)

Finance-related costs (26,087) (25,794)

(148,640) (45,670)

11.1 TAX RATES APPLICABLE TO THE GROUP

The Company is subject to taxation under the laws of Lux-
embourg. The corporation tax rate for Luxembourg com-
panies is 24.94% (2020: 24.94%). 

The German subsidiaries with property are subject to taxa-
tion under the laws of Germany. Income taxes are calculat-
ed using a federal corporate tax of 15% as of 31 December 
2021 (2020: 15%), plus an annual solidarity surcharge of 
5.5% on the amount of federal corporate taxes payable 
(aggregated tax rate: 15.825%).

German property taxation includes taxes on the holding of 
real estate property.

The Cypriot subsidiaries are subject to taxation under the 
laws of Cyprus. The corporation tax rate for Cypriot com-
panies is 12.5% (2020: 12.5%).

Under certain conditions interest income of the Cypriot 

companies may be subject to defense contribution at the 
rate of 30% (2020: 30%). In such cases this interest will 
be exempt from corporation tax. 

In certain cases, overseas dividend income of Cyprus tax 
resident companies may be subject to special defense 
contribution at a flat rate of 17%. In such case, this div-
idend income will be exempt from Cyprus income (cor-
poration) tax. Under certain conditions, dividend income 
earned from Cyprus tax resident companies is exempt 
from special defense contribution and Cyprus income 
(corporation) tax.     

The United Kingdom subsidiaries with property are subject 
to taxation under the laws of the United Kingdom. Income 
taxes are calculated using a federal corporate tax (that in-
cludes capital gains) of 19% for 31 December 2021 (2020: 
19%). 

On 24 May 2021, the report stage and third reading of the 
UK Finance Bill 2021 in the House of Commons took place 

and the final government amendments were passed. The 
amendments included an increase in the corporation tax 
rate from 19% to 25% with effect from 1 April 2023. 

Subsidiaries in other jurisdictions are subject to corporate 
tax rate of up to 27.9%.

11.2. CURRENT TAX IN CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT  
   OF  PROFIT AND LOSS

11.  TAXATION

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Corporate income tax (25,011) (15,919)

Property tax (14,216) (15,468)

Charge for the year (39,227) (31,387)

Bonn
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11.3. MOVEMENT IN DEFERRED TAX ASSETS (LIABILITIES) NET

11.4. RECONCILIATION OF EFFECTIVE TAX RATEAs at 31 December 2021 the Group has unused tax losses 
for which no deferred tax assets have been recognised as it 
is not considered probable that there will be future taxable 
profits available. These deferred tax assets which have not 
been recognised amounted to approximate euro 29 million 
(2020: 21 million) of which euro 10 million (2020: euro 10 
million) and euro 19 million (2020: euro 11 million) are re-
lated unused tax losses that can be carried forward indef-
initely and for a maximum period of 17 years, respectively.

The Group has applied the initial recognition exemption  
on acquisitions of investment property which did not meet 
the definition of business combination. As at 31 December 
2021, the deferred tax liabilities which have not been rec-
ognised in the consolidated financial statement of financial 
position amounted to euro 90 million (2020: 63 million).

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020

       €’000

Profit before tax 790,898 541,725

Statutory tax rate 24.94% 24.94%

Tax computed at the statutory tax rate 197,250 135,106

Decrease in taxes on income resulting from the following factors:

Group's share of earnings from companies accounted for at equity (986) (890)

Effect of different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in other jurisdictions (89,579) (55,069)

Effect of permanent differences 42,747 (*)13,658

Effect of change in tax rates 17,297 -

Others 7,080 (*)(151)

Tax and deferred tax expenses 173,809 92,654

Fair value gains  
on investment 
property, net

Derivative financial 
instruments, net

Loss  
carried forward

Other Total

€’000

BALANCE AS AT 1 JANUARY 2020 (582,591) 1,111 41,234 (9,683) (549,929)

Credit (charge) to profit or loss for the year (80,564) 1,466 18,313 (482) (61,267)

Credit (charge) to other comprehensive income for the year (9,693) (8,660)                    -   - (18,353)

Deconsolidation 55,557 (109) (8,825)                  -   46,623

Change in liabilities/assets held for sale (681) - (57)                  -   (738)

BALANCE AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2020 (617,972) (6,192) 50,665 (10,165) (583,664)

Credit (charge) to profit or loss for the year (140,220) 1,637 5,909 (1,908) (134,582)

Credit (charge) to other comprehensive income for the year (2,134) 267                    -   - (1,867)

Deconsolidation 18,728 - (3,383)                  -   15,345

Change in liabilities/assets held for sale (2,513) - (1,779)                  -   (4,292)

Balance as at 31 December 2021 (744,111) (4,288) 51,412 (12,073) (709,060)

(*) reclassified
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12.  NET EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE OWNERS OF THE COMPANY

12.1. BASIC EARNINGS PER SHARE 

The calculation of basic earnings per share as of 31 De-
cember 2021 is based on the profit attributable to ordi-
nary shareholders of euro 523,522 thousand (2020: euro 
362,218 thousand), and a weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding of 167,551 thousand (2020: 
169,803 thousand), calculated as follows:

12.2. DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE

The calculation of diluted earnings per share at 31 Decem-
ber 2021 is based on profit attributable to ordinary share-
holders of euro 527,060 thousand (2020: euro 365,625 
thousand), and a weighted average number of ordinary 
shares outstanding after adjustment for the effects of 
all dilutive potential ordinary shares of 181,588 thousand 
(2020: 181,509 thousand), calculated as follows:

Year ended 31 December

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES (BASIC) 2021 2020

€’000

Issued ordinary shares on January 1 171,864 167,896

Capital increase 2,483 1,907 

Share buy-back (6,796) -

Weighted average number of ordinary shares as at 31 December 167,551 169,803 

Basic earnings per share (euro) 3.12 2.13

Year ended 31 December

PROFIT ATTRIBUTED TO ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS (DILUTED) 2021 2020

€’000

Profit for the year, attributable to the owners of the Company (basic) 523,522 362,218 

Expense on convertible bond “Series F”  3,538 3,407 

Profit for the year, attributable to the owners of the Company 
(diluted) 527,060 365,625 

Year ended 31 December

WEIGHTED AVERAGE NUMBER OF ORDINARY SHARES (DILUTED) 2021 2020

€’000

Issued ordinary shares on January 1           171,864 167,896 

Capital increase 2,483 1,907 

Share buy-back (6,796) -

Effect of exercise of convertible bond “Series F”             13,579 11,316 

Effect of warrants                 310 251 

Effect of equity settle share-based payment                 148 139 

Weighted average number of ordinary shares as at 31 December 181,588 181,509 

Diluted earnings per share (euro) 2.90 2.01 

Year ended 31 December

2021 2020

PROFIT ATTRIBUTED TO ORDINARY SHAREHOLDERS (BASIC) €’000

Profit for the year, attributable to the owners of the Company 523,522 362,218
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13.  OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS 15. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL

14.  INVESTMENT IN EQUITY-ACCOUNTED INVESTEES

As at 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Tenancy deposit(1) 40,789 35,334

Investment in other long-term assets(2) 114,950 244,059

Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss(3) 198,657 29,134

Others 5,435 7,357

359,831 315,884

(1) Tenancy deposits mainly include 1-3 months net rent from the tenants which are paid at the beginning of the lease. The 

deposits are considered as a security payment by the tenant and the Group can use those funds mainly if the tenant has 

unpaid debts or causes damages to the property. Past experience shows that the majority of the leases are long term and 

therefore the deposits are presented as long term assets.

(2) Include non-current investments, long term deposit and Group loans to minority and as a seller.

(3) Investment in various equity and debt funds as well as investment as minority stakes without significant influence, all con-

nected with the real estate sector.

On 30 September 2021, the Group obtained control over its associates. As part of the trans-
action, the Group consolidated approximately euro 280 million of investment property and 
assumed a bank loan of approximately euro 166 million. The following table analyses, in 
aggregate, the carrying amount of the Group’s interests in these associates (including loans 
related to these associates) and the share of profit for the year in these associates.

2021 2020

€’000

Carrying amount of the interests in investees  
as at 31 December              -   107,880 

Share of profit from investees for the year  
ended 31 Decemeber         3,952 3,569 

Property, 
Furniture, 
fixtures 

and office 
equipment

Goodwill, 
softwares 
and other 
intangible 

assets Total 

€’000

COST

Balance as at 1 January 2020 21,919   18,461   40,380   

Additions 4,183 3,184 7,367

Deconsolidation (337) (1,779) (2,116)

Balance as at 31 December 2020 25,765 19,866 45,631 

Additions, net 3,708 4,659 8,367 

Transfer from investment property 42,973 -    42,973

Classified as held-for-sale 13 - 13

Initial consolidation 26 - 26

Deconsolidation (243) - (243)

Balance as at 31 December 2021 72,242 24,525  96,767

DEPRECIATION/AMORTISATION

Balance as at 1 January 2020 9,373   3,774   13,147   

Depreciation/Amortisation for the year 2,859 2,183 5,042 

Balance as at 31 December 2020 12,232 5,957 18,189 

Depreciation/Amortisation for the year 4,384 3,851     8,235 

Balance as at 31 December 2021 16,616 9,808  26,424 

CARRYING AMOUNTS

Balance as at 31 December 2021 55,626 14,717  70,343 

Balance as at 31 December 2020 13,533 13,909 27,442
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16.2. GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

2021 2020

Level 3(*) Level 3(*)

€’000

As at 1 January 8,005,893 7,956,034

Plus: investment property classified as held for sale 150,207 196,432

Total investment property 8,156,100 8,152,466

Acquisitions of investment property 757,738 616,830

Capital expenditure on investment property 105,424 83,667

Disposals of investment property (294,222) (920,013)

Fair value adjustment 631,152 289,727

Effect of foreign currency exchange differences 112,348 (66,577)

Transfers (from)/to investment property, net (26,514)                      -   

Total investment property 9,442,026 8,156,100

Less:  investment property classified as held for sale (102,537) (150,207)

As at 31 December 9,339,489 8,005,893

(*) classified in accordance with the fair value hierarchy (see note 4). Since one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the fair value 

measurement is included in level 3.

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the fair values of the properties are based on valuations performed by accredited 
independent valuers.

As at 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Investment property

Germany 7,487,101  6,515,525 

United Kingdom 1,817,587  1,524,423 

Others       137,338  116,152 

9,442,026 8,156,100

16.3. MEASUREMENT OF FAIR VALUE

The fair value of the properties of the Group is determined 
at least once a year by external, independent and certified 
valuators, who are specialist in valuing real estate proper-
ties. The prime valuator, responsible for the major part of 
the portfolio is Jones Lang LaSalle GmbH (JLL) and is consid-
ered as one of the market leading valuators in the European 
real estate market. The fair value of the properties was pre-
pared in accordance with the RICS Valuation- Professional 
Standards (current edition) published by the Royal Institu-
tion of Chartered Surveyors (RICS) as well as the standards 
contained within the TEGoVA European Valuations Stan-
dards, and in accordance with IVSC International Valuation 
Standard (IVS), the International Accounting Standard (IAS), 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as well 
as the current guidelines of the European Securities and 
Market Authority (ESMA) based on the Market Value. This 
is included in the General Principles and is adopted in the 
preparation of the valuations reports of JLL. Therefore, the 
valuation is based on internationally recognized standards.

As part of the engagement, the Company and the valuators 
confirm that there is no actual or potential conflict of inter-
est that may have influenced the valuators status as exter-
nal and independent. The valuation fee is determined on the 
scope and complexity of the valuation.

The fair value of the investment property is determined us-
ing the following valuation methods:

 » Discounted cash flow (DCF) method

Under the DCF method, fair value is estimated using as-
sumptions regarding the benefits and liabilities of owner-
ship over the asset’s life including an exit or terminal value. 
This method involves the projection of a series of cash flows 

16.   INVESTMENT PROPERTY

16.1. RECONCILIATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTY
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on a real property interest. To this projected cash flow se-
ries, an appropriate, market derived discount rate is applied 
to establish the present value of the income stream asso-
ciated with the asset. The exit yield is normally separately 
determined and differs from the discount rate.

The duration of the cash flows and the specific timing of 
inflows and outflows are determined by events such as 
rent reviews, lease renewal and related re-letting, redevel-
opment, and refurbishment. The appropriate durations are 
typically driven by market behaviour that is a characteristic 
of the class of real property.

Periodic cash flows are typically estimated as gross in-
come less vacancy, non-recoverable expenses, collection 
losses on future rents, lease incentives, maintenance cost, 
agent and commission costs and other operating and man-
agement expenses. The series of periodic net operating 
income, along with an estimate of the terminal value an-
ticipated at the end of the projection period, is then dis-
counted. 

 » Comparable approach 

Under the market comparable approach, a property’s fair 
value is estimated based on comparable transactions. The 
market comparable approach is based upon the principle of 
substitution under which a potential buyer will not pay more 
for the property than it will cost to buy a comparable substi-
tute property. The unit of comparison applied by the Group 
is the price per square meter (sqm).

In general, enquiries have been made of the valuers and 
public databases, local sales offices and recent transac-
tions. The main components of the valuation are the lo-
cation of the property, the condition of the property with 
its units; provision of concierge and residents facilities, 
provision and layout of accommodation, as well as market 

sentiment and how the individual units would be received 
by the market. The most recent sales data for individual 
units within the subject property and comparable evidence 
within the immediate area will be taken into account and 
adjusted by premium according to the specifics of the 
property and its units. The achieved market sales price 
per sqm will be multiplied by the area of the property to 
achieve the property specific market value.

 » Residual value approach

The residual value assesses the various factors associat-
ed with a conversion or a new development of a property. 
The goal of this method is to calculate an objective value 
for the site, which is either undeveloped or suboptimally 
utilised. The residual value is determined by first calculat-
ing the net capital value of the property after completion 
of the planned development project. This figure is derived 
by subtracting the non-recoverable operating costs (e.g. 
maintenance and management costs) from the potential 
gross sale value. In order to determine the net capital val-
ue, the purchaser’s costs have to be deducted. The costs 
for the assumed development are subtracted from the net 
capital value, resulting in the remainder (residuum). These 
costs include building fees as well as other required fees, 
which are necessary for the construction of a building, de-
pending on its type of use. 

The additional construction costs are also part of the to-
tal development costs. The following additional costs are 
common for constructions: planning, construction, official 
review and approval costs as well as financing required 
immediately for construction. The amount of additional 
construction costs depends on the type of building, its 
finishes and the location. All of the construction and addi-
tional building costs as well as other project costs includ-
ing financing costs and developer’s profit are subtracted 

from the calculated gross sale value of the completed de-
velopment. The difference of the gross sale value and the 
development costs results in the remainder (residuum). 
In order to acquire the residual value, financing and addi-
tional purchasing costs for the property are deducted from 
this remainder. The residual value represents the amount, 
which an investor would spend for the development of the 
property under specific economic conditions.

As of 31 December 2021, 92% (2020: 92%) of investment 
property have been valued using the discounted cash flows 
method, 4% (2020:3%) comparable approach and 4% 
(2020:5%) residual value approach.

The key assumptions used to determine the fair value of the 
investment properties are further discussed below.

Valuation 
Technique

Significant 
unobservableinputs

As of 31 December

2021 2020

Range (weighted average)

DCF  
method

Rent growth p.a. (%) 0.2 - 2.5 (1.7)
0.2 – 2.1 

(1.4)

Long-term vacancy rate (%) 0.0 - 6.0 (3.3)
0 – 8.6 

(3.8)

Discount rate (%) 2.3 - 8.0 (4.8)
1.9 – 10.9 

(5.1)

Capitalization rate (%) 1.7 - 7.4 (3.9)
1.8 – 8 

(4.1)

Market 
comparable  
approach

Price per sqm (in euro)
3,600 - 17,700 

(8,600)
3,700– 12,650 

(8,500)

Residual 
value 
approach

Sale price per sqm  
(in euro)

3,300 - 17,700 
(8,500)

5,000 - 15,100 
(6,500)

Rent price per sqm  
(in euro)

11.7 - 27.3 (15.8)
11– 24 
(15.8)

Development cost per sqm 
(in euro)

1,100 - 4,800 
(2,700)

1,884 – 6,256 
(2,792)

Developer margin (%) 7.5 - 15.0 (11.8)
 7.5 - 25 

(11.6)
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17.  TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

As at 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Operating cost receivables(1) 144,801 147,453

Rent and other receivables 72,171 80,335

Prepaid expenses 4,689 4,573

Other short-term assets(2) 230,387 162,350

452,048 394,711

During the year, the Group recognised a loss allowance for expected credit losses on trade 
and other receivables for a total amount of euro 9,657 thousand (2020: euro 7,852 thousand).

(1) Operating costs receivables represent a right to consideration in exchange for ancillary services that the Group has trans-

ferred to tenants and other charges billed to tenants. Once a year, the operating cost receivables are settled against 

advances received from tenants (see note 21).

(2) Include non-current prepayments, Group’s loans as seller as well as loans connected with future real estate transactions, 

short term investment and deposits.

Significant increases (decreases) in estimated rental value and rent growth per annum in iso-
lation would result in a significantly higher (lower) fair value of the properties. Significant in-
creases (decreases) in the long-term vacancy rate and discount rate (and exit yield) in isolation 
would result in a significantly lower (higher) fair value.

Generally, a change in the assumption made for the estimated rental value is accompanied 
by a directionally similar change in the rent growth per annum and discount rate (and exit 
yield), and an opposite change in the long-term vacancy rate.

Highest and best use

As at 31 December 2021, the current use of all investment property is considered the high-
est and best use, except for 3% (2020: 3%) of the investment properties, for which the 
Group determined that fair value based the development and the sale of such properties is 
the highest and best use. These properties are currently being used to earn rental income, 
in line with the Group’s business model of buying and holding investment property to earn 
rental income. By increasing the rental income and improving these properties, the value 
of these properties will grow and reach the level of properties being sold.

Berlin
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18.  EQUITY

18.1 SHARE CAPITAL As at 31 December

2021 2020

Number of 
shares

€’000
Number of 

shares
€’000

Authorised

Ordinary shares of euro 0.10 each 400,000,000 40,000 400,000,000 40,000

Issued and fully paid

Balance as of 1 January 171,864,050 17,186 167,895,560 16,790

Issuance of new ordinary share as part of 
scrip dividend

4,323,849 433 3,853,379 385

Issuance of new ordinary shares as part of 
share-based payment

- - 115,111 11

Balance on 31 December 176,187,899 17,619 171,864,050 17,186

18.2. AUTHORISED CAPITAL

The Company’s authorised share capital as of 31 December 
2021 amounts to euro 40,000,000. 

18.3. ISSUED CAPITAL DURING 2020-2021

On 26 July 2021, the Company issued 4,323,849 (2020: 
3,853,379) new shares in total value of euro 83 million 
(2020: euro 67 million) in connection with the scrip divi-
dend. For additional information see note 18.7.

As at 31 December 2021, the subscribed and fully paid-
up share capital amounts to euro 17,619 thousand, repre-
sented by 176,187,899 ordinary shares with par value of 
euro 0.10 per share, including 11,225,841 shares held in 
treasury with no voting rights. See note 18.4 below

18.4. TREASURY SHARES 

a) On 28 January 2021 the Board of Directors resolved to 
utilize the authorization of the Annual General Meeting 
of 24 June 2020 in order to buy back up to 12,500,000 
shares of the Company (corresponding to up to 7.27% of 
the Company’s share capital) by way of a public tender 
offer with a purchase price in the range of euro 20.00 
to euro 21.25 per share. On 17 February 2021 the Com-
pany announced that 3,370,708 shares of the Company 
have been validly tendered into the offer in euro 21.25 
per share in total amount of euro 71,628 thousand. The 
settlement was completed on 23 February 2021.

b) On 15 March 2021 the Board of Directors resolved on 
share buy-back program on the stock exchange by the 
Company or a subsidiary of the Company. The volume 
of the proposed buy-back program was amount to up 
to euro 200 million and was limited to a maximum of 10 

million shares in the Company. The program started on 
16 March 2021 and was valid until 31 December 2021. 
During the period, the Group bought back 8,973,809 
shares for a total amount of euro 200,153 thousand 
(including transaction costs).

As at 31 December 2021, the Group holds 11,225,841 shares 
in treasury. These shares do not have voting rights.  

18.5. SHARE PREMIUM

The share premium derives directly from the capital in-
creases which were affected since the date of incorpora-
tion and from conversions of bonds into shares.

The dividend distributions are paid out of the share premium.

Bremen
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18.6. OTHER RESERVES

The other reserves include shareholder loans that have 
been converted to equity and therefore can be distributed 
at any time, and proceeds from financial instruments and 
share-based payments reserves which temporarily cannot 
be distributed.

In addition, the other reserves include results on buyback 
and redemption of perpetual notes.
In 2015, the Company acquired several portfolios of invest-
ment properties and as part of the consideration the Com-
pany issued to the seller an option to acquire its shares. The 
fair value of the option of euro 7 million has been recorded 
in other reserves in equity.

During the year, the option has been exercised by the sel-
ler, for an additional exercise price of euro 17 million. As a 
result, the Company has transferred 1.1 million shares held 
in treasury to the seller. The other reserve of 7 million has 
been reclassified within the equity to share premium.

18.7. RESOLUTION OF DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

As part of the shareholders’ annual meetings it was re-
solved upon the distribution of cash dividend for the fol-
lowing years: 

On 30 June 2021, the annual general meeting of shareholders 
of the Company has resolved upon the distribution of a div-
idend of euro 0.8232 (gross) (2020: euro 0.8238) per share 
(in total euro 136,433 thousand) to the holders of record on 2 
July 2021. The company has also provided shareholders with 
the option to receive their dividend through a scrip dividend. 
From 1 July 2021 to 13 July 2021, shareholders of the Company 
could elect to receive up to 85% of their dividend in the form 
of shares of the Company, with the remainder paid in cash. 

Shareholders who did not elect to participate in the scrip divi-
dend have received their dividend in cash. The cash dividend 
has been paid in July 2021, and the Company issued 4.3 million 
new shares in total value of euro 83 million on 26 July 2021.

(*) The proposed dividend for the year 2021, based on the Com-

pany’s dividend policy and subject to the shareholders’ Annual 
General Meeting which will take place on 29 June 2022, is euro 
0.83 per share. The proposed dividend has not been recogni-
sed as a liability in the consolidated financial statements.

18.8. PERPETUAL NOTES

Movement during 2020-2021

(a)  On 9 December 2020 the Company issued euro 700 
million in aggregate principal amount of perpetual 
notes. These notes were issued at a price of 98.703% 
of the principal amount. These Perpetual notes are of 
unlimited duration and can be called back by the Com-
pany only on certain contractually fixed dates or occa-
sions. Up until the first call date on 9 June 2026, the 
perpetual notes shall bear a coupon rate of 1.5% p.a. 
In case the Company does not exercise its call right 
at that point, the coupon rate applied until the next 
call date (June 2031) shall correspond to the five-year 
swap rate plus a margin of 218.4 basis points p.a. The 
mark-up will increase by 25 basis points (to 243.4 basis 
points p.a.) as of June 2031 and by another 75 basis 
points (to 318.4 basis points p.a.) as of June 2046.  

(b)  On 11 December 2020 the Company bought back euro 
414.6 million principal amount of perpetual notes with 
coupon rate of 3.75% for a purchase price of 104.635% of 
the nominal amount, excluding any accrued interest. As a 
result of the buyback of more than 80% of the principal 
amount and in accordance with the terms and conditions 
of the perpetual notes, the Company has the right to re-
deem the outstanding amount at par value. 

(c)  On 4 February 2021 the Company redeemed euro 85.4 
million principal amount of perpetual notes with cou-
pon rate of 3.75% for a purchase price of 100% of the 
nominal amount, excluding any accrued interest.

Potsdam

For the 
year

Amount 
per share 
(in cents)

Gross 
amount
(€’000)

Ex-date
Payment 

date

2014 20.00 24,344 25 June 2015 3 July 2015

2015 25.00 38,447 30 June 2016 1 July 2016

2016 68.25 112,468 29 June 2017 1 July 2017

2017 73.00 120,296 30 June 2018 17 July 2018

2018 77.35 129,002 27 June 2019 22 July 2019

2019 82.38 138,407 25 June 2020 14 July 2020

2020 82.32 136,433 1 July 2021 20 July 2021

2021 83.40(*) - - -
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(*) In accordance with the terms and conditions of the incentive share 

plan, the Group withheld 46 thousand (2020: 67 thousand) shares 

equal to the monetary value of the employees’ tax obligation from the 

total number of shares exercised. In addition, 51 thousand shares have 

been settled in cash. As a result, only 19 thousand (2020: 71 thousand) 

shares were transferred from the Company’s shares held in treasury. 

(*) As at 31 December 2021

20. LOANS AND BORROWINGS, STRAIGHT AND 
CONVERTIBLE BONDS

20.1. LOANS AND BORROWINGS

Approx. euro 1.1 billion (2020: euro 1.5 billion) of investment properties 
are encumbered.

All bank loans are generally non-recourse loans with the related assets 
serving, among others, as a security. As at 31 December 2021 under 
the existing loan agreements, the Group is fully compliant with its ob-
ligations and loan covenants to the financing banks. 

Weighted 
average inte-

rest rate (*)
Maturity As at 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Non-current

Bank loans 1.4% 2023-2082 353,073 427,470 

Total non-current 353,073 427,470 

Current

Current portion 
long-term loans 1.4% 2022 5,176 9,667 

Total current 5,176 9,667 

These perpetual notes are presented in the con-
solidated statement of financial position as equity 
reserve attributable to its holders, which is part 
of the total equity of the Group. The coupon is de-
ferrable until payment resolution of a dividend to 
the shareholders. The deferred amounts shall not 
bear interest.

18.9. NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS

The majority of the non-controlling interests is held 
by  Luxembourg Gamma Invest 1 SCSp.

19. SHARE-BASED PAYMENT AGREEMENTS

19.1. DESCRIPTION OF SHARE-BASED  
  PAYMENT ARRANGEMENTS

As of 31 December 2021, the Group had the follow-
ing share-based payment arrangements:

 » Incentive Share plan
On 25 June 2014, the Annual General Meeting 
has approved to authorize the Board of Directors 
to issue up to one million shares for an incentive 
program for the directors, key management per-
sonnel and senior employees. The incentive plan 
has up to four years vesting period with fix and 
specific milestones to enhance management’s 
long-term commitment to the Company’s strate-
gic targets. Main strategic targets are long-term 
improvement in operational and financial targets 
such as increasing NAV per share, FFO per share 
and further improvement in the Group’s rating 
to A-.

 » The key terms and conditions related to the pro-
grams are as follows:

19.2. RECONCILIATION OF OUTSTANDING  
  SHARE OPTIONS

The number and weighted average of shares under 
the share incentive program and replacement awards 
were as follows:

2021 2020

Number 
of shares

Number 
of shares

’000

Outstanding on  January 1 297 384

Granted during the year 232 51

Exercised during the year (*) (116) (138)

Outstanding on 31 December 413 297

During the year, the total amount recognised as share-based payment 
was euro 3,162 thousand (2020: euro 1,561 thousand). It was presented 
as Property operating expenses and as Administrative and other expens-
es in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and as share-based 
payment reserve in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

Grant date
Number  
of shares

Weighted 
vesting 
period

Contractual 
life of the 

shares

January 1,  
2018 – June 

30, 2025

413  
thousand

1.67 years
Up to 4 
years
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20.2 STRAIGHT AND CONVERTIBLE BONDS

Composition Note Nominal amount outstanding Effective coupon Maturity
As at 31 December 

2021 2020

’000 €’000

CONVERTIBLE BOND 

Non - current

Convertible bond series F - 0.25% Mar-2022 - 277,614

- 277,614

Current

Convertible bond series F (3) (g)(i) EUR 450,000 0.25% Mar-2022 449,595 -

Accrued interest on 
convertible bond (2) 370 231

449.965 231

STRAIGHT BONDS

Non-current

Straight bond series E (c)(f)(j) EUR 205,600 1.50% Apr-2025 198,128  533,604   

Straight bond series G EUR 600,000 1.38% Aug-2026 587,510  584,963   

Straight bond series H EUR 255,000 2.00% Oct-2032 243,224  242,136   

Straight bond series I HKD 900,000 (1) 1.00% Feb-2028 101,411  94,083   

Straight bond series J EUR 667,600 1.50% Feb-2027 661,401  660,170   

Straight bond series K CHF 125,000  0.96% Sep-2026 120,572  115,231   

Straight bond series L JPY 7,500,000  1.40% Jun-2038 55,940  57,561   

Straight bond series M (b) EUR 47,000 (1) 1.70% Jul-2033 45,215  44,713   

Straight bond series N EUR 88,000 (1)  3M Euribor + 1.71% Feb-2039 84,847  84,663   

Straight bond series O EUR 15,000 (1)  3M Euribor + 1.68% Feb-2034 14,675  14,648   

Straight bond series P HKD 290,000 (1)  3M Euribor + 1.38% Mar-2029 32,286  29,905   

Straight bond series Q CHF 130,000 0.57% Jun-2024 125,561  119,981   

Straight bond series R EUR 40,000 2.50% Jun-2039 39,798  39,787   

Straight bond series U EUR 80,000 0.75% Jul-2025 79,857  79,817   

Straight bond series V EUR 70,000 (1)  1.50% Aug-2034 69,951  69,949   

Straight bond series W (a)(c)(f)(j) EUR 204,700 1.7% Apr- 2024 202,330  589,951   

Straight bond series X (c) EUR 1,000,000 0.125% Jan - 2028 979,579  -   

3,642,285 3,361,162
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Note
Nominal amount 

outstanding
Effective 
coupon

Maturity
As at 31 December 

2021 2020

’000 €’000

STRAIGHT BONDS

Current

Straight bond series D (3) (e) - 2.00% Oct-2021 - 24,836

Straight bond series S (3) (d) - 0.00% Jan-2021 - 60,495

Straight bond series T (3) (h) - 3M Euribor + 0.60% Jul-2021 - 51,985

Accrued interest on
straight bonds(2) 26,311 30,779

26,311 168,095

As of 31 December 2021, the weighted average interest 
rate on the outstanding loans, borrowings and bonds, 
after taking into account hedging impact, is 1% (2020: 
1.3%)

As of 31 December 2021, the Company has established a 
euro 10 billion EMTN programme. Notes issued under the 
EMTN programme are guaranteed by the Company. 

Movement during 2020-2021

(a)  On 9 April 2020, under the EMTN Programme, the 
Company issued euro 600 million straight bond series 
W due 2024, at an issue price of 98.545% of the princi-
pal amount with euro coupon 1.7%.

(b)  On 15 April 2020 the Company bought back euro 8 
million principal amount of straight bond series M 
with effective euro coupon rate of 1.7% for a purchase 
price of 86% of the nominal amount including swap 
unwind fee.

(c)  On 11 January 2021 under the EMTN Programme, the 
Company issued euro 1 billion straight bond series X 
due 2028, at an issue price of 98.153% of the principal 
amount with euro coupon 0.125%. On the same day, 
the Company bought back euro 272.8 million and euro 
220 million principal amount of straight bond series 
E (due April 2025) and W (due April 2024) for a pur-
chase price of 106.843% and 105.977% of the nominal 
amount respectively, excluding any accrued interest.

(d)  On 25 January 2021 the Company  redeemed  euro 60.5 
million principal amount of straight bond series S.

(e)  On 5 April 2021 the Company redeemed euro 25 million 
principal amount of straight bond series D.

(f)  On 14 May 2021 the Company bought back addition-
al euro 39.6 million and euro 100.4 million principal 
amount of straight bond series E and W for a pur-
chase price of 106.325% and 105.436% of the nominal 
amount respectively, excluding any accrued interest.

(g)  On 8 July, 2021, as a result of the dividend distribu-
tion, the conversion price of the convertible bond se-
ries F has been adjusted from euro 23.9270 to euro 
23.1391.

(1) including hedging impact.

(2) presented in provisions for other liabilities and other charges in the consolidated statement of financial position. 

(3) presented in bond redemption in the consolidated statement of financial position. See also note 33.
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(h)  On 26 July 2021 the Company redeemed euro 52 million 
principal amount of straight bond series T.

(i)  On 29 September 2021, the Company has entered into 
agreement with Edolaxia Group Ltd, in which the Compa-
ny sold euro 169.2 million principal amount of its convert-
ible bond Series F with euro coupon 0.25% (due March 
2022), previously held in treasury, to Edolaxia Group Ltd 
for a total consideration of euro 172.7 million, reflecting 
the bonds’ fair value based on the quoted price as at the 
transaction date, including accrued interest. The Compa-
ny accounted for the transaction as an issuance of con-
vertible bond and recognised a convertible bond liability 
of euro 169.2 million (reflecting the fair value of bonds 
with similar characteristics, without the conversion fea-
ture), and the remainder of the consideration of euro 3.5 
million was recognized as equity.

(j)  On 15 November 2021 the Company bought back ad-
ditional euro 32 million and euro 74.9 million principal 
amount of straight bond series E and W for a purchase 
price of 105.221% and 104.487% of the nominal amount 
respectively, excluding any accrued interest.

COVENANTS

Under its outstanding bond series, the Company has cov-

enanted, among other things, the following (capitalised 

terms have the meanings set forth in the relevant bond 

series):

1. The Company undertakes that it will not, and will pro-

cure that none of its subsidiaries will, up to (and inclu-

ding) the Final Discharge Date, incur any Indebtedness 

if, immediately after giving effect to the incurrence of 

such additional Indebtedness and the application of the 

net proceeds of such incurrence:

a. The sum of: (i) the Consolidated Indebtedness 

(less Cash and Cash Equivalents) as at the Last 

Reporting Date; and (ii) the Net Indebtedness 

(less Cash and Cash Equivalents) incurred since 

the Last Reporting Date would exceed 60% of 

the sum of (without duplication): (i) the Total As-

sets (less Cash and Cash Equivalents) as at the 

Last Reporting Date; (ii) the purchase price of any 

Real Estate Property acquired or contracted for 

acquisition by the Group since the Last Reporting 

Date; and (iii) the proceeds of any Indebtedness 

incurred since the Last Reporting Date (but only 

to the extent that such proceeds were not used to 

acquire Real Estate Property or to reduce Indeb-

tedness); and

b.  The sum of: (i) the Consolidated Secured In-

debtedness (excluding the Series D Bonds, the 

Series E Bonds and any further secured bonds 

of any series and less Cash and Cash Equiva-

lents) as at the Last Reporting Date; and (ii) the 

Net Secured Indebtedness (excluding the Series 
D Bonds and the Series E Bonds and any further 
secured bonds of any series and less Cash and 
Cash Equivalents) incurred since the Last Re-
porting Date shall not exceed 45% of the sum 
of (without duplication): (i) the Total Assets 
(less Cash and Cash Equivalents) as at the Last 
Reporting Date; (ii) the purchase price of any 
Real Estate Property acquired or contracted for 
acquisition by the Group since the Last Repor-
ting Date; and (iii) the proceeds of any Indeb-
tedness incurred since the Last Reporting Date 
(but only to the extent that such proceeds were 
not used to acquire Real Estate Property or to 
reduce Indebtedness);

2. The Company undertakes that, on each Reporting Date, 
the Consolidated Coverage Ratio will be at least 2.0;

3. The Company’s outstanding series of bonds also ge-
nerally prohibit the Company from issuing additional 
bonds with the benefit of security interests unless the 
same security is granted to the Company’s outstanding 
unsecured bonds equally and ratably.

4. The Company undertakes that the sum of: (i) the Unen-
cumbered Assets (less Cash and Cash Equivalents) as 
at the Last Reporting Date; and (ii) the Net Unencumbe-
red Assets (less Cash and Cash Equivalents) newly re-
corded since the Last Reporting Date will at no time be 
less than 125% of the sum of: (i) the Unsecured Indeb-
tedness (less Cash and Cash Equivalents) at the Last 
Reporting Date; and (ii) the Net Unsecured Indebted-
ness (less Cash and Cash Equivalents) incurred since 
the Last Reporting Date;
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The Company has covenanted, among other things, the 
following under its EMTN Programme (capitalised terms 
having the meaning set forth in the EMTN Programme):

1. The Company undertakes that it will not, and will pro-
cure that none of its Subsidiaries will, up to (and inclu-
ding) the Final Discharge Date, incur any Indebtedness 
(other than any Refinancing Indebtedness) if, immedia-
tely after giving effect to the incurrence of such addi-
tional Indebtedness and the application of the net pro-
ceeds of such incurrence, the sum of: 

 

a. (i) the Consolidated Indebtedness (less Cash 
and Cash Equivalents) as at the Last Reporting 
Date; and (ii) the Net Indebtedness (less Cash 
and Cash Equivalents) incurred since the Last 
Reporting Date would exceed 60 per cent. of the 
sum of (without duplication): (i) the Total Assets 
(less Cash and Cash Equivalents) as at the Last 
Reporting Date; (ii) the value of all assets acqui-
red or contracted for acquisition by the Group, 
as determined at the relevant time in accordance 
with IFRS and the accounting principles applied 
by the Issuer in the latest Financial Statements as 
certified by the auditors of the Issuer, since the 
Last Reporting Date; and (iii) the proceeds of any 
Indebtedness incurred since the Last Reporting 
Date (but only to the extent that such proceeds 
were not used to acquire Real Estate Property or 
to reduce Indebtedness); and

b. (i) the Consolidated Secured Indebtedness (ex-
cluding the Secured Notes (if any) and less Cash 
and Cash Equivalents) as at the Last Reporting 

Date; and (ii) the Net Secured Indebtedness (ex-
cluding the Secured Notes (if any) and less Cash 
and Cash Equivalents) incurred since the Last 
Reporting Date would exceed 45 per cent. of the 
sum of (without duplication): (i) the Total Assets 
(less Cash and Cash Equivalents) as at the Last 
Reporting Date; (ii) the value of all assets acqui-
red or contracted for acquisition by the Group, 
as determined at the relevant time in accordance 
with IFRS and the accounting principles applied 
by the Issuer in the latest Financial Statements as 
certified by the auditors of the Issuer, since the 
Last Reporting Date; and (iii) the proceeds of any 
Indebtedness incurred since the Last Reporting 
Date (but only to the extent that such proceeds 
were not used to acquire Real Estate Property or 
to reduce Indebtedness).

2. The Issuer undertakes that the sum of: (i) the Unen-
cumbered Assets (less Cash and Cash Equivalents) as 
at the Last Reporting Date; and (ii) the Net Unencum-
bered Assets (less Cash and Cash Equivalents) newly 
recorded since the Last Reporting Date will at no time 
be less than 125 per cent. of the sum of: (i) the Unsecu-
red Indebtedness (less Cash and Cash Equivalents) at 
the Last Reporting Date; and (ii) the Net Unsecured In-
debtedness (less Cash and Cash Equivalents) incurred 
since the Last Reporting Date.

3. Up to and including the Final Discharge Date, the Issuer 
undertakes that, on each Reporting Date, the Consoli-
dated Coverage Ratio will be at least 1.8.

As at 31 December 2021 under its outstanding bond series 
the Group is fully compliant with its covenants.

London
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20.3. RECONCILIATION OF MOVEMENT OF LIABILITIES TO CASH FLOW ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities from financing activities after hedging impact, including both 
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows, or future cash flows 
will be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows from financing activities.

Finance cash flows Non-cash changes

€’000 31 Dec 2020

Finance 
expenses 

paid
Other cash 

flows(1)

Acquisition 
(disposal) 

of subsidia-
ries, net

Foreign 
exchange 

effect

Change in 
liabilities 
held-for-

sale
Other  

non-cash(2)

Other 
changes(3) 31 Dec 2021

Convertible 
bond(4) 277,845 (703) 172,784 - - - 2,729 (2,690) 449,965

Straight bonds(4) 3,529,257 (42,114) 49,174 - 18,828 - 13,537 99,914 3,668,596

Loans and 
borrowings(5) 437,137 (3,354) (292,648) 201,061 - - - 16,053 358,249

Lease liabilities 55,099 (3,619) - 2,889 677 (3,208) 3,245 3,619 58,702

4,299,338 (49,790) (70,690) 203,950 19,505 (3,208) 19,511 116,896 4,535,512

Finance cash flows Non-cash changes

€’000 31 Dec 2019

Finance 
expenses 

paid
Other cash 

flows(1)

Acquisition 
(disposal) 

of subsidia-
ries, net

Foreign 
exchange 

effect

Change in 
liabilities 
held-for-

sale
Other  

non-cash(2)

Other 
changes(3) 31 Dec 2020

Convertible 
bond(4) 275,139 (703) - - - - 2,706 703 277,845

Straight bonds(4) 2,944,643 (40,967) 580,840 - (12,315) - 8,384 48,672 3,529,257

Loans and 
borrowings(5) 554,372 (6,057) (21,432) (109,849) - 4,337 - 15,766 437,137

Lease liabilities 61,002 (3,610) - (6,344) (509) - 950 3,610 55,099

3,835,156 (51,337) 559,408 (116,193) (12,824) 4,337 12,040 68,751 4,299,338

(1) other cash flows include net proceeds (repayment and amortisation) of bonds and bank loans.

(2) other non-cash changes include discount and issuance cost amortisation for the bonds and remeasurement of lease liabilities.

(3) other changes include interest accruals, results on early repayment of debt and results on linked derivatives, as well as equity portion of the net pro-

ceeds from the sale of convertible bond F held in treasury (see note 20.2(i)).

(4) including accrued interest and bond redemption. See note 20.2.

(5) including current portion of long-term loans. See note 20.1.

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 

22. OTHER NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Trade and other payables 40,833 38,318

Prepayments received from 
tenants(*) 131,815 136,856

Deferred income 11,217 14,072

Other liabilities 31,892 19,819

215,757 209,065

As at 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Tenancy deposits 41,746 36,264

Lease liabilities (see note 22.1) 58,702 55,099

Others (*) 53,882 51,069

154,330 142,432

(*) the Group receives prepayments from tenants for ancillary services and other 

charges on a monthly basis. Once a year, the prepayments received from te-

nants are settled against the operating cost receivables.

(*)  Includes mainly long-term positions with non-controlling interest
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23. PROVISIONS FOR OTHER LIABILITIES  
AND CHARGES

22.1   LEASE LIABILITIES 24. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

24.1. DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL REMUNERATION

24.2. OTHER RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

2021 2020

€’000

As at 1 January 55,099 61,002

Additions (Disposals), net 2,889 (6,343)

Reclassification to held-for-sale (3,208) -

Expenses 7,541 4,050

Payments (3,619) (3,610)

As at 31 December 58,702 55,099

Balance as at 1 January 2020 39,394

Movement during the year 6,382                                              

Balance as at 31 December 2020 45,776

 

Movement during the year (5,998)

Balance as at 31 December 2021 39,778

As at 31 December 2021, all lease liabilities are related to right-

of-use assets accounted for as investment property.
Mr. Refael Zamir, the Company’s CEO and CFO, was entitled to a total remuneration of euro 1,374 thousand, of which euro 
811 thousand was in form of share incentives.

There were no other transactions between the Group and its directors and executive management during the year. For 
further information on the share incentive program see note 19.

During the year, the Company sold euro 169.2 million principal amount of its convertible bond Series F held in treasury 
to Edolaxia Group Ltd. During the fourth quarter, the Group recorded euro 111 thousand finance expenses on convertible 
bond F which relate to Edolaxia Group Ltd’s portion of the convertible bond. For additional information see note 20.2(i).

Set out below are the carrying amounts of lease liabilities of 
the Group as a lessee and the movements during the year: 

For the year ended 31 December 2021

Chairman of the 
Board of Directors

Independent 
director

Independent 
director

Total

€’000
Christian 
Windfuhr

Daniel 
Malkin

Simone 
Runge-Brandner

Fix remuneration(1) 85 112 112 309

Fixed and variable incentive(2) 63 - - 63

Total remuneration 148 112 112 372

For the year ended 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Rental and operating income 1,180           1,400

Interest income on loans to equity-accounted investees (*) 1,518             2,176

Consulting services income 500 500

Consulting services expenses (500) (500)

2,698 3,576

(*) as of 31 December 2021, there is no investment in loans to equity-accounted investees (2020: 88 million). 

(1) including salary, director fee and supplementary payment based on employer cost.

(2) refer to share incentive program and bonus
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25. DISPOSALS 

25.1. DISPOSALS OF INVESTMENT PROPERTY  
  DURING THE YEAR

During the year, the Group disposed several investment 
properties and subsidiaries which held investment proper-
ties. The following table describes the amounts of assets 
and liabilities disposed:

26. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND  
RISKS MANAGEMENT 

26.1. FINANCIAL ASSETS

Set out below, is an overview of financial assets, held by 
the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:

For the year ended 
31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Investment property 294,222 920,013

Other assets, net 3,967 8,239

Loan borrowings - (120,005)

Deferred tax liabilities, net (15,345) (46,623)

Total net assets disposed 282,844 761,624

Non-controlling interests dis-
posed

3,176 21,322

Total consideration 343,360 793,984

Capital gains 63,692 53,682

25.2. ASSETS AND DISPOSAL GROUP HELD-FOR-SALE

The Group resolved an intention to sell several properties. 
These properties were identified by the Group as either 
non-core, primarily due to the location of the properties, 
or mature properties with lower-than-average upside 
potential in their current condition. The intention of the 
Group to dispose non-core and mature properties is part 
of its capital recycling plan of is following a strategic deci-

As at 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS 
HELD-FOR-SALE

Investment property 102,537 150,207

Cash and cash equivalents 605 389

Other assets 10,440 4,419

Total assets classified as held-
for-sale 113,582 155,015

LIABILITIES CLASSIFIED AS 
HELD FOR SALE

Other liabilities 13,508 11,326

Total liabilities classified as held-
for-sale 13,508 11,326

sion to increase the quality of its portfolio.

Some properties are expected to be disposed through 
sale of subsidiaries. Accordingly, assets and liabilities re-
lating to these subsidiaries (“Disposal Group”) and some 
properties which are expected to be disposed through 
asset deals are presented as assets held-for-sale and as 
liabilities held-for-sale in the consolidated statement of 
financial position. 

Efforts to sell the properties have started and a sale is ex-
pected within twelve months.

The major classes of assets and liabilities comprising the 
Disposal Group classified as held-for-sale are as follows:

As at 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT 
AMORTISED COST:

Cash and cash equivalent(1)
896,091   1,412,588   

Trade and other receivables(1)
460,258   397,945   

Other non-current assets(2)
161,174   286,750   

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR  
VALUE THROUGH PROFIT  
OR LOSS:

Financial assets at fair value 
through profit or loss(3)

                         
410,570   308,877   

Derivative financial assets(4)                                
320   43   

Total
                    

1,928,413   2,406,203

(1) including assets held for sale.
(2) excluding non-current financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
(3) including non-current financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

included in other non-current assets (see note 13).
(4) excluding derivative financial assets designated as hedging instruments in 

hedge relationships (see note 27).
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26.2. FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Set out below, is an overview of financial liabilities, held by 
the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:

Interest rate sensitivity

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a rea-
sonably possible change in interest rates on that portion of 
long-term debt affected, after the impact of hedging. With 
all other variables held constant, the Group’s profit before 
tax and pre-tax equity are affected through the impact on 
floating rate long-term debt, as follows:

26.3. RISKS MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND POLICES

The Group’s principal financial liabilities, other than deriv-
atives, comprise loans and borrowings, convertible and 
straight bonds, trade and other payable, tax payable and 
non-current liabilities. The Group’s principal financial as-
sets include trade and other receivables, cash and cash 
equivalent and other non-current asset. The Group also 
holds investments in debt and equity instruments and en-
ters into derivative transactions.

The Group is exposed to market risk, credit risk and liquid-
ity risk. The Board of Directors has overall responsibility 
for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk 
management framework. The Board of Directors is sup-
ported by a risk committee that advices on financial risks 
and the appropriate financial risk governance framework 
for the Group. The Group’s risk management policies are 
established to identify and analyze the risks faced by the 
Group, to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and 
monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management 
policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect 
changes in market conditions and in the Group’s activities.

26.3.1 MARKET RISK

Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash 
flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three 
types of risk: interest rate risk, currency risk and other 
price risk, such as equity price risk. 

Interest rate risk
The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market 
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s long-term 
debt obligations with floating interest rates. The Group 
manages its interest rate risk by hedging long-term debt 

As at 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  AT 
AMORTISED COST:

Trade and other payables(1) 
                        

218,840   211,701

Tax payable
                          

18,541    13,446   

Loans and borrowings(2)                         
358,249    437,137   

Straight bonds(3)                      
3,642,285    3,498,478   

Accrued interest on straight 
bonds(4)

                          
26,311    30,779   

Convertible bond(3)                         
449,595    277,614   

Accrued interest on convertible 
bonds(4)

                              
370    231   

Other non-current liabilities(1) 157,538   142,717

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES  AT 
FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT 
OR LOSS:

Derivative financial liabilities(5)
-      10,041   

Total 4,871,229   4,622,144

(1) including liabilities held for sale.

(2) including current portion of long-term loan.

(3) Including bond redemption.

(4) see note 20.2

(5) excluding derivative financial liabilities designated as hedging instruments in 

hedge relationships (see note 27). 

with floating rate using swap, collar and cap contracts. For 
additional information see note 27.

As at 31 December 2021, after taking into account the ef-
fect of the hedging, the interest profile of the Group’s in-
terest-bearing debt was as follows:

Nominal amount
 outstanding as at 

31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Fixed rate 4,218,534 3,980,329

Capped rate 165,670 113,086

Floating rate 135,831 195,681

4,520,035 4,289,096

Increase/decrease 
in basis points

Effect on profit before 
tax and pre-tax equity

€’000

2021

+100 (2,069)

-100 1,071

2020

+100 (2,779)

-100 2,502
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The Group had no long-term debt for which the benchmark 
rate had been replaced with an alternative benchmark rate 
as at 31 December 2021.  

FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in foreign ex-
change rates relates primarily to the Group’s net invest-
ment in foreign subsidiaries and to several straight bonds 
issued in a foreign currency. 

The Company issued several straight bonds in different 
currencies and in fixed and floating interest. The Company 
used cross currency swap contracts to hedge the fair value 
risk derived from the changes in exchange rates and inter-
est rates as explained in note 27.1.

Due to the hedging above there is no material residual for-
eign currency risk. 

In addition, the Company used forwards contracts to hedge 
the fair value of its net investment in foreign operation which 
operates in British pound (GBP) as explained in note 27.2. 

EQUITY PRICE RISK

The Group’s listed and non-listed equity investments are 
susceptible to market price risk arising from uncertain-
ties about future values of the investment securities. The 
Group manages the equity risk through diversification 
and by placing limits on individual and total equity instru-
ments. Reports on the equity portfolio are submitted to 
the Group’s senior management on a regular basis.

As at 31 December 2021, the exposure to listed equi-
ty instruments was euro 182,815 thousand (2020: euro 
168,653 thousand).

26.3.2 CREDIT RISK

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty will not meet its 
obligations under a financial instrument or customer con-
tract, leading to a financial loss. The Group is exposed to 
credit risk from its operating activities (primarily trade and 
other receivables) and from its financing activities, includ-
ing cash and cash equivalents held in banks, derivatives 
and other financial instruments.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

Customer credit risk is managed by the property managers 
subject to the Group’s established policy, procedures and 
control relating to customer credit risk management. Out-
standing customer receivables are regularly monitored. 

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date 
using a provision to measure expected credit loss. The cal-
culation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the 
time value of money and reasonable and supportable in-
formation that is available at the reporting date about past 
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic 
conditions. The assessment of the correlation between his-
torical observed default rates, forecast economic conditions 
and ECLs is a significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is 
sensitive to changes in circumstances and of forecast eco-
nomic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experi-
ence and forecast of economic condition may also not be 
representative of customer’s actual default in the future.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date 
is the carrying value of each class of financial assets dis-
closed in note 26.1

The aging of rent receivables at the end of the reporting 
period that were not impaired was as follows:

Management believes that the unimpaired amounts that 
are past due by more than 30 days are still collectible in 
full, based on the historical payment behavior and exten-
sive analysis of customer credit risk, including underlying 
customers’ credit ratings if they are available.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND CASH  
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Credit risk from balances with banks and financial institu-
tions is managed by the Group’s treasury department in 
accordance with the Group’s policy. Investments of sur-
plus funds are made only with approved counterparties 
and within credit limits assigned to each counterparty. The 
limits are set to minimise the concentration of risks and 
therefore mitigate financial loss through a counterparty’s 
potential failure to make payments.

The Group’s investment in debt instruments at fair value 
through profit or loss consist of quoted debt securities that 
are graded in the investment category. 

The Group holds its cash and cash equivalents and its deriva-
tive financial instruments with high-rated banks and financial 
institutions with high credit ratings. Concentration risk is mit-
igated by not limiting the exposure to a single counter party.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has recorded euro 536 
thousand ECL allowance on its cash and cash equivalent.

As at 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Neither past due and past due 
1–30 days

17,074 14,431

Past due 31–90 days 13,339 11,604

Past due above 90 days 7,351 8,593

37,764 34,628
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26.3.3 LIQUIDITY RISK

Liquidity risk is the risk that arises when the maturity of assets and liabilities does not match. An unmatched position 
potentially enhances profitability, but can also increase the risk of loss. The Group has procedures with the objective of 
minimizing such losses such as maintaining sufficient cash and other highly liquid current assets and by having available 
an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

The following are the remaining contractual maturities at the end of the reporting period and at the end of 2020 of financial 
liabilities, including estimated interest payments, the impact of derivatives and excluding the impact of netting agreements:

26.3.4 OPERATING RISK

Operational risk is the risk that derives from the deficien-
cies relating to the Group’s information technology and 
control systems as well as the risk of human error and 
natural disasters.  The Group’s systems are evaluated, 
maintained and upgraded continuously.

26.3.5 OTHER RISKS

Through ordinary course of business, the Company is ex-
posed to various external risks. The Risk Committee is con-
stantly determining whether the infrastructure, resources, 
and systems are in place and adequate to maintain a satis-
factory level of risk. The potential risks and exposures are 
related, inter alia, to volatility of interest rate risk, liquidi-
ty risks, credit risks, regulatory and legal risks, collection 
and tenant deficiencies, the need for unexpected capital 
investments, and market downturn risk.

Grand City Properties S.A. sets direct and specific guide-
lines and boundaries to mitigate and address each risk, 
hedging and reducing to a minimum the occurrence of fail-
ure or potential default. 

 » Brexit

On 29 March 2017, the United Kingdom (UK) informed the 
European Council about its intention to withdraw from the 
European Union (EU). Following extended negotiations 
between all stakeholders as well as a fresh election in the 
country, the UK parliament voted in favor of the withdraw-
al from the EU and officially withdrew from the EU on 31st 
January 2020 and both the UK and the EU entered a tran-
sitionary period during which time the future nature of this 
relationship was under negotiations. These negotiations 
concluded on 30th December 2020 when the UK and EU 

Contractual cash flows including interest

As at 31 December 2021 Carrying 
amount

Total
2 months 

or less
2-12  

months
1-2 years 2-3 years

More than 
3 years

€’000

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Loans and borrowings(1) 358,249 387,777           1,224           8,969       169,569           5,403 202,612 

Straight bonds 3,642,285 3,938,101          13,811          26,105         30,285        354,091 3,513,809 

Convertible bond(2) 449,595 450,563                -   450,563               -                  -                   -   

Lease liabilities 58,702       1,014,119                -             3,553          3,553           3,553 1,003,460 

Trade and other payables 215,757         215,757 35,960       179,797                -                  -                   -   

Derivative financial  
liabilities(3) 85,699 132,476 - 36,016 39,274 51,186 -

Total 4,810,287 6,138,793 50,995 705,003 242,681 420,233 4,719,881 

Contractual cash flows including interest

As at 31 December 2020 Carrying 
amount

Total
2 months 

or less
2-12  

months
1-2 years 2-3 years

More than 
3 years

€’000
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Loans and borrowings(1)  437,137  574,747  585  13,397  68,281  14,026  478,458 

Straight bonds(2)  3,498,478  3,933,828  72,682  116,729  51,377  51,377  3,641,663 

Convertible bond  277,614  281,853  -   702 281,151  -    -   

Lease liabilities  55,099  890,749  -    3,215  3,215  3,215  881,104 

Trade and other payables 209,065  209,065  34,844  174,221  -    -    -   
Derivative financial  
liabilities(3) 6,171 14,936 - - 6,094 8,032 -

Total 4,483,564 5,905,178  108,111  308,264 410,118 76,650  5,001,225

(1) including current portion of long-term loans
(2) including bond redemption
(3) including foreign currency forward contracts - see note 27.2
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signed the EU-UK trade and cooperation agreement, which 

was subsequently ratified by the UK parliament. Although a 

trade deal has been agreed upon, uncertainties remain with 

regards to aspects such as data sharing and more impor-

tantly, financial services. Since it has become official, the 

impacts of Brexit are expected to be seen in the following 

periods and may have an adverse impact on the economies 

of the UK and the EU. The current uncertainties could weigh 

on the Group’s operational and financial performance. 

The company maintains a diversified portfolio supported by 
investments in locations with their own distinct economic 
drivers. The London portfolio constitutes of 19% of the in-
vestment portfolio, while the remaining portfolio is focused 
on German densely populated metropolitan regions

 » Coronavirus

The Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic started in December 
2019 and has disrupted the global economy. Due to the fo-
cus of the Group on residential properties which has been 
proven resilient in the pandemic, the Company has not expe-
rienced and does not anticipate any significant direct impact 
to its internal business operations due to the virus. However, 
a deterioration of the economic environment as a result of 
the coronavirus pandemic could have an adverse impact on 
tenants’ ability to pay rent, which in turn could be a strain 
on the Company’s performance. the Group’s diversified port-
folio acts as an effective buffer in this scenario along with 
the fact that the portfolio is under-rented and thereby rel-
atively lesser of a burden on tenants. Extended periods of 
lockdowns and additional restrictions could have an adverse 
impact on the broader economy as well as tenants’ incomes.

Regardless of these risks, the Group maintains a conserva-
tive financial policy and a strong liquidity position amount-

ing to approx. euro 1.1 billion as of December 2021, shield-
ing the Company in case of a significant downturn.  

 » Inflation and interest rates

The Coronavirus pandemic and the disruption of the global 
economy have resulted in significant supply and demand 
shocks, which have further resulted in higher inflationary 
pressures in much of 2021 and into 2022. The inflationary 
pressure is further driven by monetary policies and eco-
nomic stimulus which have been provided to mitigate the 
negative economic impact of the pandemic. Inflationary 
pressure has been particularly strong in material costs and 
energy prices in 2021 and there is much uncertainty as to 
the development of prices in the coming periods. Higher 
levels of inflation particularly for materials and energy may 
have an impact on the Group’s ability to acquire materials 
for Capex measures at a reasonable price and increase util-
ity costs across the Company’s operations. Furthermore, 
higher levels of inflation across the economy may result 
in higher personnel expenses and expenses related to ex-
ternal services, which could have a negative impact on the 
Group’s profitability. In addition, higher levels of inflation 
may lead to increases in interest rates, which could nega-
tively impact borrowing costs on one hand and put upward 
pressure on discount rates and cap rates, which may have 
an adverse impact on the fair value of the Group’s assets 
and on the Company’s share price performance.

Increases in material costs will have an impact on the cost 
of Capex projects for the Company, however, material 
costs generally form a relatively smaller component of to-
tal Capex and maintenance expenses and a large share of 
Capex projects are executed at the Company’s discretion. 
These projects can usually be deferred if costs increase 
to such an extent that they become uneconomical. The 

Company is able to offset some of these expenses due to 
its economies of scale. In general, energy prices are not a 
material cost in the Group’s operations and therefore the 
Company does not expect a material impact on the Com-
pany’s profits from higher energy prices. The Company 
believes that, while increases in personnel expenses are 
likely to have an impact on its cost structure, efficiency 
gains and internal growth, as well as cost recovery from 
tenants, will be able to offset such higher expenses. Re-
garding potentially higher interest rates, the Company has 
a high interest hedge ratio, with 97% of its debt protected 
against interest rate increases. Furthermore, due to bal-
anced and long maturity schedule with limited near-term 
maturities and a strong liquidity position of approx. euro 1.1 
billion the Company does not face material refinancing risk 
at higher rates in the near term. Furthermore, the Compa-
ny’s low leverage of 35%, well below the Company’s con-
servative Board of Directors’ limit of 45% and higher bond 
covenant levels, leaves significant headroom in the event 
of downward portfolio value revisions.

 » Berlin elections and expropriation referendum 

The 2021 Berlin State election and the Berlin expropriation 
referendum were held on the 26th of September 2021. The 
expropriation referendum “Deutsche Wohnen & Co. en-
teignen” was held following an initiative which started in 
2018, and for which enough valid signatures were received 
to put the referendum to the vote of the Berlin population. 
At the referendum voters were asked whether they sup-
ported the expropriation of all private real estate compa-
nies which own 3,000 or more units in the city of Berlin, 
a policy which would affect roughly a quarter million out 
of the 1.5 million apartments in Berlin. The costs estima-
tion for the expropriation from the initiative’s organizers 
was euro 7.3 billion to euro 13.7 billion whereas the Berlin 
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Senate estimated costs between euro 30 billion to euro 37 
billion. In addition, the Berlin Senate anticipates an annual 
shortfall of euro 100 million to euro 340 million of oper-
ating and financing expenses in excess of current rental 
income of the properties in question. The results of the 
referendum were 57.6% in favor, 39.8% opposed, however 
the results are not binding. The stance of the new mayor 
of Berlin (Ms. Giffey, SPD) during the campaign was in op-
position to expropriation, she repeated her negative view 
on the expropriation after the election outcome. Following 
the election and referendum the new coalition, comprising 
of the SPD, Grüne and Die Linke, set up a commission of 
legal experts to assess whether it is possible under con-
stitutional law to implement an expropriation as per the 
referendum’s result. 

Creating and maintaining a high standard of living, while 
maintaining affordability for its tenants is a core part of the 
Group’s business. While the Company understands fears 
among the wider population related to increasing housing 
costs, The Company strongly believes that expropriation of 
landlords based merely on portfolio size is not an appropri-
ate response and does not create a solution for underlying 
issues, resulting in a net negative outcome for the parties in-
volved. The Company does not believe that expropriation is a 
legally sound solution to the supply and demand imbalance 
in the Berlin housing market. The Company sees its opinion 
reflected by the opinions of most experts and by the stance 
of the Berlin coalition. In addition, the Company expects that, 
if legally permissible, expropriation would result in a financial 
burden to the City of Berlin which it can’t carry. The Compa-
ny therefore does not expect that expropriation is a realistic 
outcome.

27. HEDGING ACTIVITIES AND DERIVATIVES

The Group is exposed to certain risks relating to its ongoing 
business operations. The primary risks managed using de-
rivative instruments is interest rate risk and currency risk.

The Group’s risk management strategy and how it is ap-
plied to manage risk are explained in note 26.3.

As at 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 
ASSETS

Derivatives that are designated 
as hedging instruments in fair 
value hedge

27.1 43,313 37,786

Derivatives that are 
designated as hedging 
instruments in net 
investment hedge

27.2 - 25,195

Derivatives that are not 
designated in hedge 
accounting relationships

27.3 320 43

43,633 63,024
DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL  
LIABILITIES

Derivatives that are 
designated as hedging 
instruments in fair value 
hedge

27.1 21,192 25,037

Derivatives that are 
designated as hedging 
instruments in net 
investment hedge

27.2 85,699 6,171

Derivatives that are not 
designated in hedge 
accounting relationships

27.3 - 10,041

106,891 41,249

27.1. DERIVATIVES DESIGNATED AS HEDGING 
  INSTRUMENTS IN FAIR VALUE HEDGE

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had foreign exchange 
rate swap agreements in place, as follows:

In addition, the Group has entered into several interest 
rate swap agreements. For further information regarding 
the effective coupon rate see note 20.2.

The swaps are being used to hedge the exposure to chang-
es in fair value of the Group’s straight bonds which arise 
from foreign exchange rate and interest rate risks.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged 
items and the hedging instruments as the terms of foreign 
exchange rate and interest rate swaps match the terms of 
the hedged items as described above. The Group has estab-
lished a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the hedging relationships as 
the underlying risk of the foreign exchange rate and the in-
terest rate swaps is identical to hedged risk component. To 
test the hedge effectiveness, the Group uses the hypothet-
ical derivative method and compares the changes in the fair 
value of the hedging instruments against the changes in fair 
value of the hedged items attributable to the hedged risk.

Hedging  
instrument(*) Group receives Group pays

’000

Swap HKD 900,000 Euro 92,631 

Swap CHF 125,000 Euro 116,233 

Swap JPY 7,500,000 Euro 75,500 

Swap HKD 290,000 Euro 32,768

Swap CHF 130,000 Euro 119,441

(*) all swaps are linked to bonds’ maturity.



134 GRAND CITY PROPERTIES S.A. ■ Notes to the consolidated financial statements

The hedge ineffectiveness can arise from:

 » Different foreign exchange and interest rates’ curve ap-
plied to the hedge items and hedging instruments

 » Differences in timing of cash flows of the hedged items 
and hedging instruments

 » The counterparties’ credit risk differently impacting the 
fair value movements of the hedging instruments and 
hedged items

The impact of the hedging instruments on the consolidat-
ed statement of financial position is, as follows:

The impact of the hedged items on the consolidated state-
ment of financial position is, as follows:

The ineffectiveness recognised in the consolidated state-
ment of profit or loss was euro 2,465 (2020: 1,561) thou-
sand. 

27.2. DERIVATIVES DESIGNATED AS HEDGING 
   INSTRUMENTS IN NET INVESTMENT IN 
   FOREIGN OPERATION

The Group uses foreign exchange forward contracts as a 
hedge of its exposure to foreign exchange risk on its in-
vestments in foreign subsidiaries. 

The foreign exchange forward contracts are being used to 
hedge the Group’s exposure to the GBP foreign exchange 
risk on these investments. Gains or losses on the retrans-
lation of the forward contracts are transferred to OCI to 
offset any gains or losses on translation of the net invest-
ments in the subsidiaries.

There is an economic relationship between the hedged item 
and the hedging instruments as the net investment creates 
a translation risk that will match the foreign ex change risk 
on the forward contracts. The hedge ineffectiveness will 
arise when the amount of the investment in the foreign 
subsidiaries becomes lower than the amount of the fixed 
rate borrowing.

The impact of the hedging instruments on the consolidat-
ed statement of financial position is, as follows:

Carrying 
amount

Line item 
in the 

consolidated 
financial 

statements

Net change 
in fair value 

used for 
measuring 
ineffective-
ness for the 

period

€’000 €’000

As at 31 December 2021

Straight bonds 650,458
Straight 
bonds

122

As at 31 December 2020

Straight bonds 630,734
Straight 
bonds

6,715
Carrying amount

Risk 
category Assets Liabilities

Line item in  
the 

consolidated 
financial 

statements

Net change in 
fair value used 
for measuring 
ineffectiveness 
for the period

€’000 €’000 €’000

As at 31 
December 
2021

Foreign ex-
change rate 
and interest 
rate swaps

43,313 21,192

Derivative 
financial 
assets/  

liabilities

2,343

As at 31 
December 
2020

Foreign ex-
change rate 
and interest 
rate swaps

37,786 25,037

Derivative 
financial 
assets/ 

liabilities

5,154

Carrying amount

Risk 
category

Notional 
amount 
outstan-

ding Assets Liabilities

Line item 
in the 
conso-
lidated 

financial 
state-
ments

Net change 
in fair value 

used for 
measuring 
ineffective-
ness for the 

year

GB£000 €000 €000 €000

As at 31 
December 
2021

Foreign 
currency 
forward 
contracts

1,599,550 - 85,699

Derivative 
financial 

assets and 
derivative 
financial 
liabilities

(121,790)

As at 31 
December 
2020

Foreign 
currency 
forward 
contracts

1,454,479 25,195 6,171

Derivative 
financial 

assets and 
derivative 
financial 
liabilities

55,070
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Nuremberg / Fürth

The impact of the hedged item on the consolidated state-
ment of financial position is, as follows:

The hedging gains and losses recognised in OCI before tax are 
equal to the change in fair value used for measuring effective-
ness. There is no ineffectiveness recognised in profit or loss.

27.3. DERIVATIVES NOT DESIGNATED AS HEDGING 
   INSTRUMENTS

The Group uses interest rate swaps, collars, caps and floors 
to manage its exposure to interest rate movements on its 
bank borrowings. These derivative financial instruments are 
linked to the bank loans maturity (see note 20.1).

Foreign currency
translation  

reserves

Change in fair 
value used for 

measuring 
ineffectiveness  
for the period

€000

As at 31 December 
2021

Net investment in 
foreign subsidiaries (111,327) (121,790)

As at 31 December 
2020

Net investment in 
foreign subsidiaries 59,264 55,070 

28. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it will be able 
to continue as a going concern while increasing the return to 
owners through striving to keep a low debt to equity ratio. 
The management closely monitors Loan to Value ratio (LTV), 
which is calculated, on an entity level or portfolio level, 
where applicable, in order to ensure that it remains within its 
quantitative banking covenants and maintain a strong credit 
rating. The Group seeks to preserve its conservative capital 
structure with a LTV to remain at a target below 45%. As at 
31 December 2021 and 2020 the LTV ratio was 36% and 31%, 
respectively, and the Group did not breach any of its loan cov-
enants, nor did it default on any other of its obligations under 
its loan agreements. LTV covenant ratio may vary between 
the subsidiaries of the Group. The Company regularly reviews 
compliance with Luxembourg and local regulations regarding 
restrictions on minimum capital. During the years covered by 
these consolidated financial statements, the Company com-
plied with all externally imposed capital requirements.

29. LEASES

The Group has entered into long-term rent agreements 
as a lessor of some of its investment property. The future 
minimum rental income receivable under non-cancellable 
operating leases is as follows:

As at 31 December

2021 2020

€’000

Less than one year 55,210 36,754

One to two years 47,126 31,282

Two to three years 42,565 27,933

Three to four years 36,734 25,362

Four to five yeaes 28,182 21,725

More than five years 142,755 115,028

352,572 258,084                           
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32. GROUP SIGNIFICANT HOLDINGS

The details of the significant holdings in the Group as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

As at 31 December

Place of incorporation Principal activities 2021 Holding % 2020 Holding %

Significant subsidiaries held indirectly by the Company:

Gutburg holding Limited Cyprus Holding of investments 100% 100%

Noeran Limited Cyprus Holding of investments 100% 100%

Garnet 1 Property S.à r.l Luxemburg Holding of investments 100% 100%

GCP Real Estate Holdings GmbH Germany Holding of investments 100% 100%

Carmiliana Limited Cyprus Holding of investments 100% 100%

GCP Holdings GmbH Germany Holding of investments 100% 100%

Sparol Limited Cyprus Holding of investments 94% 94%

Significant Group entities releated to investing in real estate properties in Germany and London and their mother companies.

The holding percentage in each entity equals to the voting rights the holder has in it.

There are no material restrictions  on the ability of the Group to access or use the assets of its subsidiaries to settle the liabilities of the Group.

As at 31 December

Place of incorporation Principal activities 2021 Holding % 2020 Holding %

Significant subsidiaries held directly by the Company:

Grandcity Property Ltd. Cyprus Holding of investments 94.8% 94.8%

Grandcity Holdings Ltd. Cyprus Holding of investments 100% 100%

Grand City Properties Holdings B.V. the Netherlands Holding of investments 100% 100%

Grand City Properties Holdings S.à r.l Luxembourg Holding of investments 100% 100%

30. COMMITMENTS

As at the reporting date, the Group had several financial obligations in total amount of ap-
proximately euro 100 million

31. CONTINGENT ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The Group does not have significant contingent assets and liabilities as at 31 December 2021 
and 2020.

Dresden
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33. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

 » During the first quarter of 2022 the Group repaid debt 
in total amount of euro 616 million, of which euro 450 
million for the redemption of convertible bond F, and 
euro 166 million for a repayment of a bank loan. 

 » During the first quarter of 2022, the Group signed on a 
contract to acquire properties in Berlin in amount of ap-
proximately euro 100 million. The transaction is expect-
ed to be completed during the second quarter of 2022.

 » On 24 February 2022, following several months of in-
creasing escalation, the Russian Federation (Russia) an-
nounced the beginning of a “special military operation” 
in Ukraine. Following the announcement, Russia start-
ed moving military forces into Ukraine and launched 
missile strikes and air-strikes at targets in across 
Ukraine, initiating a full-scale invasion of Ukraine (the 
“Invasion” or the “Conflict”). The Invasion received 
wide-spread international condemnation and on March 
2nd, 2022 the General Assembly of the United Nations, 
under an Emergency Special Sessions, adopted reso-
lution A/RES/ES-11/1, among others, condemning the 
Invasion by Russia and demanding immediate ceasing 
of hostilities and withdrawal of military forces from the 
territory of Ukraine. As of the date of this report hostil-
ities continue. In a reaction to Russian hostilities many 
nations and organisations, including Germany and 
the European Union (EU), have announced sanctions 
against Russia, Russian companies, and individuals in 
and from Russia. These sanctions, as well as increased 
uncertainty resulting from the conflict, have so far re-
sulted in increased volatility in financial markets and 

increases in prices for a range of commodities, particu-
larly in energy prices, among others. A large number of 
Ukrainian refugees have fled the country since the start 
of the conflict, seeking asylum in the EU. In response to 
this the EU invoked the Temporary Protection Directive 
(the “Directive”), granting expanded rights to Ukrainian 
citizens in the EU, granting such citizens residence per-
mits in the EU for the duration of the Directive as well 
as, among others, access to employment, accommoda-
tion, social welfare or means of subsistence, access to 
medical treatment, access to education for minors, and 
more. 

The company is not directly impacted by the Conflict, as 
neither its portfolio nor its operations have direct expo-
sure to Ukraine or Russia. However, the Company may 
be impacted by the indirect consequences of the Conflict. 
Firstly, as a result of the Conflict inflationary pressures 
may increase, specifically heating and energy costs, which 
could have an impact on the operating costs of the Compa-
ny. Such pressures may also have an impact on the ability 
of the Company’s tenants to pay rent and/or for the Com-
pany to recover expenses related to recoverable expenses 
from tenants. Furthermore, higher levels of inflation may 
result in higher interest rates increasing its financing costs 
on one hand, while increased volatility in the capital mar-
kets may reduce the Company’s ability to raise capital at 
attractive prices, further increasing its cost of capital and 
potentially limiting its growth opportunities.

As a result of the large number of refugees that have 
entered and are expected to enter the EU, the Company 

expects large numbers of refugees to enter Germany as 
well. This is likely to result in increased strain on the resi-
dential real estate market in Germany, similar to what has 
been seen as a result of the height of the refugee crisis in 
relation to the Syrian civil war in 2015. This may further ex-
acerbate the supply and demand mismatch, increase polit-
ical pressure for home construction and higher utilization 
of already limited construction capacity, which may result 
in increased construction costs and delays, particularly in 
the event that the crisis will be prolonged. The full effects 
are currently still unclear and will depend significantly on 
the duration and final outcome of the conflict as well as 
the distribution of refugees across the EU.

While the conflict is currently limited to Ukraine on one 
side and Russia and several of its allies on the other, con-
tinued escalation, particularly in relation to levels of vio-
lence against civilians, threatening to use unconventional 
weapons and risk of accidents involving NATO military 
or civilian assets,  may result in other countries joining 
the conflict. The Company currently assesses this as an 
unlikely scenario, but in the event that NATO, and as a re-
sult Germany and the UK, are drawn into the conflict the 
impact on The company may be significant, impacting 
The Group’s operations and portfolio. However, at this 
point it is too early to understand the full impact of such 
a scenario, and the likelihood of its occurrence, and as a 
result the measures required to mitigate this risk.
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